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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K includes forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties, including in the sections entitled
“Business,” “Risk factors,” and “Management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations.” Statements that are
not purely historical are forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the
"Securities Act") and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"). These forward-looking
statements include, without limitation, statements regarding our industry, business strategy, plans, goals, and expectations concerning our
markets and market position, future operations, expenses and other results of operations, margins, profitability, tax rates, capital
expenditures, liquidity and capital resources, and other financial and operating information. When used in this discussion, the words “may,”
“believes,” “intends,” “seeks,” “anticipates,” “plans,” “estimates,” “expects,” “should,” “assumes,” “continues,” “could,” “will,” “future,” and the
negative of these or similar terms and phrases are intended to identify forward-looking statements in this report.

Forward-looking statements reflect our current expectations regarding future events, results or outcomes. These expectations may or may
not be realized. Although we believe the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements are reasonable, we can give you no
assurance these expectations will prove to be correct. Some of these expectations may be based upon assumptions, data or judgments that
prove to be incorrect. Actual events, results and outcomes may differ materially from our expectations due to a variety of known and
unknown risks, uncertainties, and other factors. Although it is not possible to identify all of these risks and factors, they include, among
others, the risks identified in Item 1A. Risk factors - Risk factors summary.

Unless the context otherwise indicates or requires, the terms “we,” “our,” “us,” “HealthEquity,” and the “Company,” as used in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K, refer to HealthEquity, Inc. and its subsidiaries as a combined entity, except where otherwise stated or where it is clear
that the terms mean only HealthEquity, Inc. exclusive of its subsidiaries.
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Part I
Item 1. Business

Company overview
We are a leader and an innovator in providing technology-enabled services that empower consumers to make healthcare saving and
spending decisions. We use our innovative technology to manage consumers' tax-advantaged health savings accounts (“HSAs”) and other
consumer-directed benefits (“CDBs”) offered by employers, including flexible spending accounts and health reimbursement arrangements
(“FSAs” and “HRAs”), and to administer Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act (“COBRA”), commuter and other benefits. As part
of our services, we provide consumers with healthcare bill evaluation and payment processing services, personalized benefit information,
including information on treatment options and comparative pricing, access to remote and telemedicine benefits, the ability to earn wellness
incentives, and investment advice to grow their tax-advantaged healthcare savings. We believe the shift to greater consumer responsibility
for healthcare costs will require a significant portion of consumers under the age of 65 with private health insurance in the United States to
use offerings such as ours.

The core of our offerings is the HSA, a financial account through which consumers spend and save long-term for healthcare expenses on a
tax-advantaged basis. As of January 31, 2023, we administered 8.0 million HSAs, with balances totaling $22.1 billion, which we call HSA
Assets, as well as 6.9 million complementary CDBs. We refer to the aggregate number of HSAs and other CDBs that we administer as Total
Accounts, of which we had 14.9 million as of January 31, 2023.

We reach consumers primarily through relationships with their employers, which we call Clients. We reach Clients primarily through
relationships with benefits brokers and advisors, integrated partnerships with a network of health plans, benefits administrators, benefits
brokers and consultants, and retirement plan recordkeepers, which we call Network Partners, and a sales force that calls on Clients directly.
As of January 31, 2023, our platforms were integrated with more than 200 Network Partners, and we serve more than 120,000 Clients.

We have increased our share of the growing HSA market from 4% in December 2010 to 20% as of December 2022, measured by HSA
Assets. According to Devenir, as of December 2022, we are the largest HSA provider by both accounts and HSA Assets. In addition, we
believe we are the largest provider of other CDBs. We seek to differentiate ourselves through our service-driven culture, product breadth,
ecosystem connectivity, and proprietary technology. Our proprietary technology allows us to help consumers optimize the value of their HSAs
and other CDBs and gain confidence and skills in managing their healthcare costs as part of their financial security.

Our ability to assist consumers is enhanced by our capacity to securely share data in both directions with others in the health, benefits, and
retirement ecosystems. Our commuter benefits offering also leverages connectivity to an ecosystem of mass transit, ride hailing, and parking
providers.

Our business model provides strong visibility into our future operating performance, with the vast majority of our accounts opened before the
start of our fiscal year.

We earn revenue primarily from three sources: service, custodial, and interchange. We earn service revenue mainly from fees paid by our
Network Partners, Clients, and members for the administration services we provide in connection with the HSAs and other CDBs we offer.
We earn custodial revenue mainly from HSA Assets held at our members’ direction in federally insured cash deposits, insurance contracts or
mutual funds, and from investment of Client-held funds, which are deposits remitted by Clients and held by us on their behalf to pre-fund and
facilitate administration of CDBs. We earn interchange revenue mainly from fees paid by merchants on payments that our members make
using our physical payment cards and on our virtual payment system. See “Key components of our results of operations” for additional
information on our sources of revenue, including the adverse impacts caused by the societal and economic changes arising out of the
COVID-19 pandemic.

Recent acquisitions
Luum acquisition. In March 2021, we bolstered our commuter offering by acquiring 100% of the outstanding capital stock of Fort Effect
Corp, d/b/a Luum (the "Luum Acquisition"). The aggregate purchase price for the acquisition consisted of $56.2 million in cash. Luum
provides employers with various commuter services, including access to real-time commute data, to help them design and implement flexible
return-to-office and hybrid-workplace strategies and benefits.
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Fifth Third Bank HSA portfolio acquisition. In September 2021, we acquired the Fifth Third Bank, National Association ("Fifth Third") HSA
portfolio, which consisted of $490.0 million of HSA Assets held in approximately 160,000 HSAs in exchange for a purchase price of
$60.8 million in cash.

Further acquisition. In November 2021, we acquired the Further business (other than Further's voluntary employee beneficiary association
business), a leading provider of HSA and other CDB administration services, with approximately 580,000 HSAs and $1.9 billion of HSA
Assets, for $455 million in cash (the "Further Acquisition").

HealthSavings HSA portfolio acquisition. In March 2022, we acquired the Health Savings Administrators, L.L.C. (“HealthSavings”) HSA
portfolio, which consisted of $1.3 billion of HSA Assets held in approximately 87,000 HSAs in exchange for a purchase price of $60 million in
cash.

Our products and services
Health savings accounts. The Medicare Modernization Act of 2003 created HSAs, a tax-exempt trust or custodial account managed by a
custodian that is a bank, an insurance company, or a non-bank custodian specifically authorized by the Internal Revenue Service, or IRS, as
meeting certain ownership, capitalization, expertise, and governance requirements. We are an IRS-approved non-bank custodian of our
members' HSAs, designated to serve as both a passive and non-passive non-bank custodian of HSAs.

To be eligible to contribute to an HSA, an individual must be covered under a high deductible healthcare plan, or HDHP, have no additional
health coverage, not be enrolled in Medicare, and not be claimed as a dependent on someone else’s tax return. HSAs have several tax-
advantaged benefits, which we call the "triple tax savings": (1) individuals can claim a tax deduction for contributions they make to their
HSAs, and contributions that their employers make to their HSAs may be excluded from their gross income for purposes of federal and most
state income and employment tax; (2) the interest or earnings on the assets in the account, including reinvestment, accumulate without being
subject to tax; and (3) distributions may be tax free if they are used to pay qualified medical expenses. There is no requirement to provide
receipts to us to substantiate HSA distributions to members, whether made through our payment card or directly from our online HSA
platform. Additionally, taxable distributions other than for qualified medical expenses are permitted without penalty (although subject to
income tax) after age 65. Balances remain in the account until used, i.e., there is no “use or lose” requirement. An HSA is owned by the
account holder; it remains the account holder’s property upon a change of employment, health plan or retirement.

Investment platform and advisory services. We offer a mutual fund investment platform and access to an online-only automated
investment advisory service to all of our members whose account balances exceed a stated threshold. These services are entirely elective to
the member. The advisory service is delivered through a web-based tool, Advisor, which is offered and managed by HealthEquity Advisors,
LLC, our SEC-registered investment adviser subsidiary. HealthEquity Advisors, LLC provides investment advice to its clients exclusively
through the Advisor tool on an interactive website. Members who utilize our mutual fund investment platform or subscribe for Advisor
services pay asset-based fees, which include the cost of the advisory service and all other expenses associated with transactions made
through these online tools.

Advisor provides investment education guidance and management, including maintaining HSA cash (liquidity) in amounts directed by the
member, targeting risk appropriate portfolio diversification, and mutual fund selection.

We offer investors access to three levels of service:
• Self-driven: For members who do not subscribe for Advisor, we provide a mutual fund investment platform to invest HSA balances.

Neither we nor Advisor provides advice to members in respect of investments among funds on the platform;
• GPS powered by HealthEquity Advisors, LLC: Advisor provides guidance and advice, but the member makes the final investment

decisions and implements portfolio allocation and investment advice through the HealthEquity platform; and
• AutoPilot powered by HealthEquity Advisors, LLC: Advisor manages the account and implements portfolio allocation and investment

advice automatically for the member.

Regardless of the level of service selected, members are responsible for their proportionate share of fees and expenses payable by the
underlying mutual funds and other investment vehicles in which they invest.

Healthcare flexible spending accounts. Healthcare FSAs are employer-sponsored CDBs that enable employees to set aside pre-tax
dollars to pay for eligible healthcare expenses that are not generally covered by insurance, such as co-pays, deductibles and over-the-
counter medical products, as well as vision expenses, orthodontia, and medical devices. Healthcare FSAs can be customized by employers
so they have the freedom to
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determine what eligible expenses may be reimbursed under these arrangements. Our employer Clients also realize payroll tax (i.e., FICA
and Medicare) savings on the pre-tax contributions made by their employees.

The IRS imposes a limit, indexed to inflation, on pre-tax dollar employee contributions made to healthcare FSAs. The IRS also allows a
carryover of up to 20% of the indexed contribution limit that does not count against or otherwise affect the indexed salary reduction limit
applicable to each plan year. Employers are able to contribute additional amounts in excess of this statutory limit and may choose to do so in
an effort to mitigate the impact of rising healthcare costs on their employees.

Dependent care flexible spending accounts. We also administer FSA programs for dependent care plans. These plans allow employees
to set aside pre-tax dollars to pay for eligible dependent care expenses, which typically include child care or day care expenses but may also
include expenses incurred from adult and elder care. Current laws and regulations impose a statutory limit on the amount of pre-tax dollars
employees can contribute to dependent care FSAs with no carryover allowed. Like healthcare FSAs, employers can also contribute funds to
employees’ dependent care FSAs; however, these are subject to the statutory annual limit on total contributions. As with healthcare FSAs,
employers realize payroll tax savings on the pre-tax dependent care FSA contributions made by their employees.

HealthEquity administers the United States Office of Personnel Management's (“OPM”) Federal Flexible Spending Account Program
(“FSAFEDS”). This relationship provides eligible federal government employees access to our advanced technology platforms and premium
service capabilities.

Health reimbursement arrangements. Under HRAs, employers provide their employees with a specified amount of reimbursement funds
that are available to help employees defray their out-of-pocket healthcare expenses, such as deductibles, co-insurance and co-payments.
HRAs may only be funded by employers and there is no limitation on how much employers may contribute; however, similar to other CDBs
that are funded with pre-tax dollars, employers are required to establish the programs in such a way as to prevent discrimination in favor of
highly compensated employees. HRAs must either be considered an excepted benefit (for example, a dental-only HRA or a vision-only
HRA), a retiree HRA or be integrated with another group health plan. HRAs can be customized by employers so employers have the freedom
to determine what expenses are eligible for reimbursement under these arrangements. At the end of the plan year, employers have the
option to allow all or a portion of the unused funds to roll over and accumulate year-to-year if not spent. All amounts paid by employers into
HRAs are deductible for tax purposes by the employer and tax-free to the employee.

COBRA. We offer COBRA continuation services to employer clients to meet the employer’s obligation to make available continuation of
coverage for participants who are no longer eligible for the employer’s COBRA covered benefits, which include medical, dental, vision, HRAs
and certain healthcare FSAs. COBRA requires employers to make health coverage available for qualified beneficiaries for a period of up to
36 months post-termination. As part of our COBRA program, we offer a direct billing service where former employee participants pay us
directly as opposed to their employers for coverage they elect to continue. We handle the accounting and customer services for such
terminated employees, as well as interfacing with the carrier regarding the employees’ eligibility for participation in the COBRA program.

Commuter Programs. We administer pre-tax commuter benefit programs. Employers are permitted to provide employees with commuter
benefits including qualified transit (which includes vanpooling) and parking. The maximum monthly federal (and sometimes state) tax free
exclusion is indexed for inflation. For 2023, the maximum pre-tax monthly limits are $300 for qualified transit and $300 for qualified parking.

Our Luum technology platform provides employers with various commuter services, including access to real-time commute data, to help
them design and implement flexible return-to-office and hybrid-workplace strategies and benefits.

Our technology
Technology platforms. We provide multiple cloud-based platforms, accessed by our members online via a desktop or mobile device,
through which individuals can make health saving and spending decisions, pay healthcare bills, compare treatment options and prices,
receive personalized benefit and clinical information, earn wellness incentives, grow their savings and make investment choices. The
platforms provide users with access to services we provide as well as services provided by third parties selected by us or by our Network
Partners. Our delivery model for these platforms eliminates the need for our Clients to install and maintain hardware and software in order to
support HSA and other CDB programs and enables us to rapidly implement product enhancements across our entire user base.
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Among other features, our HSA platform includes the capability to present to users medical bills upon adjudication by a health plan, including
details such as the amount paid by insurance, specific nature of the medical service provided, and diagnostic code. Users of our HSA
platform can pay these bills from an account of ours or from any bank account, online, via a mobile device, or using our payment card. All
users of our HSA platform gain access to our healthcare consumer specialists, available every hour of every day, via a toll-free telephone
number or email. Our specialists can assist users with such tasks as optimizing the use of tax-advantaged accounts to reduce medical
spending or selecting from among medical plans offered by an employer or health plan.

We acquired an additional technology platform as part of the Luum Acquisition, which provides Clients with various commuter services,
including access to real-time commute data, to help Clients design and implement flexible return-to-office and hybrid-workplace strategies
and benefits.

As of January 31, 2023, we had substantially completed our efforts to phase out certain technology platforms that we acquired in the
acquisition of our wholly owned subsidiary, WageWorks, Inc. (the "WageWorks Acquisition"), and migrate the associated clients to one of our
other technology platforms. We are working to phase out a technology platform that we acquired in the Further Acquisition, which requires us
to migrate the associated clients to one of our other technology platforms.

Cloud-based solution. Our proprietary technology is deployed as a cloud-based solution that is accessible to customers online and through
our mobile app. We utilize a multi-tenant architecture that allows changes made for one Network Partner to be extended to all others. This
architecture provides operating leverage by reducing costs and improving efficiencies, enabling us to maximize the utilization of our
infrastructure capacity with a reduction in required maintenance. We are increasing investment in our technology and communications
systems to support new opportunities and enhance security, privacy, and platform infrastructure.

Our solution is delivered via cloud-based services and hosted in third-party data centers or on a virtual private cloud with an ability to scale
on demand. This allows us to quickly support our current and projected growth. We utilize regional cloud failover and multiple redundant
third-party data centers to ensure continuous access and data availability. The data centers are purpose-built facilities for hosting mission
critical systems with multiple built-in redundancy layers to minimize service disruptions and meet industry-standard measures.

Data security and protection. Due to the sensitive nature of our customers’ data that we hold, we have a heightened focus on data security
and protection. We maintain administrative, technical, and physical safeguards designed to protect confidential data. Our Risk and Security
team identifies security risks by working with state and federal law enforcement, security information-sharing organizations, and 24/7 system
surveillance through internal and external detection and response teams.

In the event a security risk is detected, or a breach occurs, we are prepared with appropriate response protocols based on National Institute
of Standards & Technology ("NIST") guidelines. Our Security Incident Response Plan defines roles and responsibilities, incident severity
levels, key contacts, post-incident steps, and guidelines for testing. Our procedures cover response steps for phishing attacks, ransomware,
data breaches, and major vulnerabilities. Lastly, we have an organic threat model that evaluates our security controls to help protect against
attacker tactics, techniques, and procedures.

To help ensure our approach to customer privacy and security is effective and in line with industry standards, we follow risk management
standards established by the Statement on Standards for Attestation Engagements 18 (SSAE-18) and Service and Organization Controls
(SOC 1 and 2) reporting.

Our competitive landscape
Our direct competitors are HSA custodians and other CDB providers. Many of these are state or federally chartered banks and other financial
institutions for which we believe benefits administration services are not a core business. Some of our direct competitors (including
healthcare service companies such as UnitedHealth Group's Optum, Webster Bank, and well-known retail investment companies, such as
Fidelity Investments) are in a position to devote more resources to the development, sale and support of their products and services than we
have at our disposal. Our CDB administration competitors include health insurance carriers, human resources consultants and outsourcers,
payroll providers, national CDB specialists, regional third-party administrators, and commercial banks. In addition, numerous indirect
competitors, including benefits administration service providers, partner with banks and other HSA custodians to compete with us. Our
Network Partners may also choose to offer competitive services directly, as some health plans have done. Our success depends on our
ability to predict and react quickly to these and other industry and competitive dynamics.
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As a result of the societal and economic changes arising out of the COVID-19 pandemic, we have seen a significant decline in the use of
commuter benefits due to many of our members working from home, which has negatively impacted both our interchange revenue and
service revenue, and this "work from home" trend, or hybrid work environments, may continue indefinitely.

Our competitive strengths and strategy
We believe we are well-positioned to benefit from the transformation of the healthcare benefits market. Our technology platforms are aligned
with a healthcare environment that rewards consumer engagement and fosters an integrated consumer experience.

Market leadership. We have established a defensible leadership position in the HSA industry through our focus on innovation and
differentiated capabilities. Our leadership position is evidenced by the increase in our market share (measured by HSA Assets), from 4% in
December 2010 to 20% in December 2022, as reported in the 2022 year-end Devenir HSA Research Report, which indicates we are the
largest HSA custodian measured by both accounts and HSA Assets.

Differentiated consumer experience. We have designed our solution and support services to deliver a differentiated consumer experience,
which is a function of our culture and technology. We believe this provides an advantage relative to legacy competitors, which we believe
prioritize transaction processing and benefits administration.

• Culture:    We call our culture "Purple," which we define by our four Purple values — Do the Right Thing, Be Remarkable, Make a
Difference, and Celebrate People. We believe our Purple culture is a significant factor in our ability to attract and retain customers
and to address opportunities in the rapidly changing healthcare sector.

• Technology:    Our technology helps us deliver on our commitment to provide Purple service. We tailor the content of our technology
platforms and the guidance of our experts to be timely, personal, and relevant to each member. For example, our technology
generates health savings strategies that are delivered to our members when they interact with our platforms or call us.

• Customer service and education: As a key part of our strategy and commitment to provide Purple service, our team members work
directly with our Network Partners, Clients, and members to engage with consumers, educating them about the benefits of our HSAs
and our other products and providing personalized guidance. We employ individuals who provide real-time assistance to our
members via telephone, email, or chat.

Bundled solution for HSAs and complementary CDBs. We are a market-share leader in each of the major categories of complementary
CDBs, including FSAs and HRAs, COBRA and commuter benefits administration. Our Clients and their benefits advisors increasingly seek
HSA providers that can deliver an integrated offering of HSAs and complementary CDBs. With our CDB capabilities, we can provide
employers with a single partner for both HSAs and complementary CDBs, which is preferred by the vast majority of employers, according to
research conducted for us by Aite Group. We believe that the combination of HSA and complementary CDB offerings significantly
strengthens our value proposition to employers, health benefits brokers and consultants, and Network Partners as a leading single-source
provider.

Large and diversified channel access. We believe our differentiated distribution platforms provide a competitive advantage by efficiently
enabling us to reach a growing consumer market. Our solution is built on a business-to-business-to-consumer, or B2B2C, channel strategy,
whereby we work with Network Partners and Clients to reach consumers in addition to marketing our services to these potential members
directly. Reaching the consumer is critical in order for us to increase the number of our HSA members. Health plan Network Partners have
been, and continue to be, a key channel through which we gain access to clients and members. The Further Acquisition expanded the
number of health plan Network Partners with which we work and is providing greater access to clients and members.

We work directly with our Network Partners and Clients to reach the consumer in various ways. Our health plan and administrator partners
collectively employ thousands of sales representatives and account managers who promote both the health plan and administrator partner’s
health insurance products, such as HDHPs, and our HSAs. Our Clients collectively employ thousands of human resources professionals who
are tasked with explaining the benefits of our HSAs to their employees. Our sales and account management teams work with and train the
sales representatives and account management teams of our Network Partners and the human resource professionals of our Clients on the
benefits of enrolling in, contributing to, and saving and spending through our HSAs, and our Network Partners and Clients then convey these
benefits to prospective members. As a result of this collaboration,
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we develop relationships with each member who enrolls in an HSA with us. This personalized engagement with our members constitutes our
B2B2C channel strategy.

Proprietary and integrated technology solution. We have a proprietary cloud-based technology solution, developed and refined during
more than a decade of operations, which we believe is differentiated in the marketplace for a number of key reasons:

• Complete solution for managing consumer healthcare saving and spending: Our members utilize our technology platforms in a
number of ways and in varying frequencies. For example, our members utilize our HSA platform to evaluate and pay healthcare bills
through the member portal, which allows members to pay their healthcare providers, receive reimbursements and learn of savings
opportunities for prescription drugs. Members also utilize the platform’s mobile app to view and pay claims on-the-go, including
uploading medical and insurance documentation to the platform with their mobile phone cameras.

• Purpose-built technology:    Our solution was designed specifically to serve the needs of healthcare consumers, health plans and
employers. We believe they provide greater functionality and flexibility than the technologies used by our competitors, many of which
were originally developed for banking, benefits administration or retirement services. We believe we are one of few providers with a
solution that encompass all of the core functionality of healthcare saving and spending in integrated, secure, and compliant systems,
including custodial administration of individual savings and investment accounts, card and electronic funds transaction processing,
benefits enrollment and eligibility, electronic and paper medical claims processing, medical bill presentment, tax-advantaged
reimbursement account and health incentive administration, HSA trust administration, online investment advice, and sophisticated
analytics.

• Data integration:    Our technology solution allows us to integrate data from disparate sources, which enables us to seamlessly
incorporate personal health information, clinical insight, and individually tailored strategies into the consumer experience. We
currently have more than 20,000 distinct integrations with health plans, pharmacy benefit managers, employers, and other benefits
provider systems. Many of our partners’ systems rely on custom data models, non-standard formats, complex business rules, and
security protocols that are difficult or expensive to change.

• Configurability:    Our flexible technology solution enables us to create a unique solution for each of our Network Partners. For
example, a HealthEquity team member can readily configure product attributes, including integration with a partner’s chosen
healthcare price transparency or wellness tools, single sign on, sales and broker support sites, branding, member communication,
custom fulfillment and payment card, savings options and interest rates, fees, and mutual fund investment choices.

Scalable operating model. We believe that our model is scalable because our services are accessed primarily through our cloud-based
technology platforms. After initial on-boarding and a period of education, our service costs for any given customer typically decline over time.
Our opportunity to earn high-margin revenue from existing HSA members grows over time because as our HSA members’ balances grow,
our custodial revenue is increased without equivalent incremental cost to us.

Strong retention rates. Retention of our HSA members has been strong over time. Individually owned trust accounts, including HSAs, have
inherently high switching costs, as switching requires a certain amount of effort on the part of the account holder and may result in closure
fees. We believe that our retention rates are also high due to our HSA platform’s integration with the broader healthcare system used by our
HSA members and our customer engagement and focus on the consumer experience.

Selective acquisition strategy. We have historically acquired HSA portfolios and businesses that strengthen our business. We expect to
continue this growth strategy and regularly evaluate opportunities. We have developed an internal capability to source, evaluate, and
integrate acquisitions that have created value for stockholders. We believe the nature of our competitive landscape provides significant
acquisition opportunities. Many of our competitors view their HSA businesses as non-core functions. We believe they may look to divest
these assets and, in certain cases, be limited from making acquisitions due to depository capital requirements.

Government regulation
Our business is subject to extensive, complex, and rapidly changing federal and state laws and regulations.

IRS regulations

We are subject to applicable IRS regulations, which lay the foundation for tax savings and eligible expenses under the HSAs, HRAs, and
FSAs we administer. The IRS issues guidance regarding these regulations regularly. In addition, we are subject to conflict of interest and
other prohibited transaction rules that are enforced through excise
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taxes under the Internal Revenue Code. Although the excise taxes are enforced by the IRS, the underlying rules are promulgated by the
Department of Labor.

In February 2006, HealthEquity, Inc. received designation by the U.S. Department of Treasury to act as a passive non-bank custodian, which
allows HealthEquity, Inc. to hold custodial assets for individual account holders. In July 2017, HealthEquity, Inc. received designation by the
U.S. Department of Treasury to act as both a passive and non-passive non-bank custodian, which allows HealthEquity, Inc. to hold custodial
assets for individual account holders and use discretion to direct investment of such assets held. As a passive and non-passive non-bank
custodian, the Company must maintain net worth (assets minus liabilities) greater than 2% of passive custodial funds held at each fiscal
year-end and 4% of the non-passive custodial funds held at each fiscal year-end in order to take on additional custodial assets. As of
January 31, 2023, the Company's year-end for trust and tax purposes, the net worth of the Company exceeded the required thresholds.

Privacy and data security regulations

In the provision of HSA custodial services and directed TPA services for FSAs and HRAs, we are subject to the Financial Services
Modernization Act of 1999 (Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act or GLBA), the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (HIPAA, as
amended by the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act), and similar state laws.

GLBA imposes financial privacy and security requirements on financial institutions that relate to the collection, storage, use, and disclosure of
an account holder’s nonpublic personal information. Nonpublic personal information includes information that is collected or generated in the
course of offering a financial product or service. For example, nonpublic personal information includes information submitted by a prospective
account holder in an application, an account holder’s name and contact information, and transaction information. Because part of our
business is the administration of financial products such as HSAs, we are required under the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau’s
financial privacy rule under GLBA to send a notice of privacy practices to account holders and to comply with restrictions on the disclosure of
nonpublic personal information to non-affiliated third parties. We are also required under GLBA to establish reasonable administrative,
technical, and physical safeguards to protect the security, confidentiality, and integrity of nonpublic personal information pursuant to the
Federal Trade Commission’s safeguards rule. Violations of GLBA can result in civil and criminal penalties.

HIPAA covered entities and their business associates are required to adhere to HIPAA privacy and security standards. Covered entities
include most healthcare providers, health plans, and healthcare clearinghouses. Because we perform services (such as FSA services) for
covered entities that include processing protected health information, we are a business associate and subject to HIPAA. The two rules that
most significantly affect our business are: (i) the Standards for Privacy of Individually Identifiable Health Information, or the Privacy Rule; and
(ii) the Security Standards for the Protection of Electronic Protected Health Information, or the Security Rule. The Privacy Rule restricts the
use and disclosure of protected health information and requires us to safeguard that information and provide certain rights to individuals with
respect to that information. The Security Rule establishes requirements for safeguarding protected health information transmitted or stored
electronically. Both civil and criminal penalties apply for violating HIPAA, which may be enforced by both the Department of Health and
Human Services’ Office for Civil Rights and state attorneys general. Violations of HIPAA may also subject us to contractual remedies under
the terms of agreements with covered entities.

Various states also have laws and regulations that impose additional restrictions on our collection, storage, and use of personally identifiable
information. Privacy regulation in particular has become a priority issue in many states and with the Federal government. For example, the
California Privacy Rights Act ("CPRA") became effective on January 1, 2023. The CPRA requires companies, such as ours, that process
information on California residents to make new disclosures to consumers about their data collection, use, and sharing practices, and allows
consumers to opt out of certain data sharing with third parties and provides a new cause of action for data breaches. We expect further
privacy requirements to be applicable to us as a result of additional recently passed, and likely upcoming, state privacy laws, which will
expand consumers’ rights with respect to their personal information. The Federal government is also considering legislative and regulatory
proposals concerning data protection.

ERISA

Our private-sector clients’ FSAs, HRAs, COBRA continuation insurance, and other account-based retirement plans are covered by the
Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, or ERISA, which governs “employee benefits plans.” Title I of ERISA does
not generally apply to HSAs. ERISA generally imposes extensive reporting requirements on employers, as well as an obligation to provide
various disclosures to covered employees and beneficiaries; and employers and third-party administrators that have authority or discretion
over management, administration, or investment of plan assets are subject to fiduciary responsibility under ERISA. ERISA's
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requirements affect our FSAs, HRAs, and COBRA administration businesses. The Department of Labor can bring enforcement actions or
assess penalties against employers, investment advisers, administrators, and other service providers for failing to comply with ERISA’s
requirements. Participants and beneficiaries may also file lawsuits against employers, investment advisers, administrators, and other service
providers under ERISA.

Department of Labor

The Department of Labor, or the DOL, regulates plans that are subject to ERISA, including health FSAs, HRAs, and 401(k) and other
retirement plans, as well as COBRA administration. The DOL also issues guidance related to fiduciary responsibility and prohibited
transactions under ERISA and the Internal Revenue Code that affect administration of HSAs (as well as health FSAs, HRAs, and retirement
plans).

The DOL issues regulations, technical releases, and other guidance that apply to employee benefit plans, tax-favored savings arrangements
(including HSAs) and COBRA administration, generally. In addition, in response to a request by an individual or an organization, the DOL’s
Employee Benefits Security Administration may issue an advisory opinion that interprets and applies ERISA and/or corresponding prohibited
transaction rules under the Internal Revenue Code to a specific situation, including issues related to consumer-centric healthcare accounts
and retirement plans.

Healthcare reform

In March 2010, the federal government enacted significant reforms to healthcare benefits through the Affordable Care Act. The legislation
amended various provisions in many federal laws, including the Internal Revenue Code and ERISA. The reforms included new excise taxes
that incentivize employers to provide health benefits (including HSA-compatible benefits) to all full-time employees and new coverage
mandates for health plans. The rules directly affect health FSAs and HRAs and have an indirect effect on HSAs. Further changes to the
Affordable Care Act and related healthcare regulation remain under consideration, including "Medicare for all" plans.

Investment Advisers Act of 1940

Our subsidiary HealthEquity Advisors, LLC is an SEC-registered investment adviser that provides web-only automated investment advisory
services to members. As an SEC-registered investment adviser, it must comply with the requirements of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940,
or the Advisers Act, and related Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, regulations and is subject to periodic inspections by the SEC
staff. Such requirements relate to, among other things, fiduciary duties to clients, disclosure obligations, recordkeeping and reporting
requirements, marketing restrictions limitations on agency cross and principal transactions between the adviser and its clients, and general
anti-fraud prohibitions. The SEC is authorized to institute proceedings and impose sanctions for violations of the Advisers Act, ranging from
fines and censure to termination of an investment adviser’s registration. Investment advisers also are subject to certain state securities laws
and regulations. Failure to comply with the Advisers Act or other federal and state securities and regulations could result in investigations,
sanctions, profit disgorgement, fines or other similar consequences.

Intellectual property
Intellectual property is important to our success. We rely on trademarks and other forms of intellectual property rights and measures,
including trade secrets, know-how and other unpatented proprietary processes, and nondisclosure agreements, to maintain and protect
proprietary aspects of our products and technologies. We require our team members and consultants to execute confidentiality agreements
in connection with their employment or consulting relationships with us. We also require our team members and consultants to disclose and
assign to us all inventions conceived during the term of their employment or engagement while using our property or which relate to our
business.

Geographic areas
Our sole geographic market is the U.S.

Human capital
HealthEquity is comprised of people dedicated to empowering consumers to connect health and wealth by delivering Purple service. We
believe that our culture is a key differentiator that drives the success of our company through, among other things, attracting and retaining top
talent.

Our board of directors and its committees provide oversight on certain human capital matters. The Talent, Compensation and Culture
Committee of our board of directors acts on behalf of the board to review and determine executive compensation plans, policies, and
programs; oversee the Company’s culture and related strategies,
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programs, and risks; and oversee the Company’s talent management, development, and retention efforts, including with respect to diversity
and inclusion.

As of January 31, 2023, we had 3,170 full-time team members and 38 part-time team members. As January 31, 2023, our team members
had the following demographic characteristics:

Executive
Leadership Team People Leaders

All HealthEquity
Team Members

Women 23 % 56 % 69 %
Men 77 % 44 % 31 %
Under age 30 0 % 4 % 14 %
Between ages 30 and 50 31 % 67 % 59 %
Over age 50 69 % 29 % 27 %
People of color 15 % 24 % 37 %

Diversity and inclusion

We embrace diversity as a powerful strength. We recognize the power of diverse workplaces to produce innovative ideas and foster a more
productive work environment. We also know that building a culture of inclusion and belonging for all team members helps promote their
financial and emotional health, and answers a nationwide demand for employers such as ourselves that value diversity, equity, and inclusion
("DE&I").

Created Equal is our DE&I initiative. Focused on rooting DE&I in all aspects of our Purple culture, Created Equal is committed to supporting
process development that will allow all team members equal opportunity.

Created Equal is run by HealthEquity team members who identify opportunities, guide solutions, and hold the Company accountable in the
integration of DE&I practices. At the heart of our Created Equal efforts is the Created Equal Council, which is a group of cross-functional
team members with representation from key stakeholder teams, including People, Legal, and Talent, who serve as an advisory body and
provide research, recommendations, engagement support, and policy guidance to the Company. The council works to integrate best DE&I
practices into the policies, procedures, culture, and programs at HealthEquity.

Talent acquisition

Our commitment to DE&I remains integral to us, especially as we grow. To sustain and strengthen our values-based culture of inclusion, our
Talent Partner team and others are actively engaged in uprooting bias and centering DE&I in the talent acquisition process. This begins with
preparing our Talent Partner team with the latest information on DE&I in the workplace. Each member of the Talent Partner team has
successfully completed the “Diversity, Inclusion, and Belonging for All” course from LinkedIn, as well as the Harvard Implicit Bias Test
focused on race, disability, and gender.

To aid in recruiting, the Talent Partner team is focused on developing relationships with diverse organizations to network, create awareness
of HealthEquity, and share job postings. The HealthEquity Talent Partner team is currently focused on making connections with groups
focused on the following:

• Gender
• Race and ethnicity
• Veteran and active-duty military status
• LGBTQ+

Pay equity

Pay equity is a crucial metric in assessing diversity and equal opportunity at HealthEquity. We strive to provide a consistent and fair
remuneration strategy for all team members through our Total Rewards package. This package includes:

• Base salary
• Incentive/bonus pay
• Stock-based compensation
• 401(k) with company matching
• Health benefits
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The Total Rewards philosophy underlying this package is intended to promote fairness and simplicity so that team members and people
leaders understand the goals and the outcomes. We strive to administer the Total Rewards package consistently, equitably, and free of
discrimination as follows:

• Maintaining competitive pay by reviewing market data annually;
• Rewarding team members based on their abilities, competencies, experience, and performance levels;
• Effectively communicating our Total Rewards policies and practices; and
• Complying with all applicable federal, state, and local laws and requirements.

Team member engagement

We also consider team member engagement an important metric of our organizational health. We seek team member feedback, measure
team member engagement, and measure our team member Net Promoter Score℠, or NPS , twice a year through a survey. The team
member NPS framework surveys team members to generate a total score based on the percentage of those who are promoters (responding
with a score of 9 or 10), passives (a score of 7 or 8), and detractors (a score of 0 to 6). Scores are calculated by subtracting the percentage
of detractors from the percentage of promoters (the percentage of passives is not used in the formula). Team member NPS scores can range
from -100 to 100.

As of January 31, 2023, our team member NPS was 42, an increase of five points year over year and based on a participation rate of 83
percent. Out of all responders, 58 percent were promoters, an increase of 3% year over year, 26 percent were passives, a decrease of 1%
year over year, and 16 percent were detractors, a decrease of 2% year over year.

NPS  is a registered trademark of Bain & Company, Inc., Satmetrix Systems, Inc., and Fred Reichheld. Net Promoter Score℠ is a service
mark of Bain & Company, Inc., Satmetrix Systems, Inc., and Fred Reichheld.

Corporate information
HealthEquity, Inc. was incorporated as a Delaware corporation on September 18, 2002. Our principal business office is located at 15 W.
Scenic Pointe Dr., Ste. 100, Draper, Utah 84020. Our website address is www.healthequity.com. We do not incorporate the information
contained on, or accessible through, our corporate website into this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and you should not consider it to be part of
this report.

Where you can find additional information
Our website is located at www.healthequity.com, and our investor relations website is located at ir.healthequity.com. Information on our
website is not incorporated into this report. Copies of our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports
on Form 8-K, and any amendments to these reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act are available,
free of charge, on our investor relations website as soon as reasonably practicable after we file such material electronically with or furnish it
to the SEC. The SEC maintains an internet site that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding
issuers that file electronically with the SEC at www.sec.gov.

®

®

-11-



Table of Contents

Item 1A. Risk factors
You should carefully consider the risks described below together with the other information set forth in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. If
any of the risks described below are realized, our business, financial condition, results of operations, and prospects could be materially and
adversely affected. The risks described below are not the only risks facing our company. Risks and uncertainties not currently known to us or
that we currently deem to be immaterial also may materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, and operating results. 

Risk factors summary

The following is a summary of the principal risks that could adversely affect our business, operations and financial results:

Risks relating to our business and industry

• Any diminution in, elimination of, or change in the availability of tax benefits for HSAs and other CDBs, or in the use of these
accounts, would materially adversely affect us.

• Failure to adequately place and safeguard our custodial assets and Client-held funds, or the failure of any of our depository or
insurance company partners, could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

• Integration of our recent acquisitions may not be successful.
• A decline in interest rate levels, including an environment of negative interest rates, would reduce our ability to earn income on our

HSA Assets and Client-held funds and to attract HSA contributions.
• If we are not successful in adapting to our rapidly evolving industry, our growth may be limited, and our business may be adversely

affected.
• We may be unable to compete effectively against our current and future competitors.
• Developments in the rapidly changing healthcare industry could adversely affect our business.
• The COVID-19 pandemic and resulting societal and economic changes has materially impacted our business and this impact may

continue.
• If our members do not continue to utilize our payment cards, our results of operations, business, and prospects would be materially

adversely affected.
• Failure to maintain effective internal control over financial reporting could have a material adverse effect on our reputation, results of

operations and financial condition.

Data security, technological, and intellectual property risks

• Cyber-attacks, including ransomware attacks, or other privacy or data security incidents could materially adversely impact our
business.

• Fraudulent and other illegal activity involving our products and services could lead to financial and reputational damage to us and
reduce the use and acceptance of our products and services.

• We rely on software licensed from third parties that may be difficult to replace or that could cause errors or failures of our technology
platforms that could lead to lost customers or harm to our reputation.

• Developing and implementing new and updated applications, features, and services for our technology platforms may be more
difficult than expected, may take longer and cost more than expected, or may result in the platforms not operating as expected.

• Any disruption of service at our facilities or our third-party data centers and cloud providers could interrupt or delay our customers’
access to our products and services.

• Interruption or failure of our information technology and communications systems could impair our ability to effectively deliver our
products and services.

• Our technology platforms may link to or utilize open source software, and any failure to comply with the terms of one or more of
these open source licenses could negatively affect our business.

• Failure to adequately protect our brands and other intellectual property rights, and infringement of the intellectual property rights of
others, would negatively impact our business.

Legal and regulatory risks

• The healthcare regulatory and political framework is uncertain and evolving, and we cannot predict the effect that further healthcare
reform and other changes in government programs may have on our business, financial condition, or results of operations.
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• Changes in applicable federal and state laws relating to HSAs and other CDBs could materially adversely affect our business.
• We are subject to privacy regulations, including regarding the access, use, and disclosure of personally identifiable information. If we

or any of our third-party vendors experience a privacy breach, it could result in substantial financial and reputational harm, including
possible criminal and civil penalties.

• Legislative, regulatory, and legal developments involving taxes could adversely affect our results of operations and cash flows.
• Changes in laws and regulations relating to interchange fees on payment card transactions could adversely affect our revenue and

results of operations.
• Failure to comply with, or changes in, payment card industry, credit card association or other network rules or standards set by Visa

or MasterCard, or changes in card association and debit network fees or products or interchange rates, could materially adversely
affect us.

• We are subject to complex regulation, and any compliance failures or regulatory action could adversely affect our business.
• If we are unable to meet or exceed the net worth test required by the IRS, we could be unable to maintain our non-bank custodian

status.

Risks relating to our service and culture

• Any failure to offer high-quality customer support services could adversely affect our relationships with our members, Clients, and
Network Partners and our operating results.

• We rely on our management team and team members and our business could be harmed if we are unable to retain qualified
personnel.

• If we cannot maintain our corporate culture as we grow, we could lose the innovation, teamwork, passion, and focus on execution
that we believe contribute to our success.

Risks relating to our partners and service providers

• If our Network Partners choose to partner with other providers of, or otherwise reduce offering or cease to offer, our products and
services, our business could be materially and adversely affected.

• A change in relationship with any of our bank identification number sponsors, or the failure by these sponsors to comply with certain
banking regulations, could materially and adversely affect our business.

• Replacing our third-party vendors would be difficult and disruptive to our business.

Growth-related risks

• Our acquisition strategy may not be successful.
• We may not be able to operate, integrate, and scale our technology effectively to match our business growth.
• Failure to manage future growth effectively could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of

operations.
• We may not accurately estimate the impact on our business of developing, introducing, and updating new and existing products and

services.
• We may need to record write-downs from future impairments of identified intangible assets and goodwill.

Financing and related risks

• Our substantial debt could limit our ability to fund operations, expose us to interest rate volatility, limit our ability to raise additional
capital and have a material adverse effect on our ability to fulfill our obligations under our credit agreement and indenture and to our
Network Partners, Clients and members.

• The indenture and the credit agreement contain covenants that impose significant operational and financial restrictions on us, and
the failure to comply with these covenants would result in an event of default under these instruments.

• We may be unable to generate or obtain sufficient capital to fund our business and growth strategy.

General risk factors

• Natural disasters, pandemics or other epidemics, acts of terrorism, acts of war, adverse economic conditions, and other unforeseen
events, may cause damage or disruption to us or our customers.
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• Provisions in our charter documents and under Delaware law could discourage a takeover that stockholders may consider favorable.
• The exclusive forum provision in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation could limit our stockholders’ ability to obtain a

favorable judicial forum for disputes with us or our directors, officers or team members.

Risks relating to our business and industry

Any diminution in, elimination of, or change in the availability of tax benefits for HSAs and other CDBs, or in the use of these
accounts, would materially adversely affect us.

Substantially all of our revenue is earned from tax-advantaged HSAs and other CDBs. The efforts of governmental and third-party payers to
raise revenue or contain or reduce healthcare or other costs could include restructuring the tax benefits available through HSAs and other
CDBs, which may adversely affect our business, operating results, and financial condition. For example, the federal government or states
may seek to raise revenues by enacting tax laws that eliminate the tax deductions available to individuals who contribute to HSAs. We
cannot predict if any new tax reforms will ultimately become law, or if enacted, what their terms or the regulations promulgated pursuant to
such reforms will be. If the laws or regulations are changed to limit or eliminate the tax benefits available through these accounts, such a
change would have a material adverse effect on our business.

We believe that many consumers are not familiar with, or do not fully appreciate, the tax-advantaged benefits of HSAs and other CDBs. If our
members do not fully use their HSAs or CDBs, or if employers reduce or cease to offer HSAs or other CDB programs, or if the rate of
adoption of these accounts decreases, our results of operations, financial condition, business, and prospects would be materially and
adversely affected.

Failure to adequately place and safeguard our custodial assets and Client-held funds, or the failure of any of our depository or
insurance company partners, could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

As a non-bank custodian, we rely on our federally insured custodial depository partners and our insurance company partners to hold the vast
majority of the HSA Assets that we custody. In addition, we deposit Client-held funds with our depository partners in interest-bearing, demand
deposit accounts that have a floating interest rate and no set term or duration, and for certain Clients these amounts exceed maximum
federal deposit insurance levels. If any material adverse event were to affect one of our depository partners or our insurance company
partners, including a significant decline in its financial condition, a decline in the quality of its service, loss of deposits, its inability to comply
with applicable banking, insurance or other regulatory requirements, systems failure or its inability to return principal or pay interest thereon,
our business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.

The HSA Assets held through our insurance company partners are not federally insured, and our members bear the risk of loss with respect
to either the failure of the insurance company partner holding their HSA Assets or the breach by the partner of its obligations to guarantee
principal or pay interest thereon. In the event of such a failure of, or breach by, one of our insurance company partners, the HSA Assets held
through that partner would be at risk and no assurance can be given that our contractual arrangements with that partner would be sufficient
for our members to fully recover their HSA Assets, which would in turn result in reputational harm to us and financial harm to the Company.

Certain of our arrangements with our depository and insurance company partners require that we keep a minimum amount of HSA Assets
with such partner, including sufficient liquid assets. If we fail to comply with those minimum HSA Asset requirements, including as a result of
withdrawals by our members, we may be subject to penalties payable to our partners or a reduction in the interest payable. Such penalties or
reductions, if imposed, could have a material and adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

In addition, certain of our insurance company partners have commitments to us with respect to the interest rates paid; however, some of
these commitments are conditional upon certain market events and/or satisfaction of our obligations to the partner. A reduction of the interest
rate payable, or a requirement that we post collateral in lieu of any such reduction, could have a material and adverse impact on our
business, financial condition and results of operations.

In addition to any potential penalties payable, if we were required to change depository or insurance company partners, we cannot accurately
predict the success of such change or that the terms of our agreement with the new partner would be as favorable to us as our current
agreements.
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Integration of our recent acquisitions may not be successful.

The success of our recent acquisitions depends in part on our ability to realize the anticipated business opportunities from combining the
operations of the acquired businesses with our business in an efficient and effective manner. Integration of our acquisitions could take longer
and be more costly than anticipated, and it could result in the loss of key team members, the disruption of our ongoing business and the
acquired business, tax costs or inefficiencies, or inconsistencies in standards, controls, information technology systems, procedures and
policies, any of which could adversely affect our ability to maintain relationships with team members, Clients, Network Partners or other third
parties, and could harm our financial performance.

We may fail to fully realize the anticipated synergies associated with successfully integrating our acquisitions. Achievement of these
anticipated synergies is based on our ability to grow revenue as a combined company, the integration of technology platforms, and realization
of the targeted cost synergies expected from each acquisition. Actual operating, technological, strategic, and revenue opportunities, if
achieved at all, may be less significant than expected or may take longer or cost more to achieve than anticipated. If we are not able to
achieve these objectives and realize the synergies expected from these acquisitions within the anticipated timing or at all, our business,
financial condition, and operating results may be adversely affected.

Our management team and other team members are spending significant amounts of time on integration efforts relating to the Further
Acquisition. Similar to the work completed to integrate the WageWorks Acquisition, as part of the Further Acquisition integration process we
are working to migrate certain Clients and Network Partners to different technology platforms. In connection with the WageWorks technology
platform migrations, we experienced the following challenges, all of which could also occur in connection with the Further technology platform
migration:

• we experienced Client and Network Partner attrition when we were unable to meet Client or Network Partner expectations or
technical requirements;

• certain Clients and Network Partners refused to cooperate with the platform migration process, resulting in delays to and additional
costs associated with this process and the loss of certain of those Clients and Network Partners;

• we experienced Client and Network Partner dissatisfaction, which may have impaired our long-term relationships with impacted
Clients and Network Partners; and

• we faced challenges in integrating the back-office systems and people associated with these technology platforms.

A decline in interest rate levels, including an environment of negative interest rates, would reduce our ability to earn income on our
HSA Assets and Client-held funds and to attract HSA contributions.

We partner with our depository and insurance company partners to hold our HSA Assets and other Client-held funds. We earn a significant
portion of our consolidated revenue from fees we earn from our depository and insurance company partners, approximately 33%, 27%, and
26% during the fiscal years ended January 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively. A decline in prevailing interest rates has in the past and
may again in the future negatively affect our business by reducing the yield we realize on our HSA Assets and other Client-held funds. A
negative interest rate environment would also reduce the yield we realize on our HSA Assets and other Client-held funds. In addition, if we do
not offer competitive interest rates on HSA Assets, our members may choose another HSA custodian. Similarly, if the value of the invested
HSA Assets we hold declines, whether due to market conditions or other factors, our fees, which are based on a percentage of the asset
values, would be adversely affected. Any such scenario could materially and adversely affect our business and results of operations.

If we are not successful in adapting to our rapidly evolving industry, our growth may be limited, and our business may be
adversely affected.

The market for our products and services is subject to rapid and significant change and competition. The market for administration of HSAs
and other CDBs is characterized by rapid technological change, new product and service introductions, evolving industry standards,
changing customer needs, existing competition, and the entrance of non-traditional competitors. In addition, there may be a limited-time
opportunity to achieve and maintain a significant share of this market due in part to our rapidly evolving industry, industry consolidation, and
the substantial resources available to our existing and potential competitors. In order to remain competitive, we are continually involved in a
number of projects to develop new services or compete with these new market entrants. These projects carry risks, such as cost overruns,
delays in delivery, performance problems, and lack of acceptance by our Clients, Network Partners and members.
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Our success depends on the willingness of consumers to increase their use of HSAs and other CDBs, our ability to increase engagement,
and our ability to demonstrate the value of our services to our existing and potential Clients, Network Partners and members. If our existing
Clients, Network Partners and members do not recognize or acknowledge the benefits of our services or we do not drive engagement, then
the market for our services might develop more slowly than we expect, which could adversely affect our operating results.

In addition, we have limited insight into industry or broader trends that might develop and affect our business. As such, we might make errors
in predicting and reacting to relevant business, legal, and regulatory trends, which could harm our business. If any of these events occur, it
could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations.

We may be unable to compete effectively against our current and future competitors.

The market for our products and services is highly competitive. We view our competition in terms of direct and indirect competitors. Our direct
HSA competitors are HSA custodians and administrators that include state or federally chartered banks, such as Webster Bank and Optum
Bank, insurance companies, well-known retail investment companies, such as Fidelity Investments, and non-bank custodians approved by
the U.S. Treasury. We also have numerous indirect HSA administration competitors, including benefits administrators and health plans, that
license technology platforms and partner with other HSA custodians to provide "white label" HSA offerings. Our other CDB administration
competitors include health insurance carriers, human resources consultants and outsourcers, payroll providers, national CDB specialists,
regional third-party administrators, and commercial banks, and these competitors have entered, and others may also enter, the HSA market
or expand existing HSA offerings to compete with us.

An increased focus on HSA-favorable healthcare regulatory reforms may create renewed interest and investment by our competitors in their
HSA offerings and lead to greater competition, which could make it harder for us to maintain our growth trajectory. This risk would be
compounded if legal requirements or administrative rules are interpreted in a way that makes compliance more onerous for us than for our
competitors. Some of our competitors also offer reduced fee or no-fee HSAs, which has enabled them to increase market share in our
market, has led to the loss of certain Client and Network Partners, and in some circumstances has caused us to reduce our fees.

If one or more of our competitors were to merge or partner with another of our competitors, the change in the competitive landscape could
materially adversely affect our ability to compete effectively. Our competitors have and may continue to establish or strengthen cooperative
relationships with our current or future Network Partners or other strategic partners, thereby limiting our ability to promote our solution with
these parties. We have seen an increase in Network Partners that have decided to offer HSAs or other CDBs directly to their customers, and
a continuation of this trend would significantly reduce our channel partner opportunities.

Well-known retail mutual fund companies, such as Fidelity Investments, have entered the HSA and CDB business and gained significant
market share. Our market share could decline if Fidelity and other mutual fund companies continue expanding their presence in the market.
These investment companies have significant advantages over us in terms of brand name recognition, years of experience managing tax-
advantaged retirement accounts (e.g., 401(k) and IRA), highly developed recordkeeping, trust functions, and fund advisory and customer
relations management, among others. If we are unable to compete effectively with these mutual fund company competitors, our results of
operations, financial condition, business, and prospects could be materially adversely affected.

Many of our competitors, in particular banks, insurance companies, and other financial institutions, have longer operating histories and
significantly greater financial, technical, marketing, and other resources than we have. As a result, some of these competitors are in a
position to devote greater resources to the development, promotion, sale, and support of their products and services and have offered, or
may in the future offer, a wider range of products and services that are increasingly desired by potential customers, and they have also used
advertising and marketing strategies (including loss-leaders) that achieve broader brand recognition or acceptance.

Finally, our competitors may have the ability to devote more financial and operational resources than we can to developing new technologies
and services, including services that provide improved operating functionality, and adding features to their existing service offerings. If
successful, their development efforts could render our services less desirable, resulting in the loss of our existing customers or a reduction in
the fees we earn from our products and services.

Developments in the rapidly changing healthcare industry could adversely affect our business.

Substantially all of our revenue is derived from healthcare-related saving and spending by consumers, which could be affected by changes
affecting the broader healthcare industry, including decreased spending in the industry
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overall. General reductions in expenditures by healthcare industry participants could result from, among other things:

• government regulation or private initiatives that affect the manner in which healthcare industry participants interact with consumers
and the general public;

• consolidation of healthcare industry participants;
• reductions in governmental funding for healthcare; and
• adverse changes in general business or economic conditions affecting healthcare industry participants.

Even if general expenditures by industry participants remain the same or increase, developments in the healthcare industry may result in
reduced spending in some or all of the specific market segments that we serve now or in the future. The healthcare industry has changed
significantly in recent years, and we expect that significant changes will continue to occur. However, the timing and impact of developments in
the healthcare industry are difficult to predict. We cannot assure you that the demand for our products and services will continue to exist at
current levels or that we will have adequate technical, financial, and marketing resources to react to changes in the healthcare industry.

The COVID-19 pandemic and resulting societal and economic changes has materially impacted our business and this impact may
continue.

Our business has been adversely affected by the COVID-19 pandemic, and we may continue to be adversely affected by the societal and
economic changes arising out of the pandemic. For example, we saw a significant decline in the use of commuter benefits during the
outbreak, and the "work from home" trend, or hybrid work environments, may continue indefinitely, which would further delay, or materially
negate, the recovery of use of these commuter benefits.

We also saw an increase in regulatory changes related to our products due to government responses to the COVID-19 pandemic, and we
may see additional regulatory changes in the future related to new developments with COVID-19. For example, the National Emergency
Concerning COVID-19, which tolled certain deadlines related to COBRA and other CDBs, resulted in increased complexity in administering
these programs and decreased usage of these products by our members. This national emergency is expected to expire on May 11, 2023,
and so we now must use resources to reverse the processes and systems established to address the national emergency, which requires
team member time and resources, which could have otherwise been focused on more important areas of our business and strategy.

Outbreaks of new COVID-19 variants or other future pandemics may result in us being unable to meet our service level commitments to our
Clients and Network Partners as a result of disruptions to our workforce and disruptions to third-party contractors that we rely on to provide
our services.

The extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic and the societal and economic changes arising out of the pandemic will continue to negatively
impact our business remains highly uncertain and, as a result, may continue to have a material and adverse impact on our business and
financial results.

If our members do not continue to utilize our payment cards, our results of operations, business, and prospects would be
materially adversely affected.

We derived 17%, 17%, and 15% of our total revenue during the fiscal years ended January 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively, from
interchange fees that are paid to us when our customers utilize our payment cards. These fees represent a percentage of the expenses
transacted on each card. For example, the COVID-19 pandemic had a materially adverse impact on the interchange fees generated due to
decreased usage of our payment cards in our commuter product and in healthcare spending. We have continued to see decreased usage of
our payment cards in our commuter product as a result of societal changes arising out of the COVID-19 pandemic. If our customers do not
use these payment cards at the rate we expect, if they elect to withdraw funds using a non-revenue generating mechanism such as direct
reimbursement, if the impacts of societal changes arising out of the COVID-19 pandemic continue, or if other alternatives to these payment
cards develop, our results of operations, business, and prospects would be materially adversely affected.

Failure to maintain effective internal control over financial reporting could have a material adverse effect on our reputation, results
of operations and financial condition.

Effective internal control over financial reporting is necessary for us to provide reliable financial reports, prevent fraud and operate
successfully as a public company. During the fiscal year ended January 31, 2023, the Company remediated several material weaknesses at
the WageWorks subsidiary level and implemented several new controls as part of the remediation efforts. Any failure to execute on our new
controls and continue to maintain effective internal controls, to timely implement any necessary additional improvement to our internal
controls or to effect
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remediation of any future material weakness or significant deficiency could, among other things, result in losses from fraud or error, harm our
reputation or cause investors to lose confidence in our reported financial information, all of which could have a material adverse effect on our
reputation, results of operations, or financial condition.

Management reviews and updates our systems of internal controls and procedures, as appropriate. Any system of controls is based in part
on certain assumptions and can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurances that the objectives of the system are met. Any failure or
circumvention of our controls and procedures or failure to comply with regulations related to controls and procedures could have a material
adverse effect on our reputation, results of operations and financial condition.

Data security, technological, and intellectual property risks

Cyber-attacks, including ransomware attacks, or other privacy or data security incidents could materially adversely impact our
business.

Our proprietary technology platforms enable the exchange of, and access to, sensitive information, and, as a result, we are frequently the
target of cyber-attacks or other privacy or data security incidents. As one of the largest providers of HSAs and other CDBs, we are an even
more attractive target for cyber-attacks, including ransomware attacks, which means we must continue to secure and monitor each of our
technology platforms, making sure these platforms are aligned to our industry benchmark security posture. In addition, recent geopolitical
events, including the war between Russia and Ukraine, may result in an increase in cyber-attacks.

Substantially all of our workforce works remotely. This remote work environment increases the risk of cybersecurity breaches and incidents,
and the potential impact of these on our operations is also higher while our team members log in to our network remotely.

Our ability to ensure the security of our technology platforms and thus sensitive customer and partner information is critical to our operations.
We rely on standard Internet and other security systems to provide the security and authentication necessary to effect secure transmission of
data. Despite our security measures, our information technology and infrastructure are vulnerable to cybersecurity threats, including attacks
by hackers and other malfeasance. Such security breaches could compromise our networks and result in the information stored or
transmitted there to be accessed, publicly disclosed, lost, or stolen. Such access, disclosure, or other loss of information could result in legal
claims or proceedings leading to liability, including under laws that protect the privacy of personal information, disrupt our operations and the
services we provide to our clients, damage our reputation, and cause a loss of confidence in our products and services, which could
adversely affect our business, operations, and competitive position.

A major breach of our network security and systems could have serious negative consequences for our business, including possible fines,
penalties and damages, reduced demand for our services, an unwillingness of members, Clients, Network Partners and other data owners to
provide us with their payment information, an unwillingness of members and other data owners to provide us with personal information, and
harm to our reputation and brand.

Security breaches could result in the loss of sensitive information, theft or loss of actual funds, litigation, indemnity obligations to our Clients,
fines and other liabilities, including under laws that protect the privacy of personal information, disrupt our operations and the services we
provide to our members, Clients and Network Partners, damage our reputation, and cause a loss of confidence in our products and services.
If third parties improperly obtain and use the personal information of our members, we may be required to expend significant resources to
resolve these problems. While we have security measures in place, we have experienced data privacy incidents in the past, including several
incidents in 2018. As a result, or if our security measures are breached again or unauthorized access to data is otherwise obtained as a
result of third-party action, team member error or otherwise, our reputation could be significantly damaged, our business may suffer and we
could incur substantial liability, which could result in loss of sales, Clients and Network Partners.

Because techniques used to obtain unauthorized access to or sabotage systems change frequently and are generally not identified until they
are launched against a target, we may be unable to anticipate these techniques or to implement adequate preventative measures. Any or all
of these issues could negatively impact our ability to attract new, or increase engagement by, members, Clients and Network Partners, and
subject us to third-party lawsuits, regulatory fines, contractual liability, and other action or liability, thereby harming our operating results.

Fraudulent and other illegal activity involving our products and services could lead to financial and reputational damage to us and
reduce the use and acceptance of our products and services.

Criminals are using increasingly sophisticated methods to capture personal information in order to engage in illegal activities such as
counterfeiting and identity theft. Even if we can secure our systems against these activities, we
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are vulnerable through third parties. We rely upon third parties for certain services, such as some transaction processing services and data
feeds, which subjects us to risks related to the vulnerabilities of those third parties. For example, we are exposed to risks relating to the theft
of payment card numbers housed in a merchant's point of sale systems if our members use our payment cards at a merchant whose
systems are compromised. We may make our members whole for losses sustained when using our payment cards, even in instances where
we are not directly responsible for the underlying cause of such loss. A single significant incident of fraud, or increases in the overall level of
fraud, involving our payment cards, our custodial accounts or our reimbursement administration services, could result in financial and
reputational damage to us, which could reduce the use and acceptance of our products and services, or cause our Clients, members and
Network Partners to cease doing business with us.

We rely on software licensed from third parties that may be difficult to replace or that could cause errors or failures of our
technology platforms that could lead to lost customers or harm to our reputation.

We rely on certain cloud-based software licensed from third parties to run our business. This software may experience outages, may not
continue to be available to us on commercially reasonable terms and any loss of the right to use any of this software could result in, among
others, delays in producing our financial statements, risks to our security environment, or the provisioning of our products and services until
equivalent technology is either developed by us, or, if available, identified, obtained, and integrated, which would likely take a significant
amount of time and harm our business. In addition, we have service level agreements with certain of our Clients and Network Partners for
which the availability of this software is critical. Any decrease in the availability of our service as a result of errors, defects, a disruption or
failure of our licensed software may require us to provide significant fee credits or refunds to our customers. Our software licensed from third
parties is also subject to change or upgrade, which may result in our incurring significant costs to implement such changes or upgrades.

Developing and implementing new and updated applications, features, and services for our technology platforms may be more
difficult than expected, may take longer and cost more than expected, or may result in the platforms not operating as expected.

Attracting and retaining new clients and Network Partners requires us to continue to improve the technology underlying our proprietary
technology platforms and requires our technology to operate as expected. In addition, potential clients and Network Partners are increasingly
seeking a bundled solution, encompassing a wide range of features. Accordingly, we are continuing to develop new and updated
applications, features, and services, and maintain existing applications, features, and services. If we are unable to do so on a timely basis or
if we are unable to implement new applications, features and services that enhance our members’ and Clients' experience without disruption
to our existing applications, features and services, or if we encounter technical obstacles that result in the technology not operating properly,
we may lose potential and existing Clients and Network Partners. We rely on a combination of internal development, strategic relationships,
licensing, and acquisitions to develop our content offerings, products and services. These efforts may:

• cost more than expected;
• take longer than originally expected;
• require more testing than originally anticipated;
• require significant cost to address or resolve technical defects or obstacles;
• require additional advertising and marketing costs; and
• require the acquisition of additional personnel and other resources.

The revenue opportunities earned from these efforts may fail to justify the amounts spent. In addition, material performance problems,
defects or errors in our existing or new software may occur in the future, which may harm our operating results.

Any disruption of service at our facilities or our third-party data centers and cloud service providers could interrupt or delay our
customers’ access to our products and services.

The ability of our team members, members, Network Partners, and Clients to access our technology platforms is critical to our business. We
cannot ensure that the measures we have taken to enable access to our technology platforms will be effective to prevent or minimize
interruptions to our operations. Our technology platforms are hosted by third-party data centers, and we increasingly rely on third-party cloud
service providers to support our technology platforms. Our facilities, our third-party data centers, and our cloud service providers are
vulnerable to interruption or damage from a number of sources, many of which are beyond our control, including, without limitation:

• extended power loss;
• telecommunications failures from multiple telecommunications providers;
• natural disaster or an act of terrorism;
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• software and hardware errors, or failures in our own systems or in other systems;
• network environment disruptions such as computer viruses, hacking and similar problems in our own systems and in other systems;
• theft and vandalism of equipment; and
• actions or events caused by or related to third parties.

We attempt to mitigate these risks through various business continuity efforts, including redundant infrastructure, 24/7/365 system activity
monitoring, backup and recovery procedures, use of a secure storage facility for backup media, separate test systems, and change
management and system security measures, but our precautions may not protect against all potential problems. Our data recovery centers
are equipped with physical space, power, storage and networking infrastructure and Internet connectivity to support our technology platforms
in the event of the interruption of services at our data centers. Even with these data recovery centers, our operations would be interrupted
during the transition process should our primary data center experience a failure. Disruptions at our data centers could cause disruptions to
our technology platforms and data loss or corruption. We have experienced interruptions and delays in service and availability for data
centers, and bandwidth and other technology issues in the past. Frequent or persistent system failures that result in the unavailability of our
technology platforms or slower response times could reduce our members', Clients' and Network Partners' ability to access our technology
platforms, impair the delivery of our products and services, and harm the perception of our platforms as reliable, trustworthy, and consistent.
Any future errors, failure, interruptions or delays experienced in connection with these third-party technologies could delay access to our
products by members, Clients and Network Partners, which would harm our business. This could damage our reputation, subject us to
potential liability or costs related to defending against claims or cause our members, Clients and Network Partners to cease doing business
with us, any of which could negatively impact our financial results.

Interruption or failure of our information technology and communications systems could impair our ability to effectively deliver our
products and services.

Our business depends on the continuing operation of our technology infrastructure and systems. Any damage to or failure of our systems
could result in interruptions in our ability to deliver our products and services. Interruptions in our service could negatively impact our financial
results, and our reputation could be damaged if our systems are viewed as unreliable. Our systems and operations are vulnerable to damage
or interruption from earthquakes, terrorist attacks, floods, fires, power loss, break-ins, hardware or software failures, failures from third-party
vendors who support our systems and operations, telecommunications failures, computer viruses or other attempts to harm our systems, and
similar events. Any unscheduled interruption in our service could negatively impact our financial results. In addition, our insurance policies
provide only limited coverage for service interruptions and may not adequately compensate us for any losses that may occur due to any
failures or interruptions in our systems.

Our technology platforms may link to or utilize open source software, and any failure to comply with the terms of one or more of
these open source licenses could negatively affect our business.

Our technology platforms may incorporate software covered by open source licenses. The terms of various open source licenses have not
been interpreted by United States courts, and there is a risk that such licenses could be construed in a manner that imposes unfavorable
conditions on us. For example, by the terms of certain open source licenses, we could be required to offer our technology platforms that
incorporate the open source software for no cost, that we make publicly available source code for modifications or derivative works that we
created based upon, incorporating or using the open source software, and/or that we license such modifications or derivative works under the
terms of the particular open source license. If portions of our proprietary software are determined to be subject to an open source license,
then the value of our technologies and services could be reduced.

In addition to risks related to license requirements, usage of open source software may be riskier than use of third-party commercial
software, as open source licensors generally do not provide warranties or controls on the origin of the software. Many of the risks associated
with usage of open source software cannot be eliminated and could negatively affect our business.

Failure to adequately protect our brands and other intellectual property rights, and infringement of the intellectual property rights
of others, would negatively impact our business.

We believe that our brands are critical to the success of our business, and we utilize trademark registration and other means to protect these
brands. Our business would be harmed if we were unable to protect our brands against infringement and the value of our brands was to
decrease as a result.

We rely on a combination of trademark and copyright laws, trade secret protection, and confidentiality and license agreements to protect the
intellectual property rights related to our products and services such as our technology platforms, applications and the content on our
website. We also rely on intellectual property licensed from third
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parties. We may unknowingly violate the intellectual property or other proprietary rights of others and, thus, may be subject to claims by third
parties. If so, we may be required to devote significant time and resources to defending against these claims or to protecting and enforcing
our own rights. As a result of any such dispute, we may have to:

• develop non-infringing technology;
• pay damages;
• enter into royalty or licensing agreements;
• cease providing certain products or services; or
• take other actions to resolve the claims.

Additionally, we have largely relied, and expect to continue to rely, on copyright, trade secret, and trademark laws, as well as generally
relying on confidentiality procedures and agreements with our team members, consultants, customers, and vendors, to control access to, and
distribution of, technology, software, documentation, and other confidential information. Despite these precautions, it may be possible for a
third party to copy or otherwise obtain, use, or distribute our technology without authorization, particularly in foreign jurisdictions where some
of our intellectual property rights may not be protected by intellectual property laws. If this were to occur, we could lose revenue as a result of
competition from products infringing or misappropriating our technology and intellectual property and we may be required to initiate litigation
to protect our proprietary rights and market position. U.S. copyright, trademark, and trade secret laws offer us only limited protection and the
laws of some foreign countries do not protect proprietary rights to the same extent. Accordingly, defense of our intellectual property and
proprietary technology may become an increasingly important issue as we continue to expand our operations.

Policing unauthorized use of our intellectual property and technology is difficult and the steps we take may not prevent misappropriation of
the intellectual property or technology on which we rely. If competitors are able to use our intellectual property or technology without
recourse, our ability to compete would be harmed and our business would be materially and adversely affected. We may elect to initiate
litigation in the future to enforce or protect our proprietary rights or to determine the validity and scope of the rights of others.

The loss of our intellectual property or the inability to secure or enforce our intellectual property rights or to defend successfully against an
infringement action could harm our business, results of operations, financial condition, and prospects.

Legal and regulatory risks

The healthcare regulatory and political framework is uncertain and evolving, and we cannot predict the effect that further
healthcare reform and other changes in government programs may have on our business, financial condition, or results of
operations.

Healthcare laws and regulations are rapidly evolving and may change significantly in the future, which could adversely affect our financial
condition and results of operations. In addition, proposals to implement a single payer or "Medicare for all" system in the U.S. or in individual
states, if adopted, could have a material adverse effect on our business. The full impact of healthcare reform and other changes in the
healthcare industry and in healthcare spending is unknown. Accordingly, we are unable to predict what effect healthcare reform measures
will have on our business.

Changes in applicable federal and state laws relating to HSAs and other CDBs could materially adversely affect our business.

HSAs and other CDBs exist as a result of provisions in the Internal Revenue Code and other laws and regulations. Changes to the regulatory
landscape impacting our products require substantial time and costs for us to ensure our products are compliant. For example, regulatory
changes related to our FSA and COBRA products enacted in the wake of the COVID-19 pandemic created uncertainty and additional
workload on our team members and resulted in additional costs. In addition, federal or state governments could impose laws that limit the
eligibility requirements for our products, which could limit our ability to grow or cause us to lose existing members, or such governments
could change the eligibility requirements we must meet to maintain the licenses we need to offer our products. We cannot predict if any new
reforms will ultimately become law, or if enacted, what their terms or the regulations promulgated pursuant to such reforms will be, and such
reforms could have a material adverse effect on our business.

We are subject to privacy regulations, including regarding the access, use, and disclosure of personally identifiable information. If
we or any of our third-party vendors experience a privacy breach, it could result in substantial financial and reputational harm,
including possible criminal and civil penalties.

State and federal laws and regulations govern the collection, dissemination, access, and use of personally identifiable information, including
HIPAA and HITECH, which govern the treatment of protected health information,
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and the Gramm-Leach Bliley Act, which governs the treatment of nonpublic personal information. In the provision of services to our
customers, we and our third-party vendors collect, access, use, maintain, and transmit personally identifiable information in ways that are
subject to many of these laws and regulations. Although we have implemented measures to comply with these privacy laws, rules, and
regulations, we have experienced data privacy incidents. Any further unauthorized disclosure of personally identifiable information
experienced by us or our third-party vendors could result in substantial financial and reputational harm, including possible criminal and civil
penalties. In many cases, we are subject to HIPAA and other privacy regulations because we are a business associate providing services to
covered entities; as a result, the covered entities direct HIPAA compliance matters in the event of a security breach, which complicates our
ability to address harm caused by the breach. In addition, our increased offering of CDBs means we now obtain substantially more HIPAA
data. Additionally, as we have in connection with prior security incidents, we may be required to report breaches to partners, regulators, state
attorney generals, and impacted individuals depending on the severity of the breach, our role, legal requirements, and contractual
obligations.

Privacy regulation has become a priority issue in many states, and as such the regulatory environment is continually changing. For example,
the CPRA became effective on January 1, 2023. The CPRA requires companies, such as ours, that process information on California
residents to make new disclosures to consumers about their data collection, use, and sharing practices, and allows consumers to opt out of
certain data sharing with third parties and provides a new cause of action for data breaches. We expect further privacy requirements to be
applicable to us as a result of additional recently passed, and likely upcoming, state privacy laws, which will expand consumers’ rights with
respect to their personal information. The Federal government is also considering legislative and regulatory proposals concerning data
protection.

Continued compliance with current and potential new privacy laws, rules, and regulations and meeting consumer expectations with respect to
the control of personal data in a rapidly changing technology environment could result in higher compliance and technology costs for us, as
well as costly penalties in the event we are deemed to not be in compliance with such laws, rules, and regulations.

Legislative, regulatory, and legal developments involving taxes could adversely affect our results of operations and cash flows.

We are subject to U.S. federal and state income, payroll, property, sales and use, and other types of taxes in numerous jurisdictions.
Significant judgment is required in determining our provisions for income taxes. Changes in tax rates, enactments of new tax laws, revisions
of tax regulations, and claims or litigation with taxing authorities could result in substantially higher taxes.

We do not collect sales and use taxes in all jurisdictions in which our customers are located, other than from sales of certain commuter
services, based on our belief that such taxes are generally not applicable to our services. Sales and use tax laws and rates vary by
jurisdiction and such laws are subject to interpretation. In those jurisdictions and in those cases where we do believe sales taxes are
applicable, we collect and file timely sales tax returns. Currently, such sales taxes apply to certain commuter services, but otherwise are
minimal to the rest of our services. Jurisdictions in which we do not collect sales and use taxes may assert that such taxes are applicable,
which could result in the assessment of such taxes, interest, and penalties, and we could be required to collect such taxes in the future. Such
additional sales and use tax liability could adversely affect the results of our operations.

Changes in laws and regulations relating to interchange fees on payment card transactions could adversely affect our revenue and
results of operations.

Existing laws and regulations limit the fees or interchange rates that can be charged on payment card transactions. For example, the Federal
Reserve Board has the power to regulate payment card interchange fees and has issued a rule setting a cap on the interchange fee an
issuer can receive from a single payment card transaction. Our HSA-linked payment cards are exempt from this rule, although we are subject
to a general requirement of reasonable compensation for services rendered. To the extent that our payment cards lose their exempt status,
the interchange rates applicable to transactions involving our payment cards could be impacted, which could have a material adverse effect
on our financial condition and results of operations.

Failure to comply with, or changes in, payment card industry, credit card association or other network rules or standards set by
Visa or MasterCard, or changes in card association and debit network fees or products or interchange rates, could materially
adversely affect us.

We, and the banks that issue our prepaid debit cards, are subject to Payment Card Industry Data Security Standards and Visa and
MasterCard association rules that could subject us to a variety of fines or penalties that may be levied by the card associations or networks
for acts or omissions by us or businesses that work with us,
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including card processors. Failure to comply with these rules and standards could result in significant fines, other penalties, or the termination
of our interchange revenue agreements. The termination of the card association registrations held by us or any of the banks that issue our
cards, or any changes in card association or other debit network rules or standards, including interpretation and implementation of existing
rules, participants deciding to use PIN networks, standards or guidance that increase the cost of doing business or limit our ability to provide
our products and services, or limit our ability to receive interchange fees, could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations,
financial condition, business, and prospects. In addition, from time-to-time, card associations increase the organization or processing fees
that they charge, which could increase our operating expenses, reduce our profit margin and materially adversely affect our results of
operations, financial condition, business, and prospects.

We are subject to complex regulation, and any compliance failures or regulatory action could adversely affect our business.

Our business, including HSAs and many of the CDBs we administer and our investment adviser and trust company subsidiaries, is subject to
extensive, complex, and frequently changing federal and state laws and regulations, including IRS, Health and Human Services (“HHS”), and
Department of Labor (“DOL”) regulations; ERISA, HIPAA, HITECH, and other privacy and data security regulations; the Advisers Act; state
banking laws; state third-party administrator laws, and the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act.

Our subsidiary HealthEquity Advisors, LLC is an SEC-registered investment adviser that provides automated web-only investment advisory
services. As such, it must comply with the requirements of the Advisers Act and related SEC regulations and is subject to periodic
inspections by the SEC staff. Such requirements relate to, among other things, fiduciary duties to clients, disclosure obligations,
recordkeeping and reporting requirements, marketing restrictions, limitations on agency cross and principal transactions between the adviser
and its clients, and general anti-fraud prohibitions. The SEC is authorized to institute proceedings and impose sanctions for violations of the
Advisers Act, ranging from fines and censure to termination of an investment adviser’s registration. Investment advisers also are subject to
certain state securities laws and regulations.

Our subsidiary HealthEquity Trust Company is a non-depository trust company and subject to regulation and supervision by the Wyoming
Division of Banking.

Compliance with regulatory requirements requires resources and takes significant time and effort. Any claim of non-compliance, regardless of
merit or ultimate outcome, could subject us to investigation by the HHS, the DOL, the SEC, the Wyoming Division of Banking, or other
regulatory authorities. This in turn could result in additional claims or class action litigation brought on behalf of our members, Clients or
Network Partners, any of which could result in substantial cost to us and divert management’s attention and other resources away from our
operations. Furthermore, investor perceptions of us may suffer, and this could cause a decline in the market price of our common stock. Our
compliance processes may not be sufficient to prevent assertions that we failed to comply with any applicable law, rule or regulation. In
addition, all of our business is subject, to varying degrees, to fiduciary and other service provider obligations under ERISA, the Internal
Revenue Code, and underlying regulations. A failure to comply could subject us to disgorgement of profits, excise taxes, civil penalties,
private lawsuits, and other costs, including reputational harm.

If we are unable to meet or exceed the net worth test required by the IRS, we could be unable to maintain our non-bank custodian
status.

As a non-bank custodian, we are required to comply with Treasury Regulations Section 1.408-2(e), including the net worth requirements set
forth therein. If we should fail to comply with the Treasury Regulations’ non-bank custodian requirements, including the net worth
requirements, such failure would materially and adversely affect our ability to maintain our current custodial accounts and grow by adding
additional custodial accounts, and it could result in the institution of procedures for the revocation of our authorization to operate as a non-
bank custodian.

Risks relating to our service and culture

Any failure to offer high-quality customer support services could adversely affect our relationships with our members, Clients, and
Network Partners and our operating results.

Our customers depend on our support and customer education organizations to educate them about, and resolve technical issues relating to,
our products and services. We may be unable to respond quickly enough to accommodate short-term increases in customer demand for
education and support services. Increased customer demand for these services, without a corresponding increase in revenue, could increase
costs and adversely affect our operating results. In addition, as substantially all of our team members in our support and customer education
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areas now work remotely, it is more difficult to train and manage these team members, which could adversely affect the service we provide.

Our sales process is highly dependent on the reputation of our products, services, and business and on positive recommendations from our
existing customers. Further, we use third-party vendors for certain call centers and COBRA claims and transaction processing, including
certain offshore vendors for member chat service, which vendors may not provide the same quality of support services for our Clients and
members. Any failure to maintain high-quality education and technical support, or a market perception that we do not maintain high-quality
education support, could adversely affect our reputation, our ability to sell our products and services to existing and prospective customers
and our business and operating results. We promote 24/7/365 education and support along with our proprietary technology platforms.
Interruptions or delays that inhibit our ability to meet that standard have in the past hurt our reputation and ability to attract and retain
customers, and such interruptions or delays in the future would likely also do so.

We rely on our management team and team members and our business could be harmed if we are unable to retain qualified
personnel.

Our success depends, in part, on the skills, working relationships and continued services of our executive leadership team and other key
personnel. While we have entered into employment agreements with our executive officers, all of our team members are “at-will” employees,
and their employment can be terminated by us or them at any time, for any reason, and without notice, subject, in certain cases, to
severance payment rights. In order to retain valuable team members, in addition to salary and cash incentives, we provide equity-based
awards that vest over time or based on performance. The value to team members of these awards will be significantly affected by
movements in our stock price that are beyond our control and may at any time be insufficient to counteract offers from other organizations.
The departure of key personnel could adversely affect the conduct of our business. In such event, we would be required to hire other
personnel to manage and operate our business, and there can be no assurance that we would be able to employ a suitable replacement for
the departing individual, or that a replacement could be hired on terms that are favorable to us. Volatility or lack of performance in our stock
price may affect our ability to attract replacements should key personnel depart.

Our success also depends on our ability to attract, retain, and motivate additional skilled management personnel and other team members.
For example, competition for qualified personnel in our field is intense due to the limited number of individuals who possess the skills and
experience required by our industry, particularly in technology-related fields where we have recently experienced significant turnover. New
hires require significant training and, in most cases, take significant time before they achieve full productivity. New team members may not
become as productive as we expect, and we may be unable to hire or retain sufficient numbers of qualified individuals. If our retention efforts
are not successful or our team member turnover rate increases in the future, our business, results of operations and financial condition could
be materially and adversely affected.

If we cannot maintain our corporate culture as we grow, we could lose the innovation, teamwork, passion, and focus on execution
that we believe contribute to our success.

We believe that a critical component to our success has been our corporate culture. We have invested substantial time and resources in
building our team. As we continue to grow, including through the integration of team members joining us through our acquisitions, we have
found it difficult to maintain these important aspects of our corporate culture. In addition, it is difficult to instill our culture in our now
predominantly remote workforce. Any failure to preserve our culture could negatively affect our future success, including our ability to retain
and recruit personnel and to effectively focus on and pursue our corporate objectives.

Risks relating to our partners and service providers

If our Network Partners choose to partner with other providers of, or otherwise reduce offering or cease to offer, our products and
services, our business could be materially and adversely affected.

Our business increasingly depends on our Network Partners’ willingness to partner with us to offer their customers and/or employees our
products and services. In particular, certain of our Network Partners enjoy significant market share in various geographic regions. In other
geographies, we have multiple Network Partners that compete against each other for the same business, which at times results in our
inability to bid for certain business or in us upsetting a Network Partner that we choose not to partner with in a certain bid or that expects us
to bid exclusively with them. If these Network Partners choose to instead partner with our competitors, or otherwise reduce offering, or cease
to offer, our products and services, our results of operations, business, and prospects could be materially adversely affected.
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A change in relationship with any of our bank identification number sponsors, or the failure by these sponsors to comply with
certain banking regulations, could materially and adversely affect our business.

We rely on a limited number of bank identification number ("BIN") sponsors in relation to the payment cards we issue. A BIN sponsor is a
bank or credit union that provides the BIN that allows a prepaid card program to run on one of the major card brand networks (e.g., VISA,
MasterCard, Discover or American Express). Our BIN sponsors enable us to link the payment cards that we offer our members to the VISA
and Mastercard networks, thereby allowing our members to use our payment cards to pay for expenses with a “swipe” of the card. If any
material adverse event were to affect our BIN sponsors, including a significant decline in the financial condition of any of our BIN sponsors, a
decline in the quality of service provided by our BIN sponsors, the inability of our BIN sponsors to comply with applicable banking and
financial service regulatory requirements or industry standards, systems failure or the inability of our BIN sponsors to pay us fees, our
business, financial condition, and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected because we may be forced to reduce the
availability of, or eliminate entirely, our payment card offering, which would materially impact our interchange revenue. In addition, we do not
have long-term contracts with our BIN sponsors, and our BIN sponsors may increase the fees charged to us or terminate our relationship. If
we were required to change BIN sponsors, we could not accurately predict the success of such change or that the terms of our agreement
with a new BIN sponsor would be as favorable to us, especially in light of the regulatory scrutiny of the payment card industry, which has
rendered the market for BIN sponsor services less competitive.

Replacing our third-party vendors would be difficult and disruptive to our business.

We have entered into contracts with third-party vendors to provide critical services relating to our business, including the redesign of our
technology platforms, fraud management and other customer verification services, transaction processing and settlement, telephony
services, call centers and card production. In addition, WageWorks uses third-party vendors for its COBRA transaction processing and also
uses one of our competitors for card processing and other services. In the past, certain of these service providers have failed to maintain
adequate levels of support, did not provide high quality service to us and our members, increased the fees they charge us, discontinued their
lines of business, terminated our contractual arrangements or ceased or reduce operations, and as a result, we suffered additional costs and
were required to pursue new third-party relationships, which resulted in reputational harm, material disruption of our operations and our ability
to provide our products and services, missed service-level agreements with Clients and Network Partners, and diverted management’s time
and resources, and these events and consequences could happen with our current vendors moving forward. Transitioning to a new vendor
often takes a significant amount of time and resources and, if we are unable to complete a transition to a new provider on a timely basis, or at
all, we could be forced to temporarily or permanently discontinue certain services, such as our payment card services, which could disrupt
services to our customers and adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations. We may also be unable to
establish comparable new third-party relationships on as favorable terms or at all, which could materially and adversely affect our business,
financial condition, and results of operations.

Growth-related risks

Our acquisition strategy may not be successful.

We have in the past acquired, and, as a key part of our strategy, seek to acquire or invest in, assets, businesses, products, or technologies
that we believe would complement or expand our products and services, enhance our technical capabilities, or otherwise offer growth
opportunities. There is no assurance that we will be successful in consummating such acquisitions, or even if consummated, realize the
anticipated benefits of these or any future acquisitions. The pursuit of potential acquisitions has in the past, and may in the future, divert the
attention of management and cause us to incur various expenses related to identifying, investigating, and pursuing suitable acquisitions,
whether or not they are consummated.

Acquisitions also increase the risk of unforeseen legal liability, including for potential violations of applicable law or industry rules and
regulations, arising from prior or ongoing acts or omissions by the acquired businesses that are not discovered by due diligence during the
acquisition process. Generally, if an acquisition fails to meet our expectations, our operating results, business, and financial condition may
suffer. Certain of our past acquisitions also resulted in dilutive issuances of equity securities and the incurrence of additional debt, and future
acquisitions could result in additional dilutive issuances of equity securities or the incurrence of additional debt, which could adversely affect
our business, results of operations, or financial condition.
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We may not be able to operate, integrate, and scale our technology effectively to match our business growth.

Our ability to continue to provide our products and services to a growing number of customers, as well as to enhance our existing products
and services, attract new customers and strategic partners, offer new products and services, and continue the integration of acquired
businesses into our business, is dependent on our information technology systems. If we are unable to manage the technology associated
with our business effectively, we could experience increased costs, reductions in system availability, and customer loss. We are currently
investing in a significant modernization of our proprietary technology platforms to support new opportunities and enhance security, privacy,
and platform infrastructure. If we are unsuccessful in implementing these upgrades to our technology platforms, we may be unable to
adequately meet the needs of our customers and/or implement technology-based innovation in response to a rapidly changing market, which
could harm our reputation and adversely impact our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Failure to manage future growth effectively could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of
operations.

The continued rapid expansion and development of our business has placed a significant strain upon our management and administrative,
operational, and financial infrastructure. As of January 31, 2023, we had approximately 8.0 million HSAs and $22.1 billion in HSA assets
representing growth of 11% and 13%, respectively, from January 31, 2022. Our growth strategy contemplates further increasing the number
of our HSAs, CDBs and our HSA Assets at relatively higher growth rates than industry averages. However, the rate at which we have been
able to add new HSAs, CDBs and HSA Assets in the past may not be indicative of the rate at which we will be able to grow in the future.

Our success depends in part upon the ability of our executive officers to manage growth effectively. Our ability to grow also depends upon
our ability to successfully hire, train, supervise, and manage new team members, obtain financing for our capital needs, expand our systems
effectively, control increasing costs, allocate our human resources optimally, maintain clear lines of communication between our operational
functions and our finance and accounting functions, and manage the pressures on our management and administrative, operational, and
financial infrastructure. There can be no assurance that we will be able to accurately anticipate and respond to the changing demands we will
face as we continue to expand our operations or that we will be able to manage growth effectively or to achieve further growth at all. If our
business does not continue to grow or if we fail to effectively manage any future growth, our business, financial condition, and results of
operations could be materially and adversely affected.

We may not accurately estimate the impact on our business of developing, introducing, and updating new and existing products
and services.

We intend to continue to invest in technology and development to create new and enhanced products and services to offer our customers
and to enhance the capabilities of our platforms. We may not be able to anticipate or manage new risks and obligations or legal, compliance,
or other requirements that may arise in these areas. The anticipated benefits of such new and improved products and services may not
outweigh the costs and resources associated with their development. Some new services may be received negatively by our existing and/or
potential customers and strategic partners and have to be put on hold or canceled entirely.

Our ability to attract and retain new customer revenue from existing customers will depend in large part on our ability to enhance and improve
our existing products and services and to introduce new products and services. The success of any enhancement or new product or service
depends on several factors, including the timely completion, introduction, and market acceptance of the enhancement or new product or
service. Any new product or service we develop or acquire may not be introduced in a timely or cost-effective manner and may not achieve
the broad market acceptance necessary to earn significant revenue. If we are unable to successfully develop or acquire new products or
services or enhance our existing products or services to meet member or network partner requirements, our results of operations, financial
condition, business or prospects may be materially adversely affected.

We may need to record write-downs from future impairments of identified intangible assets and goodwill.

Our consolidated balance sheet includes significant intangible assets, including approximately $1.65 billion in goodwill and $936.4 million in
intangible assets, together representing approximately 84% of our total assets as of January 31, 2023. The determination of related
estimated useful lives and whether these assets are impaired involves significant judgments. We test our goodwill for impairment each fiscal
year, but we also test goodwill and other intangible assets for impairment at any time when there is a change in circumstances that indicates
that the carrying value of these assets may be impaired. This is particularly relevant to us given our recent acquisition history and the amount
of goodwill and intangible assets on our balance sheet associated with those acquisitions.
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Any future determination that these assets are carried at greater than their fair value could result in substantial non-cash impairment charges,
which could significantly impact our reported operating results.

Financing and related risks

Our substantial debt could limit our ability to fund operations, expose us to interest rate volatility, limit our ability to raise
additional capital and have a material adverse effect on our ability to fulfill our obligations under our Credit Agreement and
Indenture and to our Network Partners, Clients and members.

We are party to a credit agreement (the "Credit Agreement") among the Company, as borrower, each lender from time to time party thereto,
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent and the Swing Line Lender (as defined in the Credit Agreement), and each L/C Issuer
(as defined therein) party thereto. Our Credit Agreement consists of (i) a five-year senior secured term loan A facility in the aggregate
principal amount of $350 million (the "Term Loan Facility") and (ii) a five-year senior secured revolving credit facility (the “Revolving Credit
Facility” and, together with the Term Loan Facility, the “Credit Facilities”), in an aggregate principal amount of up to $1 billion. We have also
issued $600 million of 4.50% unsecured Senior Notes due 2029 (the "Notes"). Under the Credit Agreement, we have the right to request
additional commitments for new term loans and increases to then-existing term loans and revolving credit commitments in an amount up to
the sum of (i) $300 million, plus (ii) an unlimited additional amount so long as the pro forma First Lien Net Leverage Ratio (as defined in the
Credit Agreement) does not exceed 3.85 to 1.00 (assuming any such new or increased revolving commitments are fully borrowed). We also
have the right to incur additional debt from time to time, subject to the restrictions contained in the Credit Agreement and the indenture under
which the Notes were issued (the "Indenture"). The substantial debt we have outstanding, combined with our other financial obligations and
contractual commitments, has important consequences, including the following:

• our level of debt may make it more difficult for us to satisfy our obligations with respect to our debt, and any failure to comply with the
obligations under any of our debt instruments, including restrictive covenants, could result in an event of default under the Credit
Agreement or the Indenture and the agreements governing such other debt;

• we will be required to use a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to pay principal and interest on our debt, thereby
reducing the availability of our cash flow to fund working capital, capital expenditures, strategic acquisitions, investments and
alliances and other general corporate requirements;

• our interest expense has increased substantially, and could continue to increase, if interest rates continue to increase, because any
outstanding borrowings under our Credit Facilities are based on variable interest rates;

• the interest rate on our Revolving Credit Facility is based on LIBOR, and although the Credit Agreement provides an alternative
mechanism for determining the applicable interest rate when LIBOR is no longer available, the interest rates we pay may be
adversely affected as a result of potential disruptions in connection with the LIBOR phase-out;

• the interest rate on our Revolving Credit Facility will depend on the level of our specified financial ratios, and therefore could increase
if such specified financial ratios increase;

• such substantial debt could leave us vulnerable to general economic downturns and adverse competitive and industry conditions and
could place us at a competitive disadvantage compared to those of our competitors that are less leveraged;

• our debt service obligations could limit our flexibility to plan for, or react to, changes in our business and the industry in which we
operate;

• our level of debt may restrict us from raising additional financing on satisfactory terms to fund working capital, capital expenditures,
strategic acquisitions, investments and joint ventures and other general corporate requirements;

• our level of debt may prevent us from raising the funds necessary to repurchase all of the Notes tendered to us upon the occurrence
of a change of control, which would constitute an event of default under the Indenture; and

• a potential failure to comply with the financial and other restrictive covenants in any of our debt instruments, which, among other
things, require us to maintain specified financial ratios, could, if not cured or waived, have a material adverse effect on our ability to
fulfill our obligations under the Notes and on our business and prospects generally.
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The Indenture and the Credit Agreement contain covenants that impose significant operational and financial restrictions on us, and
the failure to comply with these covenants would result in an event of default under these instruments.

The Indenture and the Credit Agreement impose on us operating and other restrictions. These restrictions affect, and in many respects limit
or prohibit, among other things, our ability to:

• incur additional debt and issue certain capital stock;
• create liens;
• make investments or acquisitions;
• enter into transactions with affiliates;
• sell assets;
• guarantee debt;
• declare or pay dividends or other distributions to shareholders;
• repurchase equity interests;
• redeem debt that is subordinated in right of payment to certain debt instruments;
• enter into agreements that restrict dividends or other payments from subsidiaries; and
• consolidate, merge or transfer all or substantially all of our assets and the assets of our subsidiaries on a consolidated basis.

The terms of the Revolving Credit Facility in the Credit Agreement also require us to achieve and maintain compliance with specified financial
ratios. The restrictions contained in the Credit Agreement:

• limit our ability to plan for or react to market conditions or meet capital needs or otherwise restrict our activities or business plans;
and

• adversely affect our ability to finance our operations, strategic acquisitions, investments or alliances or other capital needs or to
engage in other business activities that would be in our interest.

A breach of any of these restrictive covenants or our inability to comply with the required financial ratios would result in a default under some
or all of the debt agreements. During the occurrence and continuance of a default, lenders under our Credit Facilities may elect to declare all
outstanding borrowings, together with accrued interest and other fees, to be immediately due and payable, which would result in an event of
default under the Indenture. The lenders will also have the right in these circumstances to terminate any commitments they have to provide
further borrowings. Additionally, our Credit Agreement contains a cross-default provision, which generally causes a default or event of default
under the Credit Agreement upon a qualifying default or event of default under any other debt instrument (including under the Indenture) and
the Indenture contains a cross-acceleration provision. If we are unable to repay outstanding borrowings when due, the lenders under our
Credit Facilities will also have the right to proceed against the collateral granted to them to secure the debt. If lenders under the Credit
Facilities accelerate the debt thereunder, then the obligations under the Notes would be accelerated. We cannot provide assurance that, if
the indebtedness under our Credit Facilities or the Notes were to be accelerated, our assets would be sufficient to repay in full that
indebtedness and our other indebtedness. If not cured or waived, such acceleration could have a material adverse effect on our business
and our prospects.

We may be unable to generate or obtain sufficient capital to fund our business and growth strategy.

To fund our expanding business and growth strategy, we must have sufficient working capital to continue to make significant investments in
our service offerings, advertising, technology, and other activities. As a result, in addition to the cash flow from operations we generate from
our business, we may need additional equity or debt financing to provide the funds required for these endeavors. If such financing is not
available on satisfactory terms or at all, we may be unable to operate or expand our business in the manner and at the rate desired. For
example, the Credit Agreement may make it more challenging to incur additional debt, as it includes prohibitions against incurring additional
debt without approval from our existing lenders, and other lenders may not be willing to take on the risk of adding to our existing leverage. In
addition, debt financing increases expenses, may contain additional covenants that restrict the operation of our business and must be repaid
regardless of operating results. Equity financing, or debt financing that is convertible into equity, could result in additional dilution to our
existing stockholders, and any new securities we issue could have rights, preferences, and privileges superior to those associated with our
common stock.

Our inability to generate or obtain the financial resources needed to fund our business and growth strategies may require us to delay, scale
back or eliminate some or all of our operations or the expansion of our business, which may have a material adverse effect on our business,
operating results, financial condition, and prospects.
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General risk factors

Natural disasters, pandemics or other epidemics, acts of terrorism, acts of war, adverse economic conditions, and other
unforeseen events, may cause damage or disruption to us or our customers.

Natural disasters, pandemics or other epidemics, acts of war (including the current war between Russia and Ukraine), terrorist attacks, the
escalation of military activity in response to such attacks, adverse economic conditions (including the recent increase in inflation and its
impact on our labor and third-party vendor costs), or otherwise may have negative and significant effects, such as imposition of increased
security measures, changes in applicable laws, market disruptions, increased costs to operate our business, reduced economic activity
among our clients, and job losses, which could in turn have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of
operations. For example, the recent COVID-19 pandemic resulted in significant disruptions to our business, operations and products, and the
societal changes arising out of the COVID-19 pandemic may have long-term impacts on certain of our products, such as our commuter
product.

Provisions in our charter documents and under Delaware law could discourage a takeover that stockholders may consider
favorable.

Certain provisions in our governing documents could make a merger, tender offer or proxy contest involving us difficult; even if such events
would be beneficial to the interests of our stockholders. These provisions include the inability of our stockholders to act by written consent
and certain advance notice procedures with respect to stockholder proposals and nominations for candidates for the election of directors. In
addition, because we are incorporated in Delaware, we are governed by the provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation
Law which, subject to certain exceptions, prohibits stockholders owning in excess of 15% of our outstanding voting stock from merging or
combining with us. Accordingly, our board of directors could rely upon these or other provisions in our governing documents and Delaware
law to prevent or delay a transaction involving a change in control of our company, even if doing so would benefit our stockholders.

The exclusive forum provision in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation could limit our stockholders’ ability to
obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us or our directors, officers or team members.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware is the exclusive forum for
any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf, any action asserting a claim for breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any of our
directors and officers to us or our stockholders, any action asserting a claim arising pursuant to any provision of the Delaware General
Corporation Law, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation or our amended and restated bylaws, or any action asserting a claim
governed by the internal affairs doctrine. The choice of forum provision may limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that
it finds favorable for disputes with us or our directors, officers or other team members, which may discourage such lawsuits against us and
our directors, officers, and other team members. Alternatively, if a court were to find the choice of forum provision contained in our amended
and restated certificate of incorporation to be inapplicable or unenforceable in an action, we may incur additional costs associated with
resolving such action in other jurisdictions, which could adversely affect our business and financial condition.

Item 1B. Unresolved staff comments
None.

Item 2. Properties
We do not currently own any of our facilities. Our principal executive offices are located in Draper, Utah. We lease additional office space in
California, Texas, and Wisconsin. However, since a majority of our workforce is now permanently working remotely, most of our office space
(other than a portion of our Texas office space and one building in Draper) is no longer used and we have subleased, or are seeking
opportunities to sublease, these offices.

Item 3. Legal proceedings
From time-to-time, we may be subject to various legal proceedings and claims that arise in the normal course of our business activities. Our
wholly owned subsidiary, WageWorks, is party to certain pending material litigation. Except for such matters, as of the date of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K, we were not a party to any litigation whereby the outcome of such litigation, if determined adversely to us, would
individually or in the aggregate be reasonably
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expected to have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, cash flows or financial position. For a description of these legal
proceedings, see Note 7—Commitments and contingencies of the Notes to consolidated financial statements.

Item 4. Mine safety disclosures
Not applicable.
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Part II.

Item 5. Market for registrant's common equity, related stockholder matters and issuer purchases of equity
securities
Market information

Our common stock is listed on the NASDAQ Global Select Market under the symbol "HQY."

Holders

As of March 21, 2023, there were 24 holders of record of our common stock. This stockholder figure does not include a substantially greater
number of holders whose shares are held of record by banks, brokers, and other financial institutions.

Dividend policy

We have no current plans to pay dividends on our common stock. Any decision to declare and pay dividends in the future will be made at the
sole discretion of our board of directors and will depend on, among other things, our results of operations, cash requirements, financial
condition, contractual restrictions, and other factors that our board of directors may deem relevant.
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Performance graph

This performance graph shall not be deemed "filed" for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act or otherwise subject to the liabilities
under that section, and shall not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any of our filings under the Securities Act or the Exchange
Act, except as shall be expressly set forth by specific reference in such filing.

The following graph compares the cumulative total return of our common stock with the total return of the NASDAQ Composite Index (the
"NASDAQ Composite"), and the Russell 3000 Index (the "Russell 3000") from January 31, 2018 through January 31, 2023. The chart
assumes $100 was invested on January 31, 2018 in the common stock of HealthEquity, Inc., the NASDAQ Composite and the Russell 3000,
and assumes reinvestment of any dividends. The stock price performance on the following graph is not necessarily indicative of future stock
price performance.

Unregistered sales of equity securities

None.

Purchases of equity securities by the issuer and affiliated purchasers

None.
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Item 6. Reserved

Item 7. Management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations
The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our consolidated
financial statements and related notes appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. This discussion contains forward-looking
statements that reflect our plans, estimates and beliefs, and involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results and the timing of certain
events could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of several factors, including those
discussed in the section titled “Risk factors” included under Part I, Item 1A and elsewhere in this report. See “Special note regarding forward-
looking statements” on page 1 of this Annual Report.

Overview
We are a leader and an innovator in providing technology-enabled services that empower consumers to make healthcare saving and
spending decisions. We use our innovative technology to manage consumers' tax-advantaged HSAs and other CDBs offered by employers,
including FSAs and HRAs, and to administer COBRA, commuter and other benefits. As part of our services, we provide consumers with
healthcare bill evaluation and payment processing services, personalized benefit information, including information on treatment options and
comparative pricing, access to remote and telemedicine benefits, the ability to earn wellness incentives, and investment advice to grow their
tax-advantaged healthcare savings.

The core of our offerings is the HSA, a financial account through which consumers spend and save long-term for healthcare expenses on a
tax-advantaged basis. As of January 31, 2023, we administered 8.0 million HSAs, with balances totaling $22.1 billion, which we call HSA
Assets, as well as 6.9 million complementary CDBs. We refer to the aggregate number of HSAs and other CDBs that we administer as Total
Accounts, of which we had 14.9 million as of January 31, 2023.

We reach consumers primarily through relationships with their employers, which we call Clients. We reach Clients primarily through
relationships with benefits brokers and advisors, integrated partnerships with a network of health plans, benefits administrators, benefits
brokers and consultants, and retirement plan recordkeepers, which we call Network Partners, and a sales force that calls on Clients directly.
As of January 31, 2023, our platforms were integrated with more than 200 Network Partners, and we serve more than 120,000 Clients.

We have increased our share of the growing HSA market from 4% in December 2010 to 20% as of December 2022, measured by HSA
Assets. According to Devenir, as of December 2022, we are the largest HSA provider by both accounts and HSA Assets. In addition, we
believe we are the largest provider of other CDBs. We seek to differentiate ourselves through our service-driven culture, product breadth,
ecosystem connectivity, and proprietary technology. Our proprietary technology allows us to help consumers optimize the value of their HSAs
and other CDBs and gain confidence and skills in managing their healthcare costs as part of their financial security.

Our ability to assist consumers is enhanced by our capacity to securely share data in both directions with others in the health, benefits, and
retirement ecosystems. Our commuter benefits offering also leverages connectivity to an ecosystem of mass transit, ride hailing, and parking
providers.

We earn revenue primarily from three sources: service, custodial, and interchange. We earn service revenue mainly from fees paid by our
Network Partners, Clients, and members for the administration services we provide in connection with the HSAs and other CDBs we offer.
We earn custodial revenue mainly from HSA Assets held at our members’ direction in federally insured cash deposits, insurance contracts or
mutual funds, and from investment of Client-held funds. We earn interchange revenue mainly from fees paid by merchants on payments that
our members make using our physical payment cards and on our virtual payment system. See “Key components of our results of operations”
for additional information on our sources of revenue, including the adverse impacts caused by the societal and economic changes arising out
of the COVID-19 pandemic.
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Recent acquisitions
Luum acquisition. In March 2021, we bolstered our commuter offering by acquiring 100% of the outstanding capital stock of Fort Effect
Corp, d/b/a Luum. The aggregate purchase price for the acquisition consisted of $56.2 million in cash. Luum provides employers with various
commuter services, including access to real-time commute data, to help them design and implement flexible return-to-office and hybrid-
workplace strategies and benefits.

Fifth Third Bank HSA portfolio acquisition. In September 2021, we acquired the Fifth Third HSA portfolio, which consisted of
$490.0 million of HSA Assets held in approximately 160,000 HSAs in exchange for a purchase price of $60.8 million in cash.

Further acquisition. In November 2021, we acquired the Further business (other than Further's voluntary employee beneficiary association
business), a leading provider of HSA and other CDB administration services, with approximately 580,000 HSAs and $1.9 billion of HSA
Assets, for $455 million in cash. We expect merger integration expenses attributable to the Further Acquisition totaling approximately $55
million to be incurred over a period of approximately three to four years from the acquisition date.

HealthSavings HSA portfolio acquisition. In March 2022, we acquired the HealthSavings HSA portfolio, which consisted of $1.3 billion of
HSA Assets held in approximately 87,000 HSAs in exchange for a purchase price of $60 million in cash.

Key factors affecting our performance
We believe that our future performance will be driven by a number of factors, including those identified below. Each of these factors presents
both significant opportunities and significant risks to our future performance. See also the section entitled “Risk factors” included in Part 1,
Item 1A of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and our other reports filed with the SEC.

Our acquisition and integration strategy

We have historically acquired HSA portfolios and businesses that strengthen our service offerings. We plan to continue this growth strategy
and are regularly engaged in evaluating different opportunities. We have developed an internal capability to source, evaluate, and integrate
acquired HSA portfolios. Our success depends in part on our ability to successfully integrate acquired businesses and HSA portfolios with
our business in an efficient and effective manner and to realize anticipated synergies.

Structural change in U.S. health insurance

We derive revenue primarily from healthcare-related saving and spending by consumers in the U.S., which are driven by changes in the
broader healthcare industry, including the structure of health insurance. The average premium for employer-sponsored health insurance has
risen by 20% since 2017 and 43% since 2012, resulting in increased participation in HSA-qualified health plans and HSAs and increased
consumer cost-sharing in health insurance more generally. We believe that continued growth in healthcare costs and related factors will spur
continued growth in HSA-qualified health plans and HSAs and may encourage policy changes making HSAs or similar vehicles available to
new populations such as individuals in Medicare. However, the timing and impact of these and other developments in U.S. healthcare are
uncertain. Moreover, changes in healthcare policy, such as "Medicare for all" plans, could materially and adversely affect our business in
ways that are difficult to predict.

Trends in U.S. tax law

Tax law has a profound impact on our business. Our offerings to members, Clients, and Network Partners consist primarily of services
enabled, mandated, or advantaged by provisions of U.S. tax law and regulations. Changes in tax policy are speculative and may affect our
business in ways that are difficult to predict.

Our client base

Our business model is based on a B2B2C distribution strategy, whereby we work with Network Partners and Clients to reach consumers to
increase the number of our members with HSA accounts and complementary CDBs. We believe that there are significant opportunities to
expand the scope of services that we provide to our current Clients.
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Broad distribution footprint

We believe we have a diverse distribution footprint to attract new Clients and Network Partners. Our sales force calls on enterprise and
regional employers in industries across the U.S., as well as potential Network Partners from among health plans, benefits administrators, and
retirement plan record keepers.

Product breadth

We are the largest custodian and administrator of HSAs, as well as a market-share leader in each of the major categories of complementary
CDBs, including FSAs and HRAs, COBRA and commuter benefits administration. Our Clients and their benefits advisors increasingly seek
HSA providers that can deliver an integrated offering of HSAs and complementary CDBs. With our CDB capabilities, we can provide
employers with a single partner for both HSAs and complementary CDBs, which is preferred by the vast majority of employers, according to
research conducted for us by Aite Group. We believe that the combination of HSA and complementary CDB offerings significantly
strengthens our value proposition to employers, health benefits brokers and consultants, and Network Partners as a leading single-source
provider.

Interest rates

As a non-bank custodian, our members’ custodial HSA cash assets are held by either our federally insured bank and credit union partners,
which we collectively call our Depository Partners (our “Basic Rates” offering), pursuant to contractual arrangements we have with these
Depository Partners, or by our insurance company partners through group annuity contracts or other similar arrangements (our “Enhanced
Rates” offering).

The lengths of our agreements with Depository Partners typically range from three to five years and may have fixed or variable interest rate
terms. The terms of new and renewing agreements with our Depository Partners may be impacted by the then-prevailing interest rate
environment, which in turn is driven by macroeconomic factors and government policies over which we have no control. Such factors, and
the response of our competitors to them, also determine the amount of interest retained by our members.

HSA members who place their HSA cash into our Enhanced Rates offering retain a higher yield compared to our Basic Rates offering. An
increase in the percentage of HSA cash held in our Enhanced Rates offering also positively impacts our custodial revenue, as we generally
receive a higher yield on HSA cash held by our insurance company partners compared to cash held by our Depository Partners. As with our
Depository Partners, yields paid by our insurance company partners may be impacted by the prevailing interest rate environment, which in
turn is driven by macroeconomic factors and government policies over which we have no control. Such factors, and the response of our
competitors to them, also determine the amount of interest retained by our members.

We believe that diversification of Depository Partners and insurance company partners, varied contract terms, and other factors reduce our
exposure to short-term fluctuations in prevailing interest rates and mitigate the short-term impact of sustained increases or declines in
prevailing interest rates on our custodial revenue. Over longer periods, sustained shifts in prevailing interest rates affect the amount of
custodial revenue we can realize on custodial assets and the interest retained by our members.

Although interest rates have increased, we expect our custodial revenue to continue to be adversely affected by the interest rate cuts by the
Federal Reserve at the beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic due to the impact of contracts signed with our Depository Partners in that
environment and other market conditions that have caused our average annualized yield on HSA cash to decline significantly from historical
levels.

Interest on our Term Loan Facility changes frequently due to variable interest rate terms, and as a result, our interest expense is expected to
fluctuate based on changes in prevailing interest rates. Recent interest rate increases have caused interest expense related to our Term
Loan Facility to increase substantially.

Our proprietary technology

We believe that innovations incorporated in our technology, which enable us to better assist consumers to make healthcare saving and
spending decisions and maximize the value of their tax-advantaged benefits, differentiate us from our competitors and drive our growth. Our
full suite of CDB offerings complements our HSA solution and enhances our leadership position within the HSA sector. We intend to continue
to invest in our technology development to enhance our capabilities and infrastructure, while maintaining a focus on data security and the
privacy of our customers' data. For example, we are making significant investments in the architecture and infrastructure of the technology
that we use to provide our services to improve our transaction processing capabilities and support continued account and transaction growth,
as well as in data-driven personalized engagement to help our members spend less, save more, and build wealth for retirement.
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Our Purple culture

A successful healthcare consumer needs education and guidance delivered by people as well as by technology. The education and customer
service we provide is driven by our Purple culture, which we believe is a significant factor in our ability to attract and retain customers and to
address opportunities in the rapidly changing healthcare sector. We invest in and intend to continue to invest in human capital through
technology-enabled training, career development, and advancement opportunities.

Our competition and industry

Our direct competitors are HSA custodians and other CDB providers. Many of these are state or federally chartered banks and other financial
institutions for which we believe benefits administration services are not a core business. Some of our direct competitors (including
healthcare service companies such as UnitedHealth Group's Optum, Webster Bank, and well-known retail investment companies, such as
Fidelity Investments) are in a position to devote more resources to the development, sale, and support of their products and services than we
have at our disposal. Our other CDB administration competitors include health insurance carriers, human resources consultants and
outsourcers, payroll providers, national CDB specialists, regional third-party administrators, and commercial banks. In addition, numerous
indirect competitors, including benefits administration service providers, partner with banks and other HSA custodians to compete with us.
Our Network Partners may also choose to offer competitive services directly, as some health plans have done. Our success depends on our
ability to predict and react quickly to these and other industry and competitive dynamics.

As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, we have seen a significant decline in the use of commuter benefits due to many of our members
working from home, which has negatively impacted both our interchange revenue and service revenue, and this "work from home" trend, or
hybrid work environments, may continue indefinitely.

Regulatory environment

Federal law and regulations, including the Affordable Care Act, the Internal Revenue Code, the Employee Retirement Income Security Act
and Department of Labor regulations, and public health regulations that govern the provision of health insurance and provide the tax
advantages associated with our services, play a pivotal role in determining our market opportunity. Privacy and data security-related laws
such as the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act, or HIPAA, and the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act, laws governing the provision of
investment advice to consumers, such as the Investment Advisers Act of 1940, or the Advisers Act, the USA PATRIOT Act, anti-money
laundering laws, and the Federal Deposit Insurance Act, all play a similar role in determining our competitive landscape. In addition, state-
level regulations also have significant implications for our business in some cases. For example, our subsidiary HealthEquity Trust Company
is regulated by the Wyoming Division of Banking, and several states are considering, or have already passed, new privacy regulations that
can affect our business. Various states also have laws and regulations that impose additional restrictions on our collection, storage, and use
of personally identifiable information. Privacy regulation in particular has become a priority issue in many states, including California, which in
2018 enacted the California Consumer Privacy Act broadly regulating California residents’ personal information and providing California
residents with various rights to access and control their data, and the new California Privacy Rights Act. We have also seen an increase in
regulatory changes related to our services due to government responses to the COVID-19 pandemic and may continue to see additional
regulatory changes. For example, the Employee Benefits Security Administration provided disaster relief in the form of an indefinite extension
to the required timeline for participants to make COBRA elections, which we believe resulted in fewer COBRA elections by our members
because they have more time to assess the cost of their out-of-pocket expenses against the cost of COBRA premiums. Our ability to predict
and react quickly to relevant legal and regulatory trends and to correctly interpret their market and competitive implications is important to our
success.

On February 18, 2022, President Biden formally continued the National Emergency Concerning COVID-19, which tolled certain deadlines
related to COBRA and other CDBs and increased the complexity of properly administering these programs. On January 30, 2023, President
Biden announced that the national emergency will be extended until May 11, 2023 and then terminated after that date.

Key financial and operating metrics
Our management regularly reviews a number of key operating and financial metrics to evaluate our business, determine the allocation of our
resources, make decisions regarding corporate strategies, and evaluate forward-looking projections and trends affecting our business. We
discuss certain of these key financial metrics, including revenue, below in the section entitled “Key components of our results of operations.”
In addition, we utilize other key metrics as described below.
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For a discussion related to key financial and operating metrics for fiscal year 2022 compared to fiscal year 2021, refer to Part II, Item 7.
Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations in our fiscal year 2022 Form 10-K, filed with the
SEC on March 31, 2022.

Total Accounts

The following table sets forth our HSAs, CDBs, and Total Accounts as of and for the periods indicated:
(in thousands, except percentages) January 31, 2023 January 31, 2022 % Change
HSAs 7,984 7,207 11 %
New HSAs from sales - Quarter-to-date 445 472 (6)%
New HSAs from sales - Year-to-date 971 918 6 %
New HSAs from acquisitions - Year-to-date 90 740 (88)%
HSAs with investments 541 455 19 %
CDBs 6,933 7,192 (4)%
Total Accounts 14,917 14,399 4 %
Average Total Accounts - Quarter-to-date 14,677 14,326 2 %
Average Total Accounts - Year-to-date 14,531 13,450 8 %

The number of our HSAs and CDBs are key metrics because our revenue is driven by the amount we earn from them. The number of our
HSAs increased by approximately 0.8 million, or 11%, from January 31, 2022 to January 31, 2023, primarily driven by new HSAs from sales
and HSAs acquired through the HealthSavings HSA portfolio acquisition and other HSA portfolio acquisitions. The number of our CDBs
decreased by 0.3 million, or 4%, from January 31, 2022 to January 31, 2023, primarily driven by a decrease in COBRA accounts due to the
migration of certain COBRA accounts to our current COBRA technology platform and a difference in the manner in which COBRA accounts
were counted on the discontinued platform.

HSA Assets

The following table sets forth HSA Assets as of and for the periods indicated:

(in millions, except percentages) January 31, 2023 January 31, 2022 % Change
HSA cash $ 14,199 $ 12,943 10 %
HSA investments 7,947 6,675 19 %
Total HSA Assets 22,146 19,618 13 %
Average daily HSA cash - Year-to-date 13,049 10,579 23 %
Average daily HSA cash - Quarter-to-date $ 13,375 $ 12,118 10 %

HSA Assets includes our HSA members’ custodial assets, which consists of the following components: (i) HSA cash, which includes cash
deposits held by our Depository Partners and our insurance company partners, and (ii) HSA investments in mutual funds through our
custodial investment fund partners. Measuring HSA Assets is important because our custodial revenue is directly affected by average daily
custodial balances for HSA Assets that are revenue generating.

HSA cash increased by $1.3 billion, or 10%, from January 31, 2022 to January 31, 2023, primarily due to net HSA contributions from new
and existing HSA members and acquisitions of HSA portfolios, partially offset by transfers to HSA investments.

HSA investments increased by $1.3 billion, or 19%, from January 31, 2022 to January 31, 2023, primarily due to transfers from HSA cash
and HSA investments from the HealthSavings and other HSA portfolio acquisitions, partially offset by the reduced value of invested balances
due to market volatility.

Total HSA Assets increased by $2.5 billion, or 13%, from January 31, 2022 to January 31, 2023, primarily due to net HSA contributions from
new and existing HSA members and HSA Assets from the HealthSavings and other HSA portfolio acquisitions, partially offset by the reduced
value of invested balances due to market volatility.
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Client-held funds
(in millions, except percentages) January 31, 2023 January 31, 2022 % Change
Client-held funds $ 901 $ 897 0 %
Average daily Client-held funds - Year-to-date 827 842 (2)%
Average daily Client-held funds - Quarter-to-date 809 822 (2)%

Client-held funds are interest-earning deposits from which we generate custodial revenue. These deposits are amounts remitted by Clients
and held by us on their behalf to pre-fund and facilitate administration of CDBs. We deposit the Client-held funds with our Depository
Partners in interest-bearing, demand deposit accounts that have a floating interest rate and no set term or duration. Client-held funds
fluctuate depending on the timing of funding and spending of CDB balances and the number of CDBs we administer.

Adjusted EBITDA

We define Adjusted EBITDA, which is a non-GAAP financial metric, as adjusted earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and
amortization, amortization of acquired intangible assets, stock-based compensation expense, merger integration expenses, acquisition costs,
gains and losses on equity securities, amortization of incremental costs to obtain a contract, costs associated with unused office space, and
certain other non-operating items. We believe that Adjusted EBITDA provides useful information to investors and analysts in understanding
and evaluating our operating results in the same manner as our management and our board of directors because it reflects operating
profitability before consideration of non-operating expenses and non-cash expenses and serves as a basis for comparison against other
companies in our industry.

The following table presents a reconciliation of net loss, the most comparable GAAP financial measure, to Adjusted EBITDA for the periods
indicated:

Year ended January 31,
(in thousands) 2023 2022
Net loss $ (26,143) $ (44,289)

Interest income (1,763) (1,501)
Interest expense 48,424 36,572 
Income tax benefit (11,953) (22,452)
Depreciation and amortization 66,615 54,397 
Amortization of acquired intangible assets 94,586 82,791 
Stock-based compensation expense 62,614 52,750 
Merger integration expenses 28,596 64,805 
Acquisition costs (1) 53 10,832 
Gain on equity securities — (1,692)
Amortization of incremental costs to obtain a contract 4,393 4,326 
Costs associated with unused office space 4,958 — 
Other 1,968 (524)

Adjusted EBITDA $ 272,348 $ 236,015 

(1) For the fiscal year ended January 31, 2022, acquisition costs included $0.3 million of stock-based compensation expense.

The following table sets forth our net loss as a percentage of revenue:

Year ended January 31,
(in thousands, except percentages) 2023 2022 $ Change % Change
Net loss $ (26,143) $ (44,289) $ 18,146 (41)%
As a percentage of revenue (3)% (6)%

The $18.1 million, or 41%, decrease in our net loss was primarily due to an increase in gross profit and a decrease in merger integration
expense, partially offset by increases in technology and development expense, amortization of intangible assets, general and administrative
expense, sales and marketing expense, and other expense, and a decrease in our income tax benefit.
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The following table sets forth our Adjusted EBITDA as a percentage of revenue:

Year ended January 31,
(in thousands, except percentages) 2023 2022 $ Change % Change
Adjusted EBITDA $ 272,348 $ 236,015 $ 36,333 15 %
As a percentage of revenue 32 % 31 %

The $36.3 million, or 15%, increase in Adjusted EBITDA was primarily due to an increase in total revenue, partially offset by increases in
personnel and related costs.

Our use of Adjusted EBITDA, including as a percentage of revenue, has limitations as an analytical tool, and should not be considered in
isolation or as a substitute for analysis of our results as reported under GAAP.

Key components of our results of operations
Revenue

We generate revenue from three primary sources: service revenue, custodial revenue, and interchange revenue.

Service revenue.    We earn service revenue from the fees we charge our Network Partners, Clients, and members for the administration
services we provide in connection with the HSAs and other CDBs we offer. With respect to our Network Partners and Clients, our fees are
generally based on a fixed tiered structure for the duration of the relevant service agreement and are paid to us on a monthly basis. We
recognize revenue on a monthly basis as services are rendered to our members and Clients.

Custodial revenue.    We earn custodial revenue primarily from HSA Assets held by our Depository Partners or our insurance company
partners, recordkeeping fees we earn in respect of mutual funds in which our members invest, and Client-held funds deposited with our
Depository Partners. HSA cash is held by our Depository Partners pursuant to contracts that (i) typically have terms ranging from three to five
years, (ii) provide for a fixed or variable interest rate payable on the average daily cash balances held by the relevant Depository Partner, and
(iii) have minimum and maximum required balances. HSA cash held by our insurance company partners is held in group annuity contracts or
similar arrangements. Client-held funds held by our Depository Partners are held in interest-bearing, demand deposit accounts that have a
floating interest rate and no set term or duration. We earn custodial revenue on HSA Assets and Client-held funds that is based on the
interest rates offered to us by these Depository Partners and insurance company partners. In addition, once a member’s HSA cash balance
reaches a certain threshold, the member is able to invest his or her HSA Assets in mutual funds through our custodial investment partner
from which we earn a recordkeeping fee, calculated as a percentage of custodial investments.

Interchange revenue.    We earn interchange revenue each time one of our members uses one of our physical payment cards or virtual
platforms to make a purchase. This revenue is collected each time a member “swipes” our payment card to pay expenses. We recognize
interchange revenue monthly based on reports received from third parties, namely, the card-issuing banks and card processors.

Cost of revenue

Cost of revenue includes costs related to servicing accounts, managing Client and Network Partner relationships and processing
reimbursement claims. Expenditures include personnel-related costs, depreciation, amortization, stock-based compensation, common
expense allocations (such as office rent, supplies, and other overhead expenses), new member and participant supplies, and other operating
costs related to servicing our members. Other components of cost of revenue include interest retained by members on HSA cash and
interchange costs incurred in connection with processing card transactions for our members.

Service costs.    Service costs include the servicing costs described above. Additionally, for new accounts, we incur on-boarding costs
associated with the new accounts, such as new member welcome kits, the cost associated with issuance of new payment cards, and costs of
marketing materials that we produce for our Network Partners.

Custodial costs.    Custodial costs are comprised of interest retained by our HSA members, in respect of HSA cash with yield, and fees we
pay to banking consultants whom we use to help secure agreements with our Depository Partners. Interest retained by HSA members is
calculated on a tiered basis. The interest rates retained by HSA members can change based on a formula or upon required notice.

Interchange costs.    Interchange costs are comprised of costs we incur in connection with processing payment transactions initiated by our
members. Due to the substantiation requirement on FSA/HRA-linked payment card
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transactions, payment card costs are higher for FSA/HRA card transactions. In addition to fixed per card fees, we are assessed additional
transaction costs determined by the amount of the transaction.

Gross profit and gross margin

Our gross profit is our total revenue minus our total cost of revenue, and our gross margin is our gross profit expressed as a percentage of
our total revenue. Our gross margin has been and will continue to be affected by a number of factors, including interest rates, the amount we
charge our Network Partners, Clients, and members, the mix of our sources of revenue, how many services we deliver per account, and
payment processing costs per account.

Operating expenses

Sales and marketing.    Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of personnel and related expenses for our sales and marketing staff,
including sales commissions for our direct sales force, external agent/broker commission expenses, marketing expenses, depreciation,
amortization, stock-based compensation, and common expense allocations.

Technology and development.    Technology and development expenses include personnel and related expenses for software development
and delivery, licensed software, information technology, data management, product, and security. Technology and development expenses
also include software engineering services, the costs of operating our technology infrastructure, depreciation, amortization of capitalized
software development costs, stock-based compensation, and common expense allocations.

General and administrative.    General and administrative expenses include personnel and related expenses of, and professional fees
incurred by our executive, finance, legal, internal audit, corporate development, compliance, and people departments. They also include
depreciation, amortization, stock-based compensation, and common expense allocations.

Amortization of acquired intangible assets.    Amortization of acquired intangible assets results primarily from intangible assets acquired in
connection with business combinations. The assets include acquired customer relationships, acquired developed technology, and acquired
trade names and trademarks, which we amortize over the assets' estimated useful lives, estimated to be 7-15 years, 2-5 years, and 3 years,
respectively. We also acquired intangible HSA portfolios from third-party custodians. We amortize these assets over the assets’ estimated
useful life of 15 years. We evaluate our acquired intangible assets for impairment annually, or at a triggering event.

Merger integration.    Merger integration expenses include personnel and related expenses, including severance, professional fees, legal
expenses, and facilities and technology expenses directly related to integration activities to merge operations as a result of acquisitions.

Interest expense

Interest expense primarily consists of accrued interest expense and amortization of deferred financing costs associated with our long-term
debt. Interest on our Term Loan Facility changes frequently due to variable interest rate terms, and as a result, our interest expense is
expected to fluctuate based on changes in prevailing interest rates.

Other income (expense), net

Other income (expense), net, consists of acquisition costs, interest income earned on corporate cash and other miscellaneous income and
expense.

Income tax benefit

We are subject to federal and state income taxes in the United States based on a January 31 fiscal year end. We use the asset and liability
method to account for income taxes, under which current tax liabilities and assets are recognized for the estimated taxes payable or
refundable on the tax returns for the current fiscal year. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences
attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases,
net operating loss carryforwards, and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted statutory tax
rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be realized or settled. Valuation
allowances are established when necessary to reduce net deferred tax assets to the amount expected to be realized. As of January 31,
2023, we have not recorded a valuation allowance on federal deferred tax assets; however, we have recorded a valuation allowance on
certain state deferred tax assets. We maintain an overall net federal and state deferred tax liability on our consolidated balance sheet.
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We evaluate our tax positions in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 740-10-25, Accounting for Uncertainty in
Income Taxes, which prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax
return.

The Inflation Reduction Act, which was enacted on August 16, 2022, includes a number of tax provisions, including an adjusted book
minimum tax and excise tax on stock buybacks. We do not expect these provisions to have a material impact on the Company at this time.

Results of operations
For a discussion related to the results of operations and liquidity and capital resources for fiscal year 2022 compared to fiscal year 2021,
refer to Part II, Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations in our fiscal year 2022 Form
10-K, filed with the SEC on March 31, 2022.

Revenue

The following table sets forth our revenue for the periods indicated:
Year ended January 31,

(in thousands, except percentages) 2023 2022 $ change % change
Service revenue $ 430,196 $ 426,910 $ 3,286 1 %
Custodial revenue 283,112 202,817 80,295 40 %
Interchange revenue 148,440 126,829 21,611 17 %
Total revenue $ 861,748 $ 756,556 $ 105,192 14 %

Service revenue. The $3.3 million, or 1%, increase in service revenue was primarily due to new revenue from the Further Acquisition and our
HSA portfolio acquisitions, new HSAs from sales, and increased revenue from HRA and commuter benefits administration, largely offset by
non-recurring revenue related to COBRA benefits administration during the fiscal year ended January 31, 2022.

Custodial revenue. The $80.3 million, or 40%, increase in custodial revenue was primarily due to the $2.5 billion, or 23%, increase in the
average daily balance of HSA cash, as described above, and an increase in average annualized yield from 1.75% for the fiscal year ended
January 31, 2022 to 1.90% for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2023.

Assuming the current interest rate environment continues, we expect our average annualized yield on HSA cash to increase as our existing
agreements with our Depository Partners are renewed or replaced, resulting in higher custodial revenue. In addition, we expect an increase
in the percentage of HSA cash held in our Enhanced Rates offering to positively impact our average annualized yield and thus our custodial
revenue. Finally, we expect an increase in custodial revenue resulting from the portion of our Client-held funds held by our Depository
Partners in interest-bearing, demand deposit accounts that have a floating interest rate.

Interchange revenue. The $21.6 million, or 17%, increase in interchange revenue was primarily due to increased spend per account and an
increase in accounts.

Total revenue. Total revenue increased by $105.2 million, or 14%, due to the increases in custodial, interchange, and service revenues,
described above.

Impact of COVID-19. Our business has been adversely affected by the COVID-19 pandemic, and we expect that it will continue to be
adversely affected by the societal and economic changes arising out of the pandemic. Although interest rates have increased from their
pandemic lows, a majority of our members' HSA cash is deposited with our Depository Partners pursuant to contracts that have fixed interest
rate terms, typically ranging from three to five years, which reduces the short-term impact of an increase or decline in prevailing interest rates
on our custodial revenue. As a result, the yield we currently receive from our Depository Partners remains significantly below the levels seen
immediately before the pandemic due to the HSA cash that was deposited with them during the pandemic. Our financial results related to
certain of our products have also been adversely affected, such as commuter benefits, due to many of our members working from home
during the outbreak, and the "work from home" trend, or hybrid work environments, may continue indefinitely. We have also seen a negative
impact on the financial results related to our COBRA product, as the Employee Benefits Security Administration provided disaster relief in the
form of an indefinite extension to the required timeline for participants to make COBRA elections, which we believe resulted in fewer COBRA
elections by our members because they have more time to assess the cost of their out-of-pocket expenses against the cost of COBRA
premiums. During the initial stages of the COVID-19 pandemic, and during subsequent increases in COVID-19 cases, we saw a negative
impact on our members' spend on
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healthcare, which negatively impacted both our interchange revenue and service revenue. In the event of further outbreaks, we may be
unable to meet our service level commitments to our Clients as a result of disruptions to our workforce and disruptions to third-party contracts
that we rely on to provide our services. The extent to which the societal and economic changes arising out of the COVID-19 pandemic,
including any longer lasting impacts on the usage of our services, will continue to negatively impact our business remains highly uncertain
and as a result may have a material adverse impact on our business and financial results.

Cost of revenue

The following table sets forth our cost of revenue for the periods indicated:
Year ended January 31,

(in thousands, except percentages) 2023 2022 $ change % change
Service costs $ 317,360 $ 290,302 $ 27,058 9 %
Custodial costs 29,101 21,867 7,234 33 %
Interchange costs 25,196 20,681 4,515 22 %
Total cost of revenue $ 371,657 $ 332,850 $ 38,807 12 %

Service costs. The $27.1 million, or 9%, increase in service costs was primarily due to the inclusion of a full year of Further's results of
operations and an increase in personnel costs to support the increase in average Total Accounts.

Custodial costs. The $7.2 million, or 33%, increase in custodial costs was primarily due to an increase in the average daily balance of HSA
cash, which increased from $10.6 billion for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2022 to $13.0 billion for the fiscal year ended January 31,
2023, and an increase in the average annualized rate of interest retained by HSA members on HSA cash, which increased from 0.17% for
the fiscal year ended January 31, 2022 to 0.19% for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2023.

Interchange costs. The $4.5 million, or 22%, increase in interchange costs was primarily due to increased spend per account and an increase
in accounts.

Total cost of revenue. As we continue to add Total Accounts, we expect that our cost of revenue will increase in dollar amount to support our
Network Partners, Clients, and members. However, on an annual basis, relative to the fiscal year ended January 31, 2023, we expect our
cost of revenue to decrease as a percentage of our total revenue, primarily due to an increase in custodial revenue, partially offset by
increases in stock-based compensation and other personnel costs. Cost of revenue will continue to be affected by a number of different
factors, including our ability to scale our service delivery, Network Partner implementation, account management functions, and the impact of
societal and economic changes arising out of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Operating expenses

The following table sets forth our operating expenses for the periods indicated:
Year ended January 31,

(in thousands, except percentages) 2023 2022 $ change % change
Sales and marketing $ 68,849 $ 58,605 $ 10,244 17 %
Technology and development 193,375 157,364 36,011 23 %
General and administrative 95,628 84,379 11,249 13 %
Amortization of acquired intangible assets 94,586 82,791 11,795 14 %
Merger integration 28,596 64,805 (36,209) (56)%
Total operating expenses $ 481,034 $ 447,944 $ 33,090 7 %

Sales and marketing. The $10.2 million, or 17%, increase in sales and marketing expenses was primarily due to the inclusion of a full year of
Further's results of operations and an increase in marketing expenses from increased staffing and travel costs, partially offset by a decrease
in advertising expenses.

We expect our sales and marketing expenses to increase for the foreseeable future as we focus on our cross-selling program and marketing
campaigns. On an annual basis, we expect our sales and marketing expenses to remain relatively steady as a percentage of our total
revenue. Our sales and marketing expenses may fluctuate as a percentage of our total revenue from period to period due to the seasonality
of our total revenue and the timing and extent of our sales and marketing expenses.
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Technology and development. The $36.0 million, or 23%, increase in technology and development expenses was primarily due to the
inclusion of a full year of Further's results of operations and increases in amortization and personnel-related expenses.

We expect our technology and development expenses to increase for the foreseeable future as we continue to invest in the development and
security of our proprietary technology. On an annual basis, we expect our technology and development expenses to remain relatively steady
as a percentage of our total revenue. Our technology and development expenses may fluctuate as a percentage of our total revenue from
period to period due to the seasonality of our total revenue and the timing and extent of our technology and development expenses.

General and administrative. The $11.2 million, or 13%, increase in general and administrative expenses was primarily due to the inclusion of
a full year of Further's results of operations and increases in personnel-related expenses and stock-based compensation.

We expect our general and administrative expenses to increase for the foreseeable future due to the additional demands on our legal,
compliance, and accounting functions as we continue to grow our business and the increased cost of cybersecurity and directors and officers
insurance. On an annual basis, we expect our general and administrative expenses to remain relatively steady as a percentage of our total
revenue. Our general and administrative expenses may fluctuate as a percentage of our total revenue from period to period due to the
seasonality of our total revenue and the timing and extent of our general and administrative expenses.

Amortization of acquired intangible assets. The $11.8 million, or 14%, increase in amortization of acquired intangible assets was primarily
due to the inclusion of amortization related to identified intangible assets acquired through the Further Acquisition commencing November 1,
2021. The remainder of the increase was primarily due to amortization of acquired HSA portfolios, including the Fifth Third and
HealthSavings HSA portfolios.

Merger integration. The $36.2 million, or 56%, decrease in merger integration expense was primarily due to a decrease in merger integration
activities related to the WageWorks Acquisition. The $28.6 million in merger integration expense for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2023
was primarily due to personnel and related expenses, including expenses incurred in conjunction with the migration of accounts, professional
fees, and technology-related expenses directly related to the Further Acquisition and certain ongoing merger integration expenses related to
the WageWorks Acquisition, including ongoing lease expense related to WageWorks offices that have been permanently closed, less any
related sublease income, professional fees associated with the remediation of remaining material weaknesses in internal control over
financial reporting, and costs associated with remaining platform migrations. We expect merger integration expenses attributable to the
Further Acquisition totaling approximately $55 million to be incurred over a period of approximately three to four years from the acquisition
date.

Interest expense

The $11.9 million increase in interest expense was primarily due to the impact of higher interest rates on our Term Loan Facility, which had
an effective interest rate of 7.14% as of January 31, 2023, up from 2.63% as of January 31, 2022. Our Term Loan Facility had an outstanding
principal balance of $341.3 million and $350.0 million as of January 31, 2023 and January 31, 2022, respectively. On an annual basis, we
expect our interest expense to increase, primarily due to the impact of increased interest rates on our Term Loan Facility. The interest rate on
our Term Loan Facility and Revolving Credit Facility is variable and, accordingly, we may incur additional expense if interest rates continue to
increase in future periods.

Other income (expense), net

The change in other income (expense), net, from expense of $5.9 million during the fiscal year ended January 31, 2022 to income of $1.3
million during the fiscal year ended January 31, 2023, was primarily due to a $10.8 million decrease in acquisition costs, partially offset by a
$3.6 million decrease in other income, net.

Income tax benefit

For the fiscal years ended January 31, 2023 and 2022, we recorded an income tax benefit of $12.0 million and $22.5 million, respectively.
The decrease in income tax benefit was primarily the result of lower current year pre-tax book loss, a corresponding decrease in benefit for
state income taxes, a decrease in research and development tax credits, a decrease in excess tax benefits on stock-based compensation
expense, and an increase in nondeductible executive compensation, partially offset by a release of uncertain tax positions and a smaller
change in valuation allowance.

Our effective income tax benefit rate for the fiscal years ended January 31, 2023 and 2022 was 31.4% and 33.6%, respectively. The
difference between the effective income tax rate and the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate for
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each period is impacted by a number of factors, including the relative mix of earnings among state jurisdictions, credits, excess tax benefits
or shortfalls on stock-based compensation expense, changes in valuation allowance, and other items. The decrease in the effective tax
benefit rate for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2023 compared to the fiscal year ended January 31, 2022 was primarily due to a decrease
in benefit for state income taxes, a decrease in research and development tax credits, a decrease in excess tax benefits on stock-based
compensation expense, and an increase in nondeductible executive compensation relative to pre-tax book loss, partially offset by a release
of uncertain tax positions and a smaller change in valuation allowance.

Seasonality

Seasonal concentration of our growth combined with our recurring revenue model create seasonal variation in our results of operations.
Revenue results are seasonally impacted due to ancillary service fees, timing of HSA contributions, and timing of card spend. Cost of
revenue is seasonally impacted as a significant number of new and existing Network Partners bring us new HSAs and CDBs beginning in
January of each year concurrent with the start of many employers’ benefit plan years. Before we realize any revenue from these new
accounts, we incur costs related to implementing and supporting our new Network Partners and new accounts. These costs of services relate
to activating accounts and hiring additional staff, including seasonal help to support our member support center. These expenses begin to
ramp up during our third fiscal quarter, with the majority of seasonal expenses incurred in our fourth fiscal quarter.

Liquidity and capital resources

Cash and cash equivalents overview

Our principal sources of liquidity are our current cash and cash equivalents balances, collections from our service, custodial, and interchange
revenue activities, and availability under our Revolving Credit Facility. We rely on cash provided by operating activities to meet our short-term
liquidity requirements, which primarily relate to the payment of corporate payroll and other operating costs, principal and interest payments
on our long-term debt, and capital expenditures.

As of January 31, 2023 and January 31, 2022, cash and cash equivalents were $254.3 million and $225.4 million, respectively.

Capital resources

We maintain a “shelf” registration statement on Form S-3 on file with the SEC. A shelf registration statement, which includes a base
prospectus, allows us at any time to offer any combination of securities described in the prospectus in one or more offerings. Unless
otherwise specified in a prospectus supplement accompanying the base prospectus, we would use the net proceeds from the sale of any
securities offered pursuant to the shelf registration statement for general corporate purposes, including, but not limited to, working capital,
sales and marketing activities, general and administrative matters, capital expenditures, and repayment of indebtedness, and if opportunities
arise, for the acquisition of, or investment in, assets, technologies, solutions or businesses that complement our business. Pending such
uses, we may invest the net proceeds in interest-bearing securities. In addition, we may conduct concurrent or other financings at any time.

Our Credit Agreement includes a Revolving Credit Facility, in an aggregate principal amount of up to $1.0 billion, which may be used for
working capital and general corporate purposes, including the financing of acquisitions and other investments. For a description of the terms
of the Credit Agreement, refer to Note 8—Indebtedness. As of January 31, 2023, there were no amounts outstanding under the Revolving
Credit Facility. We were in compliance with all covenants under the Credit Agreement as of January 31, 2023, and for the period then ended.

Use of cash

On March 2, 2022, we completed our acquisition of the HealthSavings HSA portfolio in exchange for a purchase price of $60 million in cash.

Capital expenditures for the fiscal years ended January 31, 2023 and 2022 were $48.5 million and $71.6 million, respectively. We expect to
continue our current level of capital expenditures during the fiscal year ending January 31, 2024 as we continue to invest in improving the
architecture and functionality of our proprietary systems. Capital expenditures to improve the architecture of our proprietary systems include
computer hardware, personnel and related costs for software engineering, and outsourced software engineering services.

We believe our existing cash, cash equivalents, and Revolving Credit Facility will be sufficient to meet our operating and capital expenditure
requirements for at least the next 12 months. To the extent these current and anticipated
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future sources of liquidity are insufficient to fund our future business activities and requirements, we may need to raise additional funds
through public or private equity or debt financing. In the event that additional financing is required, we may not be able to raise it on favorable
terms, if at all.

The following table shows our cash flows from operating activities, investing activities, and financing activities for the stated periods:
Year ended January 31,

(in thousands) 2023 2022
 Net cash provided by operating activities $ 150,650 $ 140,995 
 Net cash used in investing activities (119,127) (639,247)
 Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (2,671) 394,863 
 Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 28,852 (103,389)
Beginning cash and cash equivalents 225,414 328,803 
Ending cash and cash equivalents $ 254,266 $ 225,414 

Cash flows from operating activities. Net cash provided by operating activities increased by $9.7 million, primarily due to increased
collections from customers, partially offset by an increase in cash payments made to our accounts payable, accrued liabilities, and other
current liabilities during the fiscal year ended January 31, 2023.

Cash flows from investing activities. Net cash used in investing activities decreased by $520.1 million, primarily due to a $499.4 million
decrease in cash used in business combinations and HSA portfolio acquisitions, a $17.5 million decrease in cash used for purchases of
software and capitalized software development costs, and a $5.5 million decrease in cash used for purchases of property and equipment.
The decrease was partially offset by a $2.4 million decrease in proceeds from the sale of equity securities associated with a long-term capital
investment.

Cash flows from financing activities. Net cash used in financing activities was $2.7 million during the fiscal year ended January 31, 2023,
compared to net cash provided by financing activities of $394.9 million during the fiscal year ended January 31, 2022. The change resulted
primarily from $456.6 million of net proceeds from our follow-on public offering of 5,750,000 shares of common stock during the fiscal year
ended January 31, 2022, a $3.1 million decrease in proceeds from the exercise of common stock options, and a $0.1 million increase in cash
used in the settlement of client-held funds obligation, net. These changes were partially offset by a $56.3 million decrease in net payments
related to our long-term debt and associated debt issuance costs, as compared to the fiscal year ended January 31, 2022, and a $6.0 million
payment of contingent consideration related to the Luum Acquisition made during the fiscal year ended January 31, 2022.

Contractual obligations
See Note 7—Commitments and contingencies for information about our contractual obligations.

Off-balance sheet arrangements
As of January 31, 2023, other than outstanding letters of credit issued under our Revolving Credit Facility, we did not have any off-balance
sheet arrangements. The standby letters of credit generally expire within one year. However, in the ordinary course of business, we will
continue to renew or modify the terms of the letters of credit to support business requirements. The letters of credit are contingent liabilities,
supported by our Revolving Credit Facility, and are not reflected on our consolidated balance sheets.

Critical accounting policies and significant management estimates
Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with GAAP. The preparation of these consolidated financial statements
requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenses. We base our
estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable in the circumstances. In many
instances, we could have reasonably used different accounting estimates, and in other instances, changes in the accounting estimates are
reasonably likely to occur from period to period. Accordingly, actual results could differ significantly from the estimates made by our
management. To the extent that there are material differences between these estimates and actual results, our future financial statement
presentation, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows will be affected.

In many cases, the accounting treatment of a particular transaction is specifically dictated by GAAP and does not require management’s
judgment in its application, while in other cases, management’s judgment is required in
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selecting among available alternative accounting standards that allow different accounting treatment for similar transactions. We believe that
there are several accounting policies that are critical to understanding our business and prospects for future performance, as these policies
affect the reported amounts of revenue and other significant areas that involve management’s judgment and estimates. These significant
policies and our procedures related to these policies are described in detail below.

Capitalized software development costs

We account for the costs of computer software developed or obtained for internal use in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification,
or ASC, 350-40, Internal-Use Software. Costs incurred during operation and post-implementation stages are charged to expense. Costs
incurred that are directly attributable to developing or obtaining software for internal use incurred in the application development stage are
capitalized. Management’s judgment is required in determining the point when various projects enter the stages at which costs may be
capitalized, in assessing the ongoing value of the capitalized costs and in determining the estimated useful lives over which the costs are
amortized.

Valuation of long-lived assets including goodwill and intangible assets

We allocate the fair value of purchase consideration to the tangible assets acquired, liabilities assumed, and intangible assets acquired
based on their estimated fair values. The excess of the fair value of purchase consideration over the fair values of these identifiable assets
and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. Such valuations require management to make significant estimates and assumptions, especially with
respect to intangible assets. Significant estimates in valuing certain intangible assets include, but are not limited to, discount rates and
revenue growth rates, net of attrition, related to acquired customer relationships. Management's estimates of fair value are based upon
assumptions believed to be reasonable, but which are inherently uncertain and unpredictable and, as a result, actual results may differ from
estimates. Allocation of purchase consideration to identifiable assets and liabilities affects our amortization expense, as acquired finite-lived
intangible assets are amortized over the useful life, whereas any indefinite lived intangible assets, including goodwill, are not amortized.
During the measurement period, which is not to exceed one year from the acquisition date, we may record adjustments to the assets
acquired and liabilities assumed, with the corresponding offset to goodwill. Upon the conclusion of the measurement period, any subsequent
adjustments are recorded to earnings.

We review goodwill for impairment at least annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances would more likely than not
reduce the fair value of our single reporting unit below its carrying value. The Company’s annual goodwill impairment test resulted in no
impairment charges in any of the periods presented in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Long-lived assets, including property and equipment and intangible assets are reviewed for possible impairment whenever events or
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of such assets may not be recoverable. The evaluation is performed at the lowest level for
which identifiable cash flows are largely independent of the cash flows of other assets and liabilities. Recoverability of these assets is
measured by a comparison of the carrying amounts to the future undiscounted cash flows the assets are expected to generate from the use
and eventual disposition. If such review indicates that the carrying amount of property and equipment and intangible assets is not
recoverable, the carrying amount of such assets is reduced to fair value. We have not recorded any significant impairment charges during the
years presented.

Recent accounting pronouncements

See Note 1—Summary of business and significant accounting policies within the financial statements included in this Form 10-K for further
discussion.

Item 7A. Quantitative and qualitative disclosures about market risk
Market risk

Concentration of market risk. We derive a substantial portion of our revenue from providing services to tax-advantaged healthcare account
holders. A significant downturn in this market or changes in state and/or federal laws impacting the preferential tax treatment of healthcare
accounts such as HSAs could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations. During the fiscal years ended January 31, 2023,
2022, and 2021, no one customer accounted for greater than 10% of our total revenue. We monitor market and regulatory changes regularly
and make adjustments to our business if necessary.
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Inflation. Inflationary factors may adversely affect our operating results. Although we do not believe that inflation has had a material impact
on our financial position or results of operations to date, the current high rate of inflation may have an adverse effect on our ability to maintain
current levels of expenses as a percentage of revenue if our revenue does not correspondingly increase with inflation.

Concentration of credit risk

Financial instruments, which potentially subject us to concentrations of credit risk, consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents. We
maintain our cash and cash equivalents in bank and other depository accounts, which frequently may exceed federally insured limits. Our
cash and cash equivalents as of January 31, 2023 and 2022 were $254.3 million and $225.4 million, respectively, the vast majority of which
was not covered by federal depository insurance. We have not experienced any material losses in such accounts. Our accounts receivable
balance as of January 31, 2023 and 2022 was $96.8 million and $87.4 million, respectively. We have not experienced any significant write-
offs to our accounts receivable and believe that we are not exposed to significant credit risk with respect to our accounts receivable. We
continue to monitor our credit risk and place our cash and cash equivalents with reputable financial institutions.

Interest rate risk

HSA Assets and Client-held funds. HSA Assets consist of custodial HSA funds we hold in custody on behalf of our members. As of
January 31, 2023 and 2022, we held in custody HSA Assets of $22.1 billion and $19.6 billion, respectively. As a non-bank custodian, we
contract with our Depository Partners and insurance company partners to hold custodial cash assets on behalf of our members, and we earn
a significant portion of our total revenue from interest paid to us by these partners. Custodial cash assets held by our insurance company
partners are held in group annuity contracts or similar arrangements. The lengths of our agreements with Depository Partners typically range
from three to five years and have either fixed or variable interest rates. As HSA Assets increase and existing contracts with Depository
Partners expire, we seek to enter into new contracts with Depository Partners, the terms of which are impacted by the then-prevailing interest
rate environment. The diversification of HSA Assets held by our Depository Partners and insurance company partners, and varied contract
terms, substantially reduces our exposure to short-term fluctuations in prevailing interest rates and mitigates the short-term impact of a
sustained increase or decline in prevailing interest rates on our custodial revenue. A sustained decline in prevailing interest rates may
negatively affect our business by reducing the size of the interest rate yield, or yield, available to us and thus the amount of the custodial
revenue we can realize. Conversely, a sustained increase in prevailing interest rates can increase our yield. An increase in our yield would
increase our custodial revenue as a percentage of total revenue. In addition, if our yield increases, we expect the spread to also increase
between the interest offered to us by our Depository Partners and insurance company partners and the interest retained by our members,
thus increasing our profitability. However, we may be required to increase the interest retained by our members in a rising prevailing interest
rate environment. Changes in prevailing interest rates are driven by macroeconomic trends and government policies over which we have no
control.

Client-held funds are interest earning deposits from which we generate custodial revenue. As of January 31, 2023 and 2022, we held Client-
held funds of $901 million and $897 million, respectively. These deposits are amounts remitted by Clients and held by us on their behalf to
pre-fund and facilitate administration of our other CDBs. These deposits are held with Depository Partners. We deposit the Client-held funds
with our Depository Partners in interest-bearing, demand deposit accounts that have a floating interest rate and no set term or duration. A
sustained decline in prevailing interest rates may negatively affect our business by reducing the size of the yield available to us and thus the
amount of the custodial revenue we can realize from Client-held funds. Conversely, a sustained increase in prevailing interest rates may
increase our yield. Changes in prevailing interest rates are driven by macroeconomic trends and government policies over which we have no
control.

Cash and cash equivalents. We consider all highly liquid investments purchased with an original maturity of three months or less to be
unrestricted cash equivalents. Our unrestricted cash and cash equivalents are held in institutions in the U.S. and include deposits in a money
market account that is unrestricted as to withdrawal or use. As of January 31, 2023 and 2022, we had unrestricted cash and cash equivalents
of $254.3 million and $225.4 million, respectively. Due to the short-term nature of these instruments, we believe that we do not have any
material exposure to changes in the fair value of our cash and cash equivalents as a result of changes in interest rates.

Long-term debt. As of January 31, 2023 and 2022, we had $341.3 million and $350.0 million, respectively, outstanding under our Term Loan
Facility and no amounts drawn under our Revolving Credit Facility. Our overall interest rate sensitivity under these credit facilities is primarily
influenced by any amounts borrowed and the prevailing interest rates on these instruments. The stated interest rate on our Term Loan
Facility and Revolving Credit Facility is variable and was 6.31% and 1.88% at January 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Accordingly, we
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may incur additional expense if interest rates increase in future periods. For example, a one percent increase in the interest rate on the
amount outstanding under our credit facilities at January 31, 2023 would result in approximately $3.4 million of additional interest expense
over the next 12 months. The interest rate on our $600 million of unsecured Senior Notes due 2029 is fixed at 4.50%.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of HealthEquity, Inc.

Opinions on the Financial Statements and Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of HealthEquity, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of January 31,
2023 and 2022, and the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss), of stockholders’ equity and of cash
flows for each of the three years in the period ended January 31, 2023, including the related notes (collectively referred to as the
“consolidated financial statements”). We also have audited the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of January 31, 2023,
based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (COSO).

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Company as of January 31, 2023 and 2022, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended January 31, 2023 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also in our opinion, the
Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of January 31, 2023, based on criteria
established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the COSO.

Basis for Opinions

The Company's management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over
financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in Management's report on
internal control over financial reporting appearing under Item 9A. Our responsibility is to express opinions on the Company’s consolidated
financial statements and on the Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm
registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect
to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange
Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or
fraud, and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.

Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures
included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits
also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an
understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the
design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other procedures
as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of
records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide
reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
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Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions,
or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that
was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (i) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to
the consolidated financial statements and (ii) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of
critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by
communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to
which it relates.

Service Revenue Recognition

As described in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company's primary sources of revenue are service, custodial, and
interchange revenue. The Company’s service revenue was $430.2 million for the year ended January 31, 2023. To generate service revenue,
the Company administers its platforms, prepares statements, provides a mechanism for spending funds, and provides customer support
services. All of these services are consumed as they are received. The Company recognizes service revenue, in an amount that reflects the
consideration it expects to be entitled to in exchange for those services, on a monthly basis as it satisfies its performance obligations.

The principal consideration for our determination that performing procedures relating to service revenue recognition is a critical audit matter is
a high degree of auditor effort in performing procedures related to revenue recognition, including consideration of the material weaknesses in
internal control over financial reporting that were previously disclosed by management and existed during the year related to this matter.

Addressing the matter involved performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence in connection with forming our overall opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. These procedures included, among others, evaluating the recognition of service revenue for a sample of
revenue transactions by obtaining confirmation from customers or obtaining and inspecting source documents, including invoices, sales
contracts, and cash receipts.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Salt Lake City, Utah
March 30, 2023

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2013.
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HealthEquity, Inc. and subsidiaries
Consolidated balance sheets 
(in thousands, except par value) January 31, 2023 January 31, 2022
Assets
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 254,266 $ 225,414 
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $4,989 and $6,228 as of January 31, 2023 and
2022, respectively 96,835 87,428 
Other current assets 31,792 38,495 

Total current assets 382,893 351,337 
Property and equipment, net 12,862 23,372 
Operating lease right-of-use assets 56,461 63,613 
Intangible assets, net 936,359 973,137 
Goodwill 1,648,145 1,645,836 
Other assets 52,180 49,807 

Total assets $ 3,088,900 $ 3,107,102 
Liabilities and stockholders’ equity
Current liabilities

Accounts payable $ 13,899 $ 27,541 
Accrued compensation 45,835 47,136 
Accrued liabilities 43,668 57,589 
Current portion of long-term debt 17,500 8,750 
Operating lease liabilities 10,159 12,171 

Total current liabilities 131,061 153,187 
Long-term liabilities

Long-term debt, net of issuance costs 907,838 922,077 
Operating lease liabilities, non-current 58,988 65,232 
Other long-term liabilities 12,708 14,185 
Deferred tax liability 82,665 99,846 

Total long-term liabilities 1,062,199 1,101,340 
Total liabilities 1,193,260 1,254,527 

Commitments and contingencies (see Note 7)
Stockholders’ equity

Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value, 100,000 shares authorized, no shares issued and outstanding as of
January 31, 2023 and 2022 — — 
Common stock, $0.0001 par value, 900,000 shares authorized, 84,758 and 83,780 shares issued and
outstanding as of January 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively 8 8 

Additional paid-in capital 1,745,716 1,676,508 
Accumulated earnings 149,916 176,059 

Total stockholders’ equity 1,895,640 1,852,575 
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 3,088,900 $ 3,107,102 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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HealthEquity, Inc. and subsidiaries
Consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss)

Year ended January 31,
(in thousands, except per share data) 2023 2022 2021
Revenue
   Service revenue $ 430,196 $ 426,910 $ 430,966 
   Custodial revenue 283,112 202,817 190,933 
   Interchange revenue 148,440 126,829 111,671 

   Total revenue 861,748 756,556 733,570 
 Cost of revenue
   Service costs 317,360 290,302 280,214 
   Custodial costs 29,101 21,867 19,574 
   Interchange costs 25,196 20,681 18,448 

   Total cost of revenue 371,657 332,850 318,236 
 Gross profit 490,091 423,706 415,334 
 Operating expenses
   Sales and marketing 68,849 58,605 49,964 
   Technology and development 193,375 157,364 124,809 
   General and administrative 95,628 84,379 84,493 
   Amortization of acquired intangible assets 94,586 82,791 76,064 

Merger integration 28,596 64,805 45,990 
   Total operating expenses 481,034 447,944 381,320 

 Income (loss) from operations 9,057 (24,238) 34,014 
 Other expense

Interest expense (48,424) (36,572) (34,881)
   Other income (expense), net 1,271 (5,931) 5,007 

 Total other expense (47,153) (42,503) (29,874)
 Income (loss) before income taxes (38,096) (66,741) 4,140 
 Income tax benefit (11,953) (22,452) (4,694)

Net income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss) $ (26,143) $ (44,289) $ 8,834 
Net income (loss) per share:

 Basic $ (0.31) $ (0.53) $ 0.12 
 Diluted $ (0.31) $ (0.53) $ 0.12 

Weighted-average number of shares used in computing net income (loss) per share:
 Basic 84,442 83,133 74,235 
 Diluted 84,442 83,133 75,679 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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HealthEquity, Inc. and subsidiaries
Consolidated statements of stockholders’ equity 

Common stock Additional
 paid-in
 capital

Accumulated
earnings

Total
 stockholders'
 equity(in thousands) Shares Amount

Balance as of January 31, 2020 71,051 $ 7 $ 818,774 $ 211,514 $ 1,030,295 
Issuance of common stock:

Issuance of common stock upon exercise of options, and for
restricted stock 827 — 9,956 — 9,956 
Other issuance of common stock 5,290 1 286,779 — 286,780 

Stock-based compensation — — 42,863 — 42,863 
Net income — — — 8,834 8,834 
Balance as of January 31, 2021 77,168 $ 8 $ 1,158,372 $ 220,348 $ 1,378,728 
Issuance of common stock:

Issuance of common stock upon exercise of options, and for
restricted stock 862 — 8,746 — 8,746 
Other issuance of common stock 5,750 — 456,640 — 456,640 

Stock-based compensation — — 52,750 — 52,750 
Net loss — — — (44,289) (44,289)
Balance as of January 31, 2022 83,780 $ 8 $ 1,676,508 $ 176,059 $ 1,852,575 
Issuance of common stock:

Issuance of common stock upon exercise of options, and for
restricted stock 978 — 6,594 — 6,594 

Stock-based compensation — — 62,614 — 62,614 
Net loss — — — (26,143) (26,143)
Balance as of January 31, 2023 84,758 $ 8 $ 1,745,716 $ 149,916 $ 1,895,640 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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HealthEquity, Inc. and subsidiaries
Consolidated statements of cash flows 

Year ended January 31,
(in thousands) 2023 2022 2021
 Cash flows from operating activities:
 Net income (loss) $ (26,143) $ (44,289) $ 8,834 
 Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 161,201 137,188 115,904 
Stock-based compensation 62,614 52,750 42,863 
Impairment of right-of-use assets — 11,246 — 
Amortization of debt issuance costs 3,261 4,448 5,102 
Loss on extinguishment of debt — 4,049 — 
Change in fair value of contingent consideration — (2,147) — 
Gains on equity securities — (1,677) — 
Other non-cash items 268 1,232 1,753 
Deferred taxes (17,181) (23,430) (5,132)
 Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable (9,570) (11,204) (413)
Other assets 4,620 7,464 (24,839)
Operating lease right-of-use assets 8,244 15,235 11,150 
Accrued compensation (1,282) (3,657) 771 
Accounts payable, accrued liabilities, and other current liabilities (26,673) (2,178) 30,422 
Operating lease liabilities, non-current (7,232) (9,412) (10,803)
Other long-term liabilities (1,477) 5,377 6,007 

 Net cash provided by operating activities 150,650 140,995 181,619 
 Cash flows from investing activities:

Business combinations, net of cash acquired — (504,533) — 
Purchases of software and capitalized software development costs (45,173) (62,708) (51,500)
Acquisitions of HSA portfolios (70,583) (65,465) (32,371)
Purchases of property and equipment (3,371) (8,908) (13,093)
Proceeds from sale of equity securities — 2,367 — 

 Net cash used in investing activities (119,127) (639,247) (96,964)
 Cash flows from financing activities:

Principal payments on long-term debt (8,750) (1,003,125) (239,063)
Proceeds from long-term debt — 950,000 — 
Payment of debt issuance costs — (11,920) — 
Proceeds from follow-on equity offering, net of payments for offering costs — 456,640 286,779 
Settlement of client-held funds obligation, net (603) (486) (3,862)
Proceeds from exercise of common stock options 6,682 9,754 8,568 
Payment of contingent consideration — (6,000) — 

 Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (2,671) 394,863 52,422 
 Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 28,852 (103,389) 137,077 
 Beginning cash and cash equivalents 225,414 328,803 191,726 
 Ending cash and cash equivalents $ 254,266 $ 225,414 $ 328,803 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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HealthEquity, Inc. and subsidiaries
Consolidated statements of cash flows (continued)

Year ended January 31,
(in thousands) 2023 2022 2021

Supplemental cash flow data:
Interest expense paid in cash $ 43,570 $ 16,107 $ 27,686 
Income tax payments (refunds), net 1,526 (5,632) (6,022)

Supplemental disclosures of non-cash investing and financing activities:
Purchases of software and capitalized software development costs included in accounts
payable, accrued liabilities, or accrued compensation 3,595 4,640 1,930 
Purchases of property and equipment included in accounts payable or accrued liabilities 69 1,414 160 
Acquisitions of HSA portfolios included in accounts payable or accrued liabilities — 1,692 — 
Decrease (increase) in goodwill due to measurement period adjustments, net (2,309) 19 5,438 
Exercise of common stock options receivable 382 470 1,478 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

-56-



Table of Contents

HealthEquity, Inc. and subsidiaries
Notes to consolidated financial statements

Note 1. Summary of business and significant accounting policies
Business

HealthEquity, Inc. ("HealthEquity" or the "Company") was incorporated in the state of Delaware on September 18, 2002. HealthEquity is a
leader in administering health savings accounts (“HSAs”) and complementary consumer-directed benefits (“CDBs”), which empower
consumers to access tax-advantaged healthcare savings while also providing corporate tax advantages for employers.

In February 2006, HealthEquity received designation by the U.S. Department of Treasury to act as a passive non-bank custodian, which
allows HealthEquity to hold custodial assets for individual account holders. On July 24, 2017, HealthEquity received designation by the U.S.
Department of Treasury to act as both a passive and non-passive non-bank custodian, which allows HealthEquity to hold custodial assets for
individual account holders and use discretion to direct investment of such assets held. As a passive and non-passive non-bank custodian
according to Treasury Regulations section 1.408-2(e)(5)(ii)(B), the Company must maintain net worth (assets minus liabilities) greater than
the sum of 2% of passive custodial funds held at each fiscal year-end and 4% of the non-passive custodial funds held at each fiscal year-end
in order to take on additional custodial assets.

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America, or GAAP. The financial statements and notes are representations of the Company's management, which is responsible for their
integrity and objectivity. These accounting policies conform to accounting principles generally accepted in the United States and have been
consistently applied in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements.

Principles of consolidation

The Company consolidates entities in which the Company has a controlling financial interest, which includes all of its wholly owned direct and
indirect subsidiaries. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Segments

The Company operates in one segment, which reflects the way in which its chief operating decision maker, the Chief Executive Officer,
reviews the Company's financial performance and makes decisions about resource allocation. All long-lived assets are maintained in the
United States of America.

Cash and cash equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments purchased with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents. The
Company’s cash and cash equivalents were held in institutions in the U.S. and include deposits in a money market account that was
unrestricted as to withdrawal or use.

Client-held funds

Many of the Company's client services agreements with employers (referred to as "Clients") provide that Clients remit funds to the Company
to pre-fund Client and employee participant contributions related to flexible spending accounts and health reimbursement arrangements
(“FSAs” and “HRAs,” respectively) and commuter accounts. These Client-held funds remitted to the Company do not represent cash assets
of the Company to the extent that they are not combined with corporate cash, and accordingly are not included in cash and cash equivalents
on the Company's consolidated balance sheets.

Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable represent monies due to the Company for monthly service revenue, custodial revenue and interchange revenue. The
Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts to reserve for expected credit losses from trade receivables considering past events,
current conditions, and reasonable and supportable forecasts of future economic conditions. In evaluating the Company’s ability to collect
outstanding receivable balances, the Company considers various factors including macroeconomic variables, the age of the balance, the
creditworthiness of the customer, which is assessed based on ongoing credit evaluations and payment history, and the customer’s current
financial condition.
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Other assets

Other assets consist primarily of contract costs, prepaid expenditures, debt issuance costs, income tax receivables, inventories, and various
other assets. Amounts expected to be recouped or recognized over a period of twelve months or less have been classified as current in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Leases

The Company determines if a contract contains a lease at inception or any modification of the contract. A contract contains a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a specified period in exchange for consideration. Control over the use of
the identified asset means the lessee has both (a) the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from the use of the asset and
(b) the right to direct the use of the asset.

Leases with an expected term of 12 months or less at commencement are not accounted for on the balance sheet. All operating lease
expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the expected lease term. Certain leases also include obligations to pay for non-lease
services, such as utilities and common area maintenance. The services are accounted for separately from lease components, and the
Company allocates payments to the lease and other services components based on estimated stand-alone prices.

Operating lease right-of-use ("ROU") assets and liabilities are recognized based on the present value of future minimum lease payments
over the expected lease term at commencement date. As the rate implicit in each lease is not readily determinable, management uses the
Company’s incremental borrowing rate based on the information available at commencement date in determining the present value of future
payments.

Property and equipment

Property and equipment, including leasehold improvements, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is determined
using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of individual assets. The useful life for leasehold improvements is the shorter of
the estimated useful life or the term of the lease ranging from 3-5 years. The useful life used for computing depreciation for all other asset
classes is described below:
Computer equipment 3-5 years
Furniture and fixtures 5 years

Maintenance and repairs are expensed when incurred, and improvements that extend the economic useful life of an asset are capitalized.
Gains and losses on the disposal of property and equipment are reflected in operating expenses.

Intangible assets, net

Intangible assets are carried at cost and amortized, typically, on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The useful life used for
computing amortization for all intangible asset classes is described below:
Software and software development costs 3 years
Acquired customer relationships 7-15 years
Acquired developed technology 2-5 years
Acquired trade names and trademarks 3 years
Acquired HSA portfolios 15 years

The Company accounts for the costs of computer software developed or obtained for internal use in accordance with Accounting Standards
Codification (“ASC”) 350-40, Internal-Use Software. Costs incurred during operation and post-implementation stages are charged to
expense. Costs incurred during the application development stage that are directly attributable to developing or obtaining software for internal
use are capitalized. Management’s judgment is required in determining the point when various projects enter the stages at which costs may
be capitalized, in assessing the ongoing value of the capitalized costs and in determining the estimated useful lives over which the costs are
amortized.

Acquired customer relationships, developed technology, and trade names and trademarks are valued utilizing the discounted cash flow
method, a form of the income approach. The useful lives of acquired customer relationships were estimated based on discount rates and
revenue growth rates, net of attrition. The useful lives of developed technology and trade names were estimated based on expected
obsolescence. The Company expenses the assets straight-line over the useful lives and determined that this amortization method is
appropriate to reflect the pattern over which the economic benefits of these acquired assets are realized.
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Acquired HSA portfolios consist of the contractual rights to administer the activities related to the individual HSAs acquired. The
Company used its HSA customer relationship period assumption and the historical attrition rates of member accounts to determine that an
average useful life of 15 years and the use of a straight-line amortization method are appropriate to reflect the pattern over which the
economic benefits of existing member assets are realized.

The Company reviews identifiable amortizable intangible assets to be held and used for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value of the assets may not be recoverable. Determination of recoverability is based on the lowest
level of identifiable estimated undiscounted cash flows resulting from use of the asset and its eventual disposition. Measurement of any
impairment loss is based on the excess of the carrying value of the asset over its fair value.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the net tangible and intangible assets acquired in a business
combination. Goodwill is not amortized but is tested for impairment annually on January 31 or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the asset may be impaired. The Company’s impairment tests are based on a single operating segment and
reporting unit structure. The goodwill impairment test involves a qualitative assessment to compare a reporting unit's fair value to its carrying
value. If it is determined that it is more likely than not that a reporting unit's fair value is less than its carrying value, a quantitative comparison
is made between the Company's market capitalization and the carrying value of the reporting unit, including goodwill. If the carrying value of
the reporting unit exceeds its fair value, an impairment charge is recognized for the excess of the carrying value of goodwill over its implied
fair value.

Self-insurance

The Company is self-insured for medical insurance up to certain annual stop-loss limits. The Company establishes a liability as of the
balance sheet date for claims, both reported and incurred but not reported, using currently available information as well as historical claims
experience, and as determined by an independent third party.

Other long-term liabilities

Other long-term liabilities consists of long-term deferred revenue and other liabilities that the Company does not expect to settle within one
year.

Revenue recognition

The Company recognizes revenue when control of the promised goods or services is transferred to its customers, in an amount that reflects
the consideration it expects to be entitled to in exchange for those goods or services.

The Company determines revenue recognition through the following steps:

• identification of the contract, or contracts, with a customer;
• identification of the performance obligations in the contract;
• determination of the transaction price;
• allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and
• recognition of revenue when, or as, the Company satisfies a performance obligation.

Disaggregation of revenue. The Company's primary sources of revenue are service, custodial, and interchange revenue and are disclosed
in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss). All of the Company's sources of revenue are deemed to be
revenue contracts with customers. Each revenue source is affected differently by economic factors as it relates to the nature, amount, timing
and uncertainty.

Costs to obtain a contract. ASC 606, Revenue from contracts with customers, requires capitalizing the costs of obtaining a contract when
those costs are expected to be recovered.

In order to determine the amortization period for sales commissions contract costs, the Company applied the portfolio approach. Accordingly,
the amortization period of the assets has been determined to be the average economic life of an HSA or other CDB relationship, which is
estimated to be 15 years and 7 years, respectively. Amortization of capitalized sales commission contract costs is included in sales and
marketing expenses in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss). The Company has applied the practical
expedient which allows an entity to account for incremental costs of obtaining a contract at a portfolio level. The Company has also applied
the practical expedient to recognize incremental costs of obtaining contracts as an expense when incurred if the amortization period would
have been one year or less.
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Performance obligations. ASC 606 requires disclosure of the aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to unsatisfied
performance obligations; however, as permitted by ASC 606, the Company has elected to exclude from this disclosure any contracts with an
original duration of one year or less and any variable consideration that meets specified criteria.

Service revenue. The Company administers its platforms, prepares statements, provides a mechanism for spending funds, and
provides customer support services. All of these services are consumed as they are received. The Company recognizes service
revenue, in an amount that reflects the consideration it expects to be entitled to in exchange for those services, on a monthly basis as it
satisfies its performance obligations.

Custodial revenue. The Company earns custodial revenue primarily from HSA assets deposited with depository partners or placed in
group annuity contracts or similar arrangements with insurance company partners, recordkeeping fees earned in respect of mutual
funds in which HSA members invest, and Client-held funds deposited with depository partners. In addition, once a member’s HSA cash
balance reaches a certain threshold, the member is able to invest his or her HSA assets in mutual funds through a custodial
investment partner, from which the Company earns a recordkeeping fee, calculated as a percentage of custodial investments. The
deposit of funds represents a service that is simultaneously received and consumed by the depository partners, insurance company
partners, and investment partner. The Company recognizes custodial revenue each month, in an amount that reflects the consideration
it expects to be entitled to in exchange for the service.

Interchange revenue. The Company satisfies its interchange performance obligation each time payments are made with its cards via
payment networks. The Company recognizes interchange revenue, in an amount that reflects the consideration it expects to be entitled
to in exchange for the service, in the month the payment transaction occurs.

Contract balances. The Company does not recognize revenue until its right to consideration is unconditional and therefore has no related
contract assets. The Company records a receivable when revenue is recognized prior to payment and the Company has unconditional right
to payment. Alternatively, when payment precedes the related services, the Company records a contract liability, or deferred revenue, until its
performance obligations are satisfied.

Significant judgments. The Company makes no significant judgments in determining the amount or timing of revenue recognition. The
Company has estimated the average economic life of an HSA or CDB member relationship, which has been determined to be the
amortization period for the capitalized sales commissions contract costs.

Cost of revenue

The Company incurs cost of revenue related to servicing member accounts, managing customer and partner relationships, and processing
reimbursement claims. Expenditures include personnel-related costs, depreciation, amortization, stock-based compensation, common
expense allocations, new member and participant supplies, and other operating costs of the member account servicing departments. Other
components of the Company’s cost of revenue include interest retained by members on custodial assets held and interchange costs incurred
in connection with processing card transactions initiated by members.

Stock-based compensation

The Company grants stock-based awards, which consist of stock options and restricted stock units ("RSUs"), to certain team members,
executive officers, and directors. Historically, the Company also granted restricted stock awards ("RSAs"). The Company recognizes
compensation expense for stock-based awards based on the grant date estimated fair value. Expense for stock-based awards is generally
recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period and is reversed as pre-vesting forfeitures occur. The fair value of stock
options is determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The determination of fair value for stock options on the date of grant
using an option pricing model requires management to make certain assumptions regarding a number of complex and subjective variables.
The fair value of RSUs is based on the current value of the Company's closing stock price on the date of grant less the present value of
future expected dividends discounted at the risk-free interest rate.

For stock-based awards with performance conditions, the Company evaluates the probability of achieving the performance criteria and of the
number of shares that are expected to vest, and compensation expense is then adjusted to reflect the number of shares expected to vest
and the requisite service period. For awards with performance conditions, compensation expense is recognized using the graded-vesting
attribution method in accordance with the provisions of ASC 718, Compensation—Stock Compensation ("Topic 718"). Compensation
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expense related to stock-based awards with market conditions is recorded on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period
regardless of whether the market condition is satisfied.

Upon the exercise of a stock option or release of an RSU, common shares are issued from authorized, but not outstanding, common stock.

Interest expense

Interest expense primarily consists of accrued interest expense and amortization of deferred financing costs associated with long-term debt.

Income tax benefit

The Company accounts for income taxes and the related accounts under the asset and liability method as set forth in ASC 740, Income
Taxes. Under this method, current tax liabilities and assets are recognized for the estimated taxes payable or refundable on the tax returns
for the current fiscal year. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences
between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases, for net operating losses,
and for tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted statutory tax rates expected to apply to
taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be realized or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets
and liabilities of changes in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date. A valuation allowance is
provided for when it is more likely than not that some or all of the deferred tax assets may not be realized in future years.

The Company recognizes the tax benefit from an uncertain tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return using a two-step
approach. The first step is to evaluate the tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return by determining if the weight of available
evidence indicates that it is more likely than not that the tax position will be sustained upon examination by the relevant taxing authorities,
based on the technical merits of the position. For tax positions that are more likely than not to be sustained upon audit, the second step is to
measure the tax benefit in the financial statements as the largest benefit that has a greater than 50% likelihood of being sustained upon
settlement. The Company recognizes interest and penalties, if any, related to unrecognized tax benefits as a component of other income
(expense), net in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss). Changes in facts and circumstances could
have a material impact on the Company’s effective tax rate and results of operations.

Asset acquisitions

The Company routinely acquires rights to be the custodian of HSA portfolios, in which substantially all of the fair value of the gross portfolio
assets acquired is concentrated in a group of similar HSA assets and therefore the acquisitions do not constitute a business. Accordingly, the
acquisitions are accounted for under the asset acquisition method of accounting in accordance with ASC 805-50, Business Combinations—
Related Issues. Under the asset acquisition method of accounting, the Company is required to fair value the assets transferred. The cost of
the assets acquired, including transaction costs incurred in conjunction with an asset acquisition, is allocated to the individual assets acquired
based on their relative fair values and does not give rise to goodwill.

Business combinations

Consideration paid for the acquisition of a business as defined by ASC 805-10 is allocated to the tangible and intangible assets acquired and
liabilities assumed based on their fair values as of the acquisition date.

Acquisition-related expenses incurred in conjunction with the acquisition of a business are recognized in earnings in the period in which they
are incurred and are included in other income (expense), net on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income
(loss).

Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Management has made estimates for the allowance for doubtful
accounts, capitalized software development costs, evaluating goodwill and long-lived assets for impairment, useful lives of property and
equipment and intangible assets, accrued compensation, accrued liabilities, grant date fair value of stock options and performance restricted
stock units and restricted stock awards, and income taxes. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
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Recently adopted accounting pronouncements

None.

Recently issued accounting pronouncements not yet adopted
None.

Note 2. Net income (loss) per share
The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net income (loss) per share: 

Year ended January 31,
(in thousands, except per share data) 2023 2022 2021
Numerator (basic and diluted):

Net income (loss) $ (26,143) $ (44,289) $ 8,834 
Denominator (basic):

Weighted-average common shares outstanding 84,442 83,133 74,235 
Denominator (diluted):

Weighted-average common shares outstanding 84,442 83,133 74,235 
Weighted-average dilutive effect of stock options and restricted stock units — — 1,444 
Diluted weighted-average common shares outstanding 84,442 83,133 75,679 

Net income (loss) per share:
Basic $ (0.31) $ (0.53) $ 0.12 
Diluted $ (0.31) $ (0.53) $ 0.12 

For the fiscal years ended January 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, 2.5 million, 1.8 million, and 0.6 million shares, respectively, attributable to
outstanding stock options and restricted stock units were excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings (loss) per share as their inclusion
would have been anti-dilutive.

Note 3. Business combinations
Luum acquisition

On March 8, 2021, the Company acquired 100% of the outstanding capital stock of Fort Effect Corp, d/b/a Luum (the "Luum Acquisition").
The aggregate purchase price for the acquisition consisted of $56.2 million in cash, which reflects a $2.1 million reduction in the fair value of
contingent consideration during the fiscal year ended January 31, 2022.

The Luum Acquisition was accounted for under the acquisition method of accounting for business combinations. The consideration paid was
allocated to the tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their fair values as of the acquisition date. The initial
allocation of the consideration paid was based on a preliminary valuation and was subject to adjustment during the measurement period (up
to one year from the acquisition date). The purchase price allocation was finalized during the three months ended April 30, 2022.

The following table summarizes the Company's allocation of the consideration paid:
(in thousands) Estimated fair value Adjustments Updated Allocation
Cash and cash equivalents $ 626 $ — $ 626 
Other current assets 1,469 — 1,469 
Intangible assets 23,900 — 23,900 
Goodwill 36,374 (19) 36,355 
Other assets 100 — 100 
Current liabilities (597) — (597)
Deferred tax liability (3,566) 19 (3,547)

Total consideration paid $ 58,306 $ — $ 58,306 

The adjustments to the initial allocation were based on more detailed information obtained about the specific assets acquired, liabilities
assumed, and tax-related matters.
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Further acquisition

On November 1, 2021, the Company completed its acquisition of the Further business (other than Further's voluntary employee beneficiary
association business) for $455 million (the "Further Acquisition").

The Further Acquisition was accounted for under the acquisition method of accounting for business combinations. The consideration paid
was allocated to the tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their fair values as of the acquisition date. The
initial allocation of the consideration paid was based on a preliminary valuation and was subject to adjustment during the measurement
period (up to one year from the acquisition date). The purchase price allocation was finalized during the three months ended January 31,
2023.

The following table summarizes the Company's allocation of the consideration paid:
(in thousands) Estimated fair value Adjustments Updated Allocation
Current assets $ 2,667 $ (163) $ 2,504 
Intangible assets 172,183 — 172,183 
Goodwill 282,287 2,309 284,596 
Current liabilities (2,137) (2,146) (4,283)

Total consideration paid $ 455,000 $ — $ 455,000 

The adjustments to the initial allocation were based on more detailed information obtained about the specific assets acquired, liabilities
assumed, and tax-related matters.

Note 4. Supplemental financial statement information
Selected consolidated balance sheet and consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income (loss) components consist of the
following:

Allowance for doubtful accounts

As of January 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company had an allowance for doubtful accounts of $5.0 million and $6.2 million, respectively. During
the fiscal years ended January 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, the Company recorded credit losses from trade receivables of $2.1 million, $3.3
million, and $3.4 million, respectively.

Prepaid expenses

As of January 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company had prepaid expenses of $20.1 million and $20.6 million, respectively, which are included
within other current assets on the Company's consolidated balance sheets.

Costs to obtain a contract

As of January 31, 2023 and 2022, the net amount capitalized as contract costs was $44.0 million and $39.3 million, respectively, which is
included in other current assets and other assets. Amortization of capitalized contract costs during the fiscal years ended January 31, 2023,
2022, and 2021 was $4.4 million, $4.3 million, and $2.4 million, respectively.

Property and equipment

Property and equipment consisted of the following as of January 31, 2023 and 2022:
(in thousands) January 31, 2023 January 31, 2022
Leasehold improvements $ 18,269 $ 18,573 
Furniture and fixtures 8,392 8,417 
Computer equipment 28,021 31,982 

Property and equipment, gross 54,682 58,972 
Accumulated depreciation (41,820) (35,600)

Property and equipment, net $ 12,862 $ 23,372 

Depreciation expense for the fiscal years ended January 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 was $12.3 million, $14.7 million and $16.0 million,
respectively.
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Contract balances

As of January 31, 2023 and 2022, the balance of deferred revenue was $8.3 million and $10.5 million, respectively. The balances are related
to cash received in advance for interchange and custodial revenue arrangements, other up-front fees and other commuter deferred revenue.
The Company expects to recognize approximately 58% of its balance of deferred revenue as revenue over the next 12 months and the
remainder thereafter. Amounts expected to be recognized as revenue within a period of twelve months or less are classified as accrued
liabilities in the Company's consolidated balance sheets, with the remainder included within other long-term liabilities. Revenue recognized
during the fiscal year that was included in the beginning balance of deferred revenue was $4.9 million. The Company expects to satisfy its
remaining obligations for these arrangements.

Other income (expense), net

Other income (expense), net, consisted of the following:
Year ended January 31,

(in thousands) 2023 2022 2021
Interest income $ 1,763 $ 1,501 $ 1,045 
Gain on equity securities — 1,692 — 
Acquisition costs (53) (10,832) (1,118)
Other income (expense) (439) 1,708 5,080 

Total other income (expense), net $ 1,271 $ (5,931) $ 5,007 

Interest expense

Based on the application of ASC 470-50, Debt - Modifications and Extinguishments, the Company recorded a $4.0 million loss on
extinguishment of debt during the fiscal year ended January 31, 2022, which is included within interest expense in the consolidated
statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss) for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2022.

Note 5. Leases
The Company has entered into various non-cancelable operating lease agreements for office space, data storage facilities, and other leases
with remaining lease terms of less than 1 year to approximately 8 years, often with one or more Company options to renew. These renewal
terms can extend the lease term from 2 to 10 years and are included in the lease term when it is reasonably certain that the Company will
exercise the option.

The components of operating lease costs were as follows:
Year ended January 31,

(in thousands) 2023 2022 2021
Operating lease expense $ 11,371 $ 14,762 $ 16,073 
Sublease income (2,187) (1,836) (1,799)
Net operating lease cost $ 9,184 $ 12,926 $ 14,274 

Weighted average lease term and discount rate were as follows:
January 31, 2023 January 31, 2022

Weighted average remaining lease term 7.53 years 8.32 years
Weighted average discount rate 4.31 % 4.29 %

Lease liabilities were as follows:
(in thousands) January 31, 2023 January 31, 2022
Gross lease liabilities $ 81,313 $ 92,529 
Less: imputed interest (12,166) (15,126)

Present value of lease liabilities 69,147 77,403 
Less: current portion of lease liabilities (10,159) (12,171)

Lease liabilities, non-current $ 58,988 $ 65,232 
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As of January 31, 2023, the Company had additional operating leases for office space that had not yet commenced with aggregate
undiscounted lease payments of $3.2 million. The operating leases will commence during fiscal years 2024 and 2025 and have lease terms
of approximately 7 to 8 years.

Supplemental cash flow information related to the Company's operating leases was as follows:
Year ended January 31,

(in thousands) 2023 2022
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:

Operating cash flows from operating leases $ 12,533 $ 14,742 
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for lease obligations $ 1,092 $ 586 

During the fiscal year ended January 31, 2022, the Company recorded impairment losses on right-of-use assets of $11.2 million, which are
included within merger integration expense in the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income (loss). The impairment
losses related primarily to a right-of-use asset acquired through the acquisition of the Company's wholly owned subsidiary WageWorks, Inc.
("WageWorks"), which had a carrying value of $14.8 million prior to impairment and no corresponding lease liability. During the fiscal year
ended January 31, 2022, the right-of-use asset met the criteria to be classified as held-for-sale and an impairment loss of $10.9 million was
recognized. The remaining carrying value of $3.9 million was included within other current assets on the Company's consolidated balance
sheet as of January 31, 2022. On March 24, 2022, the Company completed the sale of the asset for $3.9 million.

Note 6. Intangible assets and goodwill
Intangible assets

The gross carrying amount and associated accumulated amortization of intangible assets were as follows:
January 31, 2023

(in thousands) Gross carrying amount
Accumulated
amortization Net carrying amount

Amortizable intangible assets:
Software and software development costs $ 233,194 $ (152,178) $ 81,016 
Acquired HSA portfolios 261,188 (63,547) 197,641 
Acquired customer relationships 759,782 (153,434) 606,348 
Acquired developed technology 132,825 (81,692) 51,133 
Acquired trade names 12,900 (12,679) 221 

Total amortizable intangible assets $ 1,399,889 $ (463,530) $ 936,359 

January 31, 2022

(in thousands) Gross carrying amount
Accumulated
amortization Net carrying amount

Amortizable intangible assets:
Software and software development costs $ 192,050 $ (99,952) $ 92,098 
Acquired HSA portfolios 192,298 (46,603) 145,695 
Acquired customer relationships 759,781 (101,741) 658,040 
Acquired developed technology 132,825 (58,334) 74,491 
Acquired trade names 12,900 (10,087) 2,813 

Total amortizable intangible assets $ 1,289,854 $ (316,717) $ 973,137 

During the fiscal years ended January 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company capitalized $68.9 million and $67.2 million, respectively, to acquire
the rights to act as a custodian of HSA portfolios.
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Amortization expense for the fiscal years ended January 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021 was $148.9 million, $122.5 million and $99.9 million,
respectively. Estimated amortization expense for the fiscal years ending January 31 is as follows:
Year ending January 31, (in thousands)
2024 $ 139,225 
2025 112,377 
2026 83,960 
2027 72,045 
2028 67,324 
Thereafter 461,428 

Total $ 936,359 

Goodwill

The Company’s annual goodwill impairment test resulted in no impairment charges in any of the periods presented in the accompanying
consolidated financial statements. During the fiscal year ended January 31, 2023, goodwill increased by $2.3 million due to measurement
period adjustments associated with the Further Acquisition. During the fiscal year ended January 31, 2022, goodwill increased by $318.6
million due to the acquisitions of Luum and Further and associated measurement period adjustments. There were no other changes to the
goodwill carrying value during the fiscal years ended January 31, 2023 and 2022.

Note 7. Commitments and contingencies
Commitments

The following table summarizes the payments due by fiscal year for the Company's outstanding contractual obligations as of January 31,
2023:

Payments due by fiscal year
(in thousands) 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 Thereafter Total

4.50% Senior Notes due 2029 (1) $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $ 600,000 $ 600,000 
Term Loan Facility (1) 17,500 17,500 26,250 280,000 — — 341,250 
Interest on long-term debt obligations (2) 48,320 47,256 45,819 38,411 27,000 45,000 251,806 
Operating lease obligations (3) 10,443 10,877 11,094 11,344 11,600 29,058 84,416 
Other contractual obligations (4) 25,798 16,690 12,584 5,505 6,501 — 67,078 

Total $ 102,061 $ 92,323 $ 95,747 $ 335,260 $ 45,101 $ 674,058 $ 1,344,550 

(1) As of January 31, 2023, the outstanding combined principal of $941.3 million is presented net of debt issuance costs on the consolidated balance sheets. The debt issuance
costs are not included in the table above.

(2) Estimated interest payments assume the stated interest rates applicable to the Notes and Term Loan Facility as of January 31, 2023, which were 4.50% and 6.31% per
annum, respectively.

(3) The Company leases office space and data storage facilities, and has other non-cancelable operating leases expiring at various dates through 2030. These amounts
exclude contractual sublease income of $0.9 million, which is expected to be received through May 2027.

(4) Other contractual obligations consist of processing services agreements, software subscriptions, telephony services, and other contractual commitments.

Contingencies

In the normal course of business, the Company enters into contracts and agreements that contain a variety of representations and warranties
and provide for general indemnifications. The Company’s exposure under these agreements is unknown because it involves claims that may
be made against the Company in the future but have not yet been made. The Company accrues a liability for such matters when it is
probable that future expenditures will be made and such expenditures can be reasonably estimated.

Legal matters

In April 2021, WageWorks exercised its right to terminate a lease for office space in Mesa, Arizona that had not yet commenced, with
aggregate lease payments of $63.1 million and a term of approximately 11 years, following the landlord's failure to fulfill its obligations under
the lease agreement. Because the lease had not yet commenced, the Company had not recognized a right-of-use asset, operating lease
liability, or any rent expense associated with the
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lease. WageWorks' right to terminate the lease agreement was disputed by the landlord, Union Mesa 1, LLC (“Union Mesa”). On November
5, 2021, Union Mesa notified WageWorks that it was in default of the lease for failure to pay rent, which Union Mesa claimed was due
beginning in November 2021, and on November 24, 2021 drew $2.8 million, the full amount under the letter of credit that WageWorks had
posted to secure its obligations under the lease. The Company recorded the $2.8 million draw as merger integration expense in the
consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income (loss). On December 1, 2021, WageWorks filed a lawsuit against Union
Mesa in the Superior Court of the State of Arizona in and for the County of Maricopa. On January 4, 2022, WageWorks filed an amended
complaint in the Superior Court. Pursuant to the lawsuit, WageWorks seeks declaratory judgment that the lease was properly terminated and
recourse against Union Mesa for breach of contract, breach of the duty of good faith and fair dealing, and conversion, including return of the
funds drawn under the letter of credit. On January 31, 2022, Union Mesa filed a motion to dismiss for the conversion cause of action, which
the Superior Court denied on April 13, 2022. On May 18, 2022, Union Mesa filed an answer and counterclaim with the Superior Court,
wherein Union Mesa denied WageWorks' claims, and separately seeks recourse against WageWorks for breach of contract and breach of
the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing. On May 19, 2022, Union Mesa filed an amended complaint and counterclaim seeking the
same recourse. On June 29, 2022, Union Mesa filed a second amended answer and counterclaim, which names the Company as a counter-
defendant. On July 21, 2022, WageWorks and the Company filed an answer to the counterclaims. The parties are currently engaged in
discovery.

The Company and its subsidiaries are involved in various other litigation, governmental proceedings and claims, not described above, that
arise in the normal course of business. It is not possible to determine the ultimate outcome or the duration of such litigation, governmental
proceedings or claims, or the impact that such litigation, proceedings and claims will have on the Company’s financial position, results of
operations, and cash flows.

As required under GAAP, the Company records a provision for contingent losses when it is both probable that a liability has been incurred
and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. Based on currently available information, the Company does not believe that any
liabilities relating to these matters are probable or that the amount of any resulting loss is estimable. However, litigation is subject to inherent
uncertainties and the Company’s view of these matters may change in the future. Were an unfavorable outcome to occur, there exists the
possibility of a material adverse impact on the Company’s financial position, results of operations and cash flows for the period in which the
unfavorable outcome occurs, and potentially in future periods.

Note 8. Indebtedness
Long-term debt consisted of the following:
(in thousands) January 31, 2023 January 31, 2022

4.50% Senior Notes due 2029 $ 600,000 $ 600,000 
Term Loan Facility 341,250 350,000 

Principal amount 941,250 950,000 
Less: unamortized discount and issuance costs (1) 15,912 19,173 

Total debt, net 925,338 930,827 
Less: current portion of long-term debt 17,500 8,750 

Long-term debt, net $ 907,838 $ 922,077 

(1) In addition to the $15.9 million and $19.2 million of unamortized discount and issuance costs related to long-term debt as of January 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively,
$3.4 million and $4.4 million of unamortized issuance costs related to the Revolving Credit Facility (as defined below) are included within other assets on the consolidated
balance sheets as of January 31, 2023 and January 31, 2022, respectively.

4.50% Senior Notes due 2029

On October 8, 2021, the Company completed its offering of $600.0 million aggregate principal amount of its 4.50% Senior Notes due 2029
(the “Notes”). The Notes were issued under an indenture (the “Indenture”), dated October 8, 2021, among the Company, the guarantors party
thereto, and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as trustee.

The Notes are guaranteed by each of the Company’s existing, wholly owned domestic subsidiaries that guarantees its obligations under the
Credit Agreement (as defined below) and are required to be guaranteed by any of the Company’s future subsidiaries that guarantee its
obligations under the Credit Agreement or certain of its other indebtedness. The Notes will mature on October 1, 2029. Interest on the Notes
is payable on April 1 and October 1 of each year. As of January 31, 2023, the balance of accrued interest on the Notes was $9.0 million,
which is
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included within accrued liabilities on the Company's consolidated balance sheets. The effective interest rate on the Notes is 4.72%.

The Notes are unsecured senior obligations of the Company and rank equally in right of payment to all of its existing and future senior
unsecured debt and senior in right of payment to all of its future subordinated debt.

The Notes are redeemable at the Company’s option, in whole or in part, at any time on or after October 1, 2024, at a redemption price if
redeemed during the 12 months beginning (i) October 1, 2024 of 102.250%, (ii) October 1, 2025 of 101.125%, and (iii) October 1, 2026 and
thereafter of 100.000%, in each case of the principal amount of the Notes being redeemed, and together with accrued and unpaid interest, if
any, to, but excluding, the date of redemption. The Company may also redeem some or all of the Notes before October 1, 2024 at a
redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Notes, plus the applicable “make-whole” premium as of, and accrued and
unpaid interest, if any, to, but excluding, the date of redemption. In addition, at any time prior to October 1, 2024, the Company may redeem
up to 40% of the aggregate principal amount of the Notes issued under the Indenture on one or more occasions in an aggregate amount
equal to the net cash proceeds of one or more equity offerings at a redemption price equal to 104.500% of the principal amount of the Notes
redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but excluding, the date of redemption. Furthermore, the Company may be required to
make an offer to purchase the Notes upon the sale of certain assets or upon specific kinds of changes of control.

The Indenture contains covenants that impose significant operational and financial restrictions on the Company; however, these covenants
generally align with the covenants contained in the Credit Agreement. See "Credit Agreement" below for a description of these covenants.

Credit Agreement

On October 8, 2021, the Company entered into a credit agreement (the “Credit Agreement”) among the Company, as borrower, each lender
from time to time party thereto (the “Lenders”), JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent and the Swing Line Lender (as defined
in the Credit Agreement), and each L/C Issuer (as defined therein) party thereto, pursuant to which the Company established:

(i)       a five-year senior secured term loan A facility (the “Term Loan Facility”), in an aggregate principal amount of $350.0 million; and

(ii)     a five-year senior secured revolving credit facility (the “Revolving Credit Facility” and, together with the Term Loan Facility, the
“Credit Facilities”), in an aggregate principal amount of up to $1.0 billion (with a $25 million sub-limit for the issuance of letters of
credit), the proceeds of which may be used for working capital and general corporate purposes of the Company and its
subsidiaries, including the financing of acquisitions and other investments.

Subject to the terms and conditions set forth in the Credit Agreement (including obtaining additional commitments from one or more new or
existing lenders), the Company may in the future incur additional loans or commitments under the Credit Agreement in an aggregate principal
amount of up to $300 million, plus an additional amount so long as the Company’s pro forma First Lien Net Leverage Ratio (as defined in the
Credit Agreement) would not exceed 3.85 to 1.00 as of the date such loans or commitments are incurred.

Borrowings under the Credit Facilities bear interest at an annual rate equal to, at the option of the Company, either (i) LIBOR (adjusted for
reserves) plus a margin ranging from 1.25% to 2.25% or (ii) an alternate base rate plus a margin ranging from 0.25% to 1.25%, with the
applicable margin determined by reference to a leverage-based pricing grid set forth in the Credit Agreement. As of January 31, 2023, the
stated interest rate was 6.31% and the effective interest rate was 7.14%. The Company is also required to pay certain fees to the Lenders,
including, among others, a quarterly commitment fee on the average unused amount of the Revolving Credit Facility at a rate ranging from
0.20% to 0.40%, with the applicable rate also determined by reference to a leverage-based pricing grid set forth in the Credit Agreement. As
of January 31, 2023, no amounts have been drawn under the Revolving Credit Facility.

The loans made under the Term Loan Facility amortize in equal quarterly installments in an aggregate annual amount equal to the following
percentage of the original principal amount of the Term Loan Facility: (i) 2.5% for the first year after October 8, 2021; (ii) 5.0% for each of the
second and third years after October 8, 2021; (iii) 7.5% for the fourth year after October 8, 2021; and (iv) 10.0% for the fifth year after
October 8, 2021. In addition, the Term Loan Facility is required to be mandatorily prepaid with 100% of the net cash proceeds of all asset
sales, insurance and condemnation recoveries, subject to customary exceptions and thresholds, including to the extent such proceeds are
reinvested in assets useful in the business of the Company and its subsidiaries within 450 days following receipt (or committed to be
reinvested within such 450-day period and reinvested within 180 days after the end of such 450-day period). The loans under the Credit
Facilities may be prepaid, and the commitments
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thereunder may be reduced, by the Company without penalty or premium, subject to the reimbursement of customary “breakage costs.”

The Credit Agreement contains significant, customary affirmative and negative covenants, including covenants that limit, among other things,
the ability of the Company and its subsidiaries to incur additional indebtedness, create liens, merge or dissolve, make investments, dispose
of assets, engage in sale and leaseback transactions, make distributions and dividends and prepayments of junior indebtedness, engage in
transactions with affiliates, enter into restrictive agreements, amend documentation governing junior indebtedness, modify its fiscal year and
modify its organizational documents, in each case, subject to customary exceptions, thresholds, qualifications and “baskets.” In addition, the
Credit Agreement contains financial performance covenants, which require the Company to maintain (i) a maximum total net leverage ratio,
measured as of the last day of each fiscal quarter, of no greater than 5.00 to 1.00 and (ii) a minimum consolidated interest coverage ratio,
measured as of the last day of each fiscal quarter, of no less than 3.00 to 1.00. The Company was in compliance with all covenants under the
Credit Agreement as of January 31, 2023, and for the period then ended.

The repayment obligation under the Credit Agreement may be accelerated upon the occurrence of an event of default thereunder, including,
among other things, failure to pay principal, interest or fees on a timely basis, material inaccuracy of any representation or warranty, failure to
comply with covenants, cross-default to other material debt, material judgments, change of control and certain insolvency or bankruptcy-
related events, in each case, subject to any certain grace and/or cure periods.

The obligations of the Company under the Credit Agreement are required to be unconditionally guaranteed by each of the Company’s
existing or subsequently acquired or organized domestic subsidiaries and are secured by security interests in substantially all assets of the
Company and the guarantors, in each case, subject to certain customary exceptions.

Note 9. Income taxes
The income tax benefit consisted of the following:

Year ended January 31,
(in thousands) 2023 2022 2021
Current:

Federal $ 3,260 $ 628 $ 181 
State 1,968 239 258 

Total current tax provision $ 5,228 $ 867 $ 439 
Deferred:

Federal $ (14,382) $ (21,197) $ (1,630)
State (2,799) (2,122) (3,503)

Total deferred tax benefit $ (17,181) $ (23,319) $ (5,133)
Total income tax benefit $ (11,953) $ (22,452) $ (4,694)
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Total income tax benefit differed from the amounts computed by applying the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate to income before income
taxes as a result of the following:

Year ended January 31,
(in thousands) 2023 2022 2021
Federal income tax provision (benefit) at the statutory rate $ (8,000) $ (14,016) $ 869 
State income tax benefit, net of federal tax provision (benefit) (1,021) (3,733) (99)
Other non-deductible or non-taxable items, net 225 (165) 469 
Excessive employee remuneration 3,246 1,214 1,186 
Excess tax benefits on stock-based compensation expense, net (2,479) (5,098) (2,983)
Federal research and development credits (1,341) (4,218) (2,195)
Change in uncertain tax position reserves, net of indirect benefits (2,970) 836 511 
Reclassification of operating lease right-of-use assets — — 185 
Change in net operating losses due to measurement period adjustments — — 377 
Deferred tax rate adjustment due to merger integration — 725 (1,814)
Return-to-provision adjustments (38) (810) (1,010)
Change in valuation allowance 733 3,457 (145)
Other items, net (308) (644) (45)

Total income tax benefit $ (11,953) $ (22,452) $ (4,694)

The Company’s effective income tax benefit rate for the fiscal years ended January 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021 was 31.4%, 33.6%, and
113.4%, respectively. The difference between the effective income tax rate and the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate each period is
impacted by a number of factors, including the relative mix of earnings among state jurisdictions, credits, excess tax benefits or shortfalls on
stock-based compensation expense, changes in valuation allowance, and other items. The decrease in the effective tax benefit rate for the
fiscal year ended January 31, 2023 compared to the fiscal year ended January 31, 2022 was primarily due to a decrease in benefit for state
income taxes, a decrease in research and development tax credits, a decrease in excess tax benefits on stock-based compensation
expense, and an increase in nondeductible executive compensation relative to pre-tax book loss, partially offset by a release of uncertain tax
positions and a smaller change in valuation allowance. The decrease in the effective tax rate for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2022
compared to the fiscal year ended January 31, 2021 was primarily due to the impact of tax benefit items, such as stock-based compensation
expense, credits, and changes to the valuation allowance, relative to the larger pre-tax book loss and smaller pre-tax book income,
respectively.
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities consisted of the following:
(in thousands) January 31, 2023 January 31, 2022
Deferred tax assets:

Net operating loss carryforward $ 2,646 $ 5,542 
Stock compensation 16,217 14,778 
Research and development credits 7,147 13,351 
Lease liabilities 17,337 19,356 
Capitalized research and development 16,419 — 
Accruals and reserves 4,439 7,729 
Other, net 5,643 3,728 

Total gross deferred tax assets $ 69,848 $ 64,484 
Less valuation allowance (4,294) (3,561)

Deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowance 65,554 60,923 
Deferred tax liabilities:

Fixed assets (1,509) (1,862)
Intangible assets (99,471) (119,048)
Incremental contract costs (11,118) (9,585)
Right-of-use assets (14,132) (16,923)
Goodwill (20,271) (11,481)
Other, net (1,718) (1,870)

Total gross deferred tax liabilities (148,219) (160,769)
Net deferred tax liability $ (82,665) $ (99,846)

The impact of Internal Revenue Code Section 174 changes requiring capitalization of software development costs pursuant to the Tax Cuts
and Jobs Act of 2017 resulted in higher current income tax payable and significant utilization of net operating loss and research and
development tax credit deferred tax assets for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2023.

Management considered whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets would be realized. The ultimate
realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income during the periods in which those temporary
differences become deductible. Management considered the scheduled reversal of deferred tax liabilities in making this assessment and
determined that based on the weight of all available evidence, it is more likely than not (i.e., a likelihood of more than 50%) that the Company
will be able to realize all of its federal deferred tax assets and the majority if its state deferred tax assets. The Company recorded a valuation
allowance of $4.3 million and $3.6 million as of January 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, related to certain state deferred tax assets. The
$0.7 million increase in valuation allowance recorded is primarily the result of state research and development tax credits that are not
expected to be utilized before expiration.

As of January 31, 2023, the Company had recorded state net operating loss carryforwards of $43.1 million, which begin to expire at various
intervals following the tax year ending January 31, 2031. As of January 31, 2023, the Company also had federal and state research and
development credits of $2.4 million and $10.8 million, respectively, which begin to expire following the tax years ending January 31, 2032 and
2024, respectively.

As of January 31, 2023 and 2022, the gross unrecognized tax benefit was $8.7 million and $11.7 million, respectively. If recognized, $5.4
million and $10.8 million of the total unrecognized tax benefits would affect the Company's effective tax rate as of January 31, 2023 and
2022, respectively. Total gross unrecognized tax benefits decreased by $3.0 million in the period from January 31, 2022 to January 31, 2023.
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A tabular reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of gross unrecognized tax benefits, including the impact of purchase accounting
from the Luum Acquisition, is as follows:
(in thousands) January 31, 2023 January 31, 2022
Gross unrecognized tax benefits at beginning of year $ 11,653 $ 10,206 
Gross amounts of increases and decreases:

Purchase accounting adjustments — 240 
Increases as a result of tax positions taken during a prior period — 38 
Decreases as a result of tax positions taken during a prior period (183) — 
Increases as a result of tax positions taken during the current period 639 1,169 
Decreases resulting from the lapse of the applicable statute of limitations (3,419) — 

Gross unrecognized tax benefits at end of year $ 8,690 $ 11,653 

Certain unrecognized tax benefits are required to be netted against their related deferred tax assets as a result of Accounting Standards
Update 2013-11, Presentation of an Unrecognized Tax Benefit When a Net Operating Loss Carryforward, a Similar Tax Loss, or a Tax Credit
Carryforward Exists. The resulting unrecognized tax benefit recorded within the Company's consolidated balance sheet excludes the
following amounts that have been netted against the related deferred tax assets accordingly:
(in thousands) January 31, 2023 January 31, 2022
Total gross unrecognized tax benefits $ 8,690 $ 11,653 
Amounts netted against related deferred tax assets (4,337) (7,097)
Unrecognized tax benefits recorded on the consolidated balance sheet $ 4,353 $ 4,556 

The Company’s policy is to recognize interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits as a component of other income (expense),
net in the statement of operations and comprehensive income (loss). During the fiscal years ended January 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, the
Company recorded penalties and interest of $0.4 million, $0.7 million, and $0.2 million, respectively, related to unrecognized tax benefits. As
of January 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company recorded accrued interest and penalties of $1.3 million and $1.5 million, respectively.

The Company files income tax returns with U.S. federal and state taxing jurisdictions and is currently under examination by the IRS and the
state of Texas. These examinations may lead to ordinary course adjustments or proposed adjustments to the Company's taxes, net operating
losses, and/or tax credit carryforwards. As a result of the Company's net operating loss carryforwards and tax credit carryforwards, the
Company remains subject to examination by one or more jurisdictions for tax years after 2003.

Note 10. Stock-based compensation
The following table shows a summary of stock-based compensation in the Company's consolidated statements of operations and
comprehensive income (loss) during the fiscal years presented:

Year ended January 31,
(in thousands) 2023 2022 2021
Cost of revenue $ 14,426 $ 11,258 $ 7,996 
Sales and marketing 9,821 7,001 6,986 
Technology and development 13,828 13,132 10,772 
General and administrative 24,539 21,359 17,109 
Other expense, net — 342 — 

Total stock-based compensation expense $ 62,614 $ 53,092 $ 42,863 
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The following table shows stock-based compensation by award type: 
Year ended January 31,

(in thousands) 2023 2022 2021
Stock options $ 882 $ 1,816 $ 4,499 
Restricted stock units 46,590 37,693 28,040 
Performance restricted stock units 15,120 12,948 6,270 
Restricted stock awards 22 155 1,335 
Performance restricted stock awards — 138 2,719 

Total non-cash stock-based compensation expense 62,614 52,750 42,863 
Acquisition awards exchanged for cash — 342 — 

Total stock-based compensation expense $ 62,614 $ 53,092 $ 42,863 

Stock award plans

Incentive Plan. The Company grants stock options and restricted stock units ("RSUs") under the HealthEquity, Inc. 2014 Equity Incentive
Plan (as amended and restated, the "Incentive Plan"), which provided for the issuance of stock awards to the directors and team members of
the Company to purchase up to an aggregate of 2.6 million shares of common stock. Historically, the Company also granted restricted stock
awards ("RSAs") under the Incentive Plan.

In addition, under the Incentive Plan, the number of shares of common stock reserved for issuance under the Incentive Plan automatically
increases on February 1 of each year, beginning as of February 1, 2015 and continuing through and including February 1, 2024, by 3% of the
total number of shares of the Company’s capital stock outstanding on January 31 of the preceding fiscal year, or a lesser number of shares
determined by the board of directors. As of January 31, 2023, 9.6 million shares were available for grant under the Incentive Plan.

Stock options

Under the terms of the Incentive Plan, the Company has the ability to grant incentive and nonqualified stock options. Incentive stock options
may be granted only to Company team members. Nonqualified stock options may be granted to Company executive officers, other team
members, directors and consultants. Such options are to be exercisable at prices, as determined by the board of directors, which must be
equal to no less than the fair value of the Company's common stock at the date of the grant. Stock options granted under the Incentive Plan
generally expire 10 years from the date of issuance or are forfeited 90 days after termination of employment. Shares of common stock
underlying stock options that are forfeited or that expire are returned to the Incentive Plan.

Valuation assumptions. The Company has adopted the provisions of Topic 718, which requires the measurement and recognition of
compensation for all stock-based awards made to team members and directors, based on estimated fair values.

Under Topic 718, the Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model as the method of valuation for stock options. The determination
of the fair value of stock-based awards on the date of grant is affected by the fair value of the stock as well as assumptions regarding a
number of complex and subjective variables. The variables include, but are not limited to, (1) the expected life of the option, (2) the expected
volatility of the fair value of the Company's common stock over the term of the award estimated by averaging the Company's historical
volatility in addition to published volatilities of a relative peer group, (3) risk-free interest rate, and (4) expected dividends.

No options were granted during the fiscal years ended January 31, 2023 and 2022. The weighted-average fair value of options granted
during the fiscal year ended January 31, 2021 was $23.68 per share. The key input assumptions utilized in the valuation of the stock options
were as follows:
  Year ended January 31,
  2023 2022 2021
Expected dividend yield n/a n/a 0%
Expected stock price volatility n/a n/a 37.97%
Risk-free interest rate n/a n/a 1.39%
Expected life of options n/a n/a 5.18 years

Expected volatility was determined using a weighted average volatility of publicly traded peer companies and the Company's own historical
volatility. The risk-free interest rate was determined by using published zero coupon rates
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on treasury notes for each grant date given the expected term on the options. The dividend yield of zero was based on the fact that the
Company had no current plans to pay dividends on its common stock.

A summary of stock option activity is as follows:
Outstanding stock options

(in thousands, except for exercise prices and term)
Number of

options

Range of
exercise

 prices

Weighted-
average

 exercise
 price

Weighted-
average

 contractual
 term
 (in years)

Aggregate
intrinsic

 value
Outstanding as of January 31, 2022 1,232 $1.25 - 82.39 $ 35.64 4.2 $ 25,719 

Exercised (203) $1.25 - 59.63 $ 32.56 
Forfeited (8) $25.45 - 73.61 $ 60.84 

Outstanding as of January 31, 2023 1,021 $14.00 - 82.39 $ 36.06 3.2 $ 27,293 
Vested and expected to vest as of January 31, 2023 1,021 $ 36.06 3.2 $ 27,293 
Exercisable as of January 31, 2023 1,001 $ 35.29 3.1 $ 27,293 

The aggregate intrinsic value in the table above represents the difference between the estimated fair value of common stock and the
exercise price of outstanding, in-the-money stock options. The total intrinsic value of options exercised during the fiscal years ended
January 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 was $7.2 million, $19.3 million, and $15.4 million, respectively.

As of January 31, 2023, the weighted-average vesting period of non-vested options expected to vest was approximately 0.2 years, and the
amount of compensation expense the Company expects to recognize for stock options vesting in future periods was $0.1 million.

Restricted stock units

The Company grants RSUs to certain team members, officers, and directors under the Incentive Plan, which vest upon service-based criteria
and performance-based criteria. The weighted-average fair value of RSUs granted during the fiscal years ended January 31, 2023, 2022 and
2021 was $75.64, $64.87 and $56.93 per share, respectively.

Service-based restricted stock units. Generally, service-based RSUs granted prior to March 2022 vest over a four-year period in equal
annual installments commencing upon the first anniversary of the grant date. Service-based RSUs granted in March 2022 or later generally
vest 25% on the first anniversary of the vesting commencement date, which is generally the first day of the fiscal quarter of the grant date,
with the remaining portion vesting ratably over the following 12 calendar quarters. Service-based RSUs are valued based on the current
value of the Company's closing stock price on the date of grant less the present value of future expected dividends discounted at the risk-free
interest rate.

Performance restricted stock units. During the fiscal year ended January 31, 2021, the Company awarded 277,950 performance restricted
stock units ("PRSUs") subject to a market condition based on the Company’s total shareholder return relative to the Russell 2000 index as
measured on January 31, 2023. The Company used a Monte Carlo simulation to determine that the grant date fair value of the awards was
$20.8 million. Compensation expense is recorded if the service condition is met regardless of whether the market condition is satisfied. The
market condition allows for a range of vesting from 0% to 200% based on the level of performance achieved. The PRSUs cliff vest upon
approval by the Talent, Compensation and Culture Committee of the board of directors.

During the fiscal year ended January 31, 2022, the Company awarded 249,750 PRSUs subject to a market condition based on the
Company’s total shareholder return relative to the Russell 2000 index as measured on January 31, 2024. The Company used a Monte Carlo
simulation to determine that the grant date fair value of the awards was $22.4 million. Compensation expense is recorded if the service
condition is met regardless of whether the market condition is satisfied. The market condition allows for a range of vesting from 0% to 200%
based on the level of performance achieved. The PRSUs cliff vest upon approval by the Talent, Compensation and Culture Committee of the
board of directors.

During the fiscal year ended January 31, 2023, the Company awarded 281,784 PRSUs subject to a market condition based on the
Company’s total shareholder return relative to the Russell 2000 index as measured on January 31, 2025. The Company used a Monte Carlo
simulation to determine that the grant date fair value of the awards was $32.1 million. Compensation expense is recorded if the service
condition is met regardless of whether the market condition is satisfied. The market condition allows for a range of vesting from 0% to 200%
based on the
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level of performance achieved. The PRSUs cliff vest upon approval by the Talent, Compensation and Culture Committee of the board of
directors.

A summary of RSU activity is as follows:
Outstanding RSUs

(in thousands, except weighted-average grant date fair value) Shares
Weighted-average grant

date fair value
Outstanding as of January 31, 2022 2,740 $ 63.15 

Granted 1,693 75.64 
Vested (761) 59.15 
Forfeited (661) 66.71 

Outstanding as of January 31, 2023 3,011 $ 70.40 

During the fiscal years ended January 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 the aggregate intrinsic value of RSUs and RSAs vested was $50.7 million,
$40.9 million, and $31.8 million, respectively.

As of January 31, 2023, total unrecorded stock-based compensation expense associated with RSUs was $146.0 million, which was expected
to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.4 years. As of January 31, 2023, there was no unrecorded stock-based compensation
expense associated with RSAs, and there were no RSAs outstanding.

Note 11. Fair value
Fair value measurements are made at a specific point in time, based on relevant market information. Fair value is defined as the price that
would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Accounting standards specify a hierarchy of valuation techniques
based on whether the inputs to those valuation techniques are observable or unobservable. Observable inputs reflect data obtained from
independent sources, while unobservable inputs reflect the Company’s market assumptions. These two types of inputs have created the
following fair value hierarchy:

• Level 1—quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
• Level 2—inputs, other than the quoted prices in active markets, that are observable either directly or indirectly; and
• Level 3—unobservable inputs based on the Company’s own assumptions.

Cash and cash equivalents are considered Level 1 instruments and are valued based on publicly available daily net asset values. The
carrying values of cash and cash equivalents approximate fair values due to the short-term nature of these instruments.

The Notes are valued based upon quoted market prices and are considered Level 2 instruments because the markets in which the Notes
trade are not considered active markets. As of January 31, 2023, the fair value of the Notes was $536.9 million.

The Term Loan Facility is considered a Level 2 instrument and recorded at book value in the Company's consolidated financial statements.
The Term Loan Facility reprices frequently due to variable interest rate terms and entails no significant changes in credit risk. As a result, the
fair value of the Term Loan Facility approximates carrying value.

Note 12. Employee benefits
The Company has established a 401(k) plan that qualifies as a deferred compensation arrangement under Section 401 of the IRS Code. All
non-seasonal team members over the age of 18 are eligible to participate in the plan. The plan provides for Company matching of employee
contributions up to 3.5% of eligible earnings. Employer matching contribution expense was $8.0 million, $7.1 million and $6.5 million for the
fiscal years ended January 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

The Company is self-insured for medical and dental benefits for all qualifying employees. The medical plan carries a stop-loss policy which
will protect from individual claims during the plan year exceeding $400,000. The Company records estimates of costs of claims incurred
based on an analysis of historical data and independent estimates.
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The Company's liability for self-insured medical claims is included in accrued compensation in its consolidated balance sheet and was $5.1
million and $3.9 million as of January 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.
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Item 9. Changes in and disagreements with accountants on accounting and financial disclosure
None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures

Management, with the participation of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”), has evaluated the
effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures as of January 31, 2023, the end of the period covered by this Annual
Report on Form 10-K. The term “disclosure controls and procedures,” as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act,
means controls and other procedures of a company that are designed to provide reasonable assurance that the information required to be
disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported,
within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and
procedures designed to provide reasonable assurance that the information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or
submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the company’s management, including its principal executive and
principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
Management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable
assurance of achieving their objectives and management necessarily applies its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of
possible controls and procedures.

Based on such evaluation, our CEO and our CFO have concluded that as of January 31, 2023, the Company's disclosure controls and
procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level.

Management's report on internal control over financial reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as defined in Rules 13a-15(f)
and 15d-15(f) of the Exchange Act. The Company’s internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Management assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of January 31, 2023 based on criteria
set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control - Integrated Framework
(2013) (“COSO Framework”).

Based on that assessment, management has concluded that, as of January 31, 2023, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting
was effective.

The Company’s independent registered public accounting firm, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, has audited the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of January 31, 2023. Its report appears in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form
10-K.

Remediation of Previously Reported Material Weakness

As previously reported, the WageWorks subsidiary had material weaknesses related to process level and monitoring controls in the areas of
the contract-to-cash process and information technology general controls (ITGCs).

During the fiscal year ended January 31, 2023, the Company completed the following remedial actions designed to address the previously
identified material weakness in the contract-to-cash process:

• incorporated certain WageWorks processes into the Company’s process-level controls, including implementing complex and/or non-
standard billing arrangements;

• executed its plan to consolidate service platforms related to the contract-to-cash cycle, which reduced a significant number of manual
business process controls;

• completed its redesign of existing controls, where applicable, and implemented additional controls to further strengthen the control
environment;
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• formalized the assessment of the relevancy of information and data used in key controls, including the design or augmentation of
controls to incorporate the review of the accuracy and completeness of such items; and

• monitored the operating effectiveness of the existing entity-level controls.
During the fiscal year ended January 31, 2023, the Company completed the following remedial actions designed to address the previously
identified material weakness in ITGCs:

• executed its plan to consolidate service platforms related to the contract-to-cash cycle, which reduced the number of ITGCs in the
areas of logical access and change management;

• completed its redesign of existing controls, where applicable, and implemented additional controls to further strengthen the control
environment;

• implemented enhancements to monitor design and operating effectiveness of controls related to logical access and change
management for relevant applications and systems;

• implemented recurring training of control owners on the appropriate evidence and documentation for IT dependencies and logical
access controls; and

• monitored the operating effectiveness of the process-level and redesigned controls.

Management evaluated the design and operating effectiveness of the process level controls associated with the remediation activities above.
Management has concluded that, as of January 31, 2023, such controls are operating effectively and the previously reported material
weaknesses in the contract-to-cash process and ITGCs have been remediated.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting identified in connection with the evaluation required by
Rules 13a-15(d) and 15d-15(d) of the Exchange Act that occurred during the quarter ended January 31, 2023 that has materially affected, or
is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other information
None.

Item 9C. Disclosure regarding foreign jurisdictions that prevent inspections
Not applicable.
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PART III.

Item 10. Directors, executive officers and corporate governance
The information required by this Item 10 of Form 10-K is found in our 2023 Proxy Statement to be filed with the SEC in connection with the
solicitation of proxies for the Company's 2023 Annual Meeting of Stockholders is incorporated by reference to our 2023 Proxy Statement will
be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year to which this report relates.

Code of business conduct and ethics

Our board of directors has adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to all of our team members, officers and directors,
including our Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, and other executive and senior financial officers. The full text of our Code of
Business Conduct and Ethics is posted on our website at www.healthequity.com in the Corporate Governance section of our Investor
Relations webpage. We intend to post any amendments to our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, and any waivers of our Code of
Business Conduct and Ethics for directors and executive officers, on the same website.

Item 11. Executive compensation
The information required by this Item 11 of Form 10-K is incorporated by reference in our 2023 Proxy Statement.

Item 12. Security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management and related stockholder matters
The information required by this Item 12 of Form 10-K is incorporated by reference in our 2023 Proxy Statement.

Item 13. Certain relationships and related transactions, and director independence
The information required by this Item 13 of Form 10-K is incorporated by reference in our 2023 Proxy Statement.

Item 14. Principal accounting fees and services
The information required by this Item 14 of Form 10-K is incorporated by reference in our 2023 Proxy Statement.
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Part IV.

Item 15. Exhibits, financial statement schedules

(a) Documents filed as part of this report

(1) All financial statements
Index to consolidated financial statements Page
Consolidated balance sheets as of January 31, 2023 and 2022 52
Consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss) for the years ended January 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 53
Consolidated statements of stockholders' equity for the years ended January 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 54
Consolidated statements of cash flows for the years ended January 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 55
Notes to consolidated financial statements 57

(2) Financial statement schedules

All financial statement schedules have been omitted, since the required information is not applicable or is not present in amounts sufficient to
require submission of the schedule, or because the information required is included in the consolidated financial statements and notes
thereto included in this Form 10-K.
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(3) Exhibits required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K

Exhibit Index
Incorporated by reference

Exhibit
 no. Description Form File No. Exhibit Filing Date

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company 8-K 001-36568 3.2 July 6, 2018
3.2 Amended and Restated By-laws of the Company 8-K 001-36568 3.1 February 10, 2023
4.1 Description of Securities of the Company 10-K 001-36568 4.1 March 31, 2020
4.2 Form of Common Stock Certificate. S-1/A 333-196645 4.1 July 16, 2014
4.3 Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement, dated August

11, 2011, by and among the Company and certain of its stockholders.
S-1 333-196645 4.2 June 10, 2014

4.4 Indenture, dated as of October 8, 2021, by and among the Company, the
guarantors party thereto and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as
trustee, including the form of 4.500% Senior Notes due 2029

8-K 001-36568 4.1 October 12, 2021

10.1 Form of Indemnification Agreement by and between the Company and
its directors and officers.

S-1/A 333-196645 10.1 July 16, 2014

10.2† HealthEquity, Inc. 2014 Equity Incentive Plan and Form of Award
Agreement.

S-1 333-196645 10.2 June 10, 2014

10.3† HealthEquity, Inc. 2014 Amended and Restated Equity Incentive Plan
and Form of Award Agreement.

S-1/A 333-196645 10.3 July 16, 2014

10.4† Amendment No. 1 to the HealthEquity 2014 Equity Incentive Plan, as
amended and restated

8-K 001-36568 10.3 August 30, 2019

10.5† Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement 10-Q 001-36568 10.4 December 6, 2018
10.6† Restricted Stock Award Agreement 10-K 001-36568 10.30 March 28, 2019
10.7† HealthEquity, Inc. and WageWorks, Inc. 2010 Equity Incentive Plan

(Amended and Restated in August 2019)
8-K 001-36568 10.2 August 30, 2019

10.8† Forms of Stock Option Agreements under the HealthEquity, Inc. and
WageWorks, Inc. Amended and Restated 2010 Equity Incentive Plan

S-1 333-173709 10.3 July 19, 2011

10.9† HealthEquity, Inc. Section 409A Specified Employee Policy. S-1 333-196645 10.23 June 10, 2014
10.10† Employment Agreement, dated June 10, 2014, by and between the

Company and Jon Kessler.
S-1 333-196645 10.24 June 10, 2014

10.11† Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement between the Company
and Jon Kessler, dated April 1, 2017

10-Q 001-36568 10.2 June 4, 2020

10.12† Employment Agreement, dated June 10, 2014, by and between the
Company and Stephen D. Neeleman, M.D.

S-1 333-196645 10.25 June 10, 2014

10.13† Employment Agreement, dated June 25, 2020, by and between the
Company and Tyson Murdock

8-K 001-36568 10.1 April 1, 2021

10.14† Employment Agreement, dated May 15, 2018, by and between the
Company and Edward R. Bloomberg

10-Q 001-36568 10.1 September 6, 2018

10.15† Employment Agreement, dated November 9, 2018, by and between the
Company and Larry Trittschuh

10-K 001-36568 10.17 March 31, 2022

10.16† Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement, dated December 4, 2018,
by and between the Company and Larry Trittschuh

10-K 001-36568 10.18 March 31, 2022
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Incorporated by reference
Exhibit
no. Description Form File No. Exhibit Filing Date
10.17†+ Amendment No. 2 to Employment Agreement, dated December 31,

2022, by and between the Company and Larry Trittschuh
10.18†+ Employment Agreement, dated January 19, 2022, by and between the

Company and Elimelech Rosner
10.19 Lease Agreement, dated May 15, 2015, by and between the Registrant

and BG Scenic Point Office 2, L.C.
10-Q 001-36568 10.1 June 11, 2015

10.20 Amended and Restated Lease Agreement, dated May 15, 2015, by and
between the Registrant and BG Scenic Point Office 1, L.C.

10-Q 001-36568 10.2 June 11, 2015

10.21 First Amendment to Lease Agreement, dated November 3, 2015, by and
between the Company and the Landlord.
 

10-Q 001-36568 10.1 December 8, 2016

10.22 First Amendment to Amended and Restated Lease Agreement, dated
June 1, 2016, by and between the Company and the Landlord.
 

10-Q 001-36568 10.1 June 8, 2017

10.23 Second Amendment to Lease Agreement, dated September 16, 2016,
by and between the Company and the Landlord.
 

10-Q 001-36568 10.2 December 8, 2016

10.24 Second Amendment to Amended and Restated Lease Agreement, dated
May 31, 2017, by and between the Company and the Landlord.
 

10-Q 001-36568 10.2 June 8, 2017

10.25 Third Amendment to Lease Agreement, dated September 26, 2018, by
and between the Company and the Landlord

10-K 001-36568 10.31 March 28, 2019

10.26 Lease Agreement, dated September 27, 2018, by and between the
Company and the Landlord

10-Q 001-36568 10.1 December 6, 2018

10.27 Third Amendment to Amended and Restated Lease Agreement, dated
September 27, 2018, by and between the Company and the Landlord

10-Q 001-36568 10.2 December 6, 2018

10.28 Fourth Amendment to Lease Agreement, dated September 27, 2018, by
and between the Company and the Landlord

10-Q 001-36568 10.3 December 6, 2018

10.29 Credit Agreement, dated as of October 8, 2021, by and among the
Company, as borrower, each lender from time to time party thereto,
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent and the Swing
Line Lender (as defined therein), and each L/C Issuer (as defined
therein) party thereto.

8-K 001-36568 10.1 October 12, 2021

10.30+ Non-Employee Director Compensation Policy
21.1 List of Subsidiaries 10-K 001-36568 21.1 March 31, 2022
23.1+ Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Independent Registered

Public Accounting Firm.
24.1+ Power of Attorney (included in the signature page to this Annual Report).
31.1+ Certification of the Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Exchange Act

Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2+ Certification of the Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Exchange Act
Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
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Incorporated by reference
Exhibit
no. Description Form File No. Exhibit Filing Date
32.1*# Certification of the Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C.

Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002

32.2*# Certification of the Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002

101.INS†† XBRL Instance document
101.SCH†† XBRL Taxonomy schema linkbase document
101.CAL†† XBRL Taxonomy calculation linkbase document
101.DEF†† XBRL Taxonomy definition linkbase document
101.LAB†† XBRL Taxonomy labels linkbase document
101.PRE†† XBRL Taxonomy presentation linkbase document
104 The cover page from the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for

the fiscal year ended January 31, 2023, formatted in Inline XBRL.

+ Filed herewith
* Furnished herewith
# These certifications are not deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and are not to be incorporated by reference in any filing the registrant makes

under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, irrespective of any general incorporation language in any filings.
† Indicates management contract or compensatory plan.

††
 

In accordance with Rule 406T of Regulation S-T, the information in these exhibits is furnished and deemed not filed or part of a registration statement or prospectus for
purposes of sections 11 or 12 of the Securities Act of 1933, is deemed not filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act of 1934, and otherwise is not subject to
liability under these sections.

** Schedules and exhibits have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. HealthEquity hereby undertakes to furnish supplementally copies of any of the
omitted schedules upon request by the SEC.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

None.
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Signatures
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this Annual
Report on Form 10-K to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized in the City of Draper, State of Utah on this 30th
day of March, 2023.

HEALTHEQUITY, INC.
Date: March 30, 2023 By: /s/ Jon Kessler

Name: Jon Kessler
Title: President and Chief Executive Officer
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Power of attorney

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENT, that each person whose signature appears below hereby constitutes and appoints Jon
Kessler and Tyson Murdock, and each of them acting individually, as his or her true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full power of
each to act alone, with full powers of substitution and resubstitution, for him or her and in his or her name, place and stead, in any and all
capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K with all exhibits thereto and all documents in connection
therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full power of each to act
alone, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in connection therewith,
as fully for all intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact
and agents, or his or her or their substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

-85-



Table of Contents

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Annual Report on Form 10-K has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
Date: March 30, 2023 By: /s/ Robert Selander

Name: Robert Selander
Title: Chairman of the Board, Director

Date: March 30, 2023 By: /s/ Jon Kessler
Name: Jon Kessler
Title: President and Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer), Director

Date: March 30, 2023 By: /s/ Tyson Murdock
Name: Tyson Murdock

 Title: Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

Date: March 30, 2023 By: /s/ Paul Black
Name: Paul Black
Title: Director

Date: March 30, 2023 By: /s/ Frank Corvino
Name: Frank Corvino
Title: Director

Date: March 30, 2023 By: /s/ Adrian Dillon
Name: Adrian Dillon
Title: Director

Date: March 30, 2023 By: /s/ Evelyn Dilsaver
Name: Evelyn Dilsaver
Title: Director

Date: March 30, 2023 By: /s/ Debra McCowan
Name: Debra McCowan
Title: Director

Date: March 30, 2023 By: /s/ Rajesh Natarajan
Name: Rajesh Natarajan
Title: Director

Date: March 30, 2023 By: /s/ Stephen Neeleman
Name: Stephen Neeleman, M.D.
Title: Vice Chairman and Director

Date: March 30, 2023 By: /s/ Stuart Parker
Name: Stuart Parker
Title: Director

Date: March 30, 2023 By: /s/ Ian Sacks
Name: Ian Sacks
Title: Director

Date: March 30, 2023 By: /s/ Gayle Wellborn
Name: Gayle Wellborn
Title: Director
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Exhibit 10.17

AMENDMENT NO. 2 TO EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

This Amendment No. 2 to Employment Agreement (this “Amendment”), is made and entered into as of December 31, 2022
(the “Effective Date”), by and between HealthEquity, Inc. a corporation organized under the laws of the State of Delaware
(“HealthEquity”), and Larry L. Trittschuh (together with HealthEquity, the “Parties” and each, a “Party”).

WHEREAS, the Parties have entered into that certain Employment Agreement dated as of November 9, 2018, as amended on
December 4, 2018 (collectively, the “Existing Agreement”);

WHEREAS, the Parties hereto desire to amend the Existing Agreement on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth
herein; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 18 of the Existing Agreement, the Existing Agreement may not be waived, altered, amended,
or modified unless signed by each of the Parties.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency
of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties agree as follows:

1. Definitions. Capitalized terms used and not defined in this Amendment have the respective meanings assigned to them
in the Existing Agreement.

2. Amendments to the Existing Agreement. As of the Effective Date, Section 3(c) of the Existing Agreement is hereby
deleted and replaced with the following provision:

“(c) Principal Place of Employment. Executive’s principal place of employment shall be in Executive’s home office in Ohio,
although Executive understands and agrees that Executive will be required to travel to the Company’s Draper, Utah
headquarters and to other sites and locations as needed for business reasons.”

3. Date of Effectiveness; Limited Effect. This Amendment will be deemed effective as of the Effective Date. Except as
expressly provided in this Amendment, all of the terms and provisions of the Existing Agreement are and will remain in full force and
effect and are hereby ratified and confirmed by the Parties. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the amendments contained
herein will not be construed as an amendment to or waiver of any other provision of the Existing Agreement or as a waiver of or
consent to any further or future action on the part of either Party that would require the waiver or consent of the other Party. Upon the
execution and delivery hereof, the Existing Agreement shall thereupon be deemed to be amended and supplemented as hereinabove set
forth as fully and with the same effect as if the amendments and supplements made hereby were originally set forth in the Existing
Agreement, and this Amendment and the Existing Agreement shall henceforth be read, taken and construed as one and the same
instrument, but such amendments and supplements shall not operate so as to render invalid or improper any action heretofore taken
under the Existing Agreement. As used in the Existing Agreement, the terms “this Agreement,” “herein,” “hereinafter,” “hereto,” and
words of similar import shall mean and refer to, from and after the date of this Amendment, unless the context requires otherwise, the
Existing Agreement as amended by this Amendment. In the event of any inconsistency between this Amendment and the Existing
Agreement with respect to the matters set forth herein, this Amendment shall take precedence and control.

4. Miscellaneous.



(a) This Amendment is governed by and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of Delaware, without
regard to conflict of laws principles.

(b) This Amendment shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon each of the Parties and each of their
respective permitted successors and permitted assigns.

(c) The headings in this Amendment are for reference only and do not affect the interpretation of this Amendment.

(d) This Amendment may be executed in counterparts, each of which is deemed an original, but all of which
constitute one and the same agreement. Delivery of an executed counterpart of this Amendment electronically shall be effective
as delivery of an original executed counterpart of this Amendment.

(e) This Amendment constitutes the sole and entire agreement between the Parties with respect to the subject
matter contained herein, and supersedes all prior and contemporaneous understandings, agreements, representations, and
warranties, both written and oral, with respect to such subject matter.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have duly executed this Amendment as of the date first above written.

HEALTHEQUITY, INC.

/s/ Tyson Murdock    
 Name: Tyson Murdock

Title: EVP, Chief Financial Officer
 

/s/ Larry Trittschuh_______________________
 LARRY TRITTSCHUH



Exhibit 10.18

EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

This EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is made and entered into as of this 19th day of January 2022,
by and between HealthEquity, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), and Elimelech Rosner (“Executive”).

W I T N E S S E T H :

WHEREAS, the Company desires to employ Executive and to enter into this Agreement to embody the terms of such
employment, and Executive desires to enter into this Agreement and to accept the terms and provisions of this Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the promises and mutual covenants contained herein and for other good and
valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are mutually acknowledged, the Company and Executive hereby
agree as follows:

Section 1. Definitions.

(a) “Accrued Obligations” shall mean (i) all accrued but unpaid Base Salary through the date of termination of
Executive’s employment, (ii) any unpaid or unreimbursed expenses incurred in accordance with Section 7 hereof, and (iii) any
benefits provided under the Company’s employee benefit plans upon a termination of employment, in accordance with the terms
contained therein.

(b) “Agreement” shall have the meaning set forth in the preamble hereto.

(c) “Annual Bonus” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4(b) hereof.

(d) “Base Salary” shall mean the salary provided for in Section 4(a) hereof or any increased salary granted to
Executive pursuant to Section 4(a) hereof.

(e) “Board” shall mean the Board of Directors of the Company.

(f) “Cause” shall mean (i) Executive’s act(s) of gross negligence or willful misconduct in the course of Executive’s
employment hereunder; (ii) willful failure or refusal by Executive to perform in any material respect Executive’s duties or
responsibilities; (iii) misappropriation (or attempted misappropriation) by Executive of any assets or business opportunities of
the Company or any other member of the Company Group; (iv) embezzlement or fraud committed (or attempted) by Executive,
at Executive’s direction, or with Executive’s prior actual knowledge; (v) Executive’s conviction of or pleading “guilty” or “ no
contest” to, (x) a felony or (y) any other criminal charge that has, or could be reasonably expected to have, an adverse impact on
the performance of Executive’s duties to the Company or any other member of the Company Group or otherwise result in
material injury to the reputation or business of the Company or any other member of the Company Group; (vi) any material
violation by Executive of the policies of the Company, including but not limited to those relating to sexual harassment, insider
trading, or business conduct, and those otherwise set forth in the manuals or statements of policy of the Company; or
(vii) Executive’s material breach of this Agreement or breach of the CIAA.

If, within ninety (90) days subsequent to Executive’s termination for any reason other than by the Company for Cause, the
Company determines that Executive’s employment could have been terminated for Cause pursuant to subparts (i), (iii), (iv), or
(v) of the preceding



paragraph (the “Post-Termination Cause Determination”), Executive’s employment will be deemed to have been terminated for
Cause for all purposes, and Executive will be required to disgorge to the Company all amounts received pursuant to this
Agreement or otherwise on account of such termination that would not have been paid or payable to Executive had such
termination been by the Company for Cause. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company may assert a Post-Termination Cause
Determination if, and only if, the Board did not have actual knowledge of facts supporting its Post-Termination Cause
Determination prior to the termination of Executive’s employment.

(g) “CIAA” shall mean the Employee Confidentiality and Inventions Assignment Agreement attached hereto as
Exhibit A.

(h) “COBRA” shall mean Part 6 of Title I of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, and
Section 4980B of the Code, and the rules and regulations promulgated under any of them.

(i) “Code” shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated
thereunder.

(j) “Commencement Date” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2 hereof.

(k) “Company” shall have the meaning set forth in the preamble hereto.

(l) “Company Group” shall mean the Company together with any direct or indirect subsidiaries of the Company.

(m) “Compensation Committee” shall mean the Board or the committee of the Board designated to make
compensation decisions relating to senior executive officers of the Company Group.

(n) “Delay Period” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 13 hereof.

(o) “Disability” shall mean any physical or mental disability or infirmity of Executive that prevents the performance
of Executive’s duties for a period of (i) ninety (90) consecutive days or (ii) one hundred twenty (120) non-consecutive days
during any twelve (12) month period. Any question as to the existence, extent, or potentiality of Executive’s Disability upon
which Executive and the Company cannot agree shall be determined by a qualified, independent physician selected and paid for
by the Company and approved by Executive (which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld). The determination of any
such physician shall be final and conclusive for all purposes of this Agreement.

(p) “Executive” shall have the meaning set forth in the preamble hereto.

(q) “Good Reason” shall mean, without Executive’s consent, (i) a material diminution in Executive’s title, duties, or
responsibilities as set forth in Section 3 hereof such that Executive is no longer serving in a senior executive capacity for the
Company, (ii) a material reduction in Base Salary set forth in Section 4(a) hereof or Annual Bonus opportunity set forth in
Section 4(b) hereof (other than pursuant to an across-the-board reduction applicable to all similarly situated executives as set
forth in Section 4(a) hereof), (iii) the relocation of Executive’s principal place of employment (as provided in Section 3(c)
hereof) more than fifty (50) miles from its current location, or (iv) any other material breach of a provision of this Agreement by
the Company (other than a provision that is covered by clause (i), (ii), or (iii) above). Executive acknowledges and agrees that
Executive’s exclusive remedy in the event of any breach of this Agreement shall be to assert Good Reason pursuant to the terms
and conditions of Section 8(e)
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hereof. Notwithstanding the foregoing, during the Term, in the event that the Board reasonably believes that Executive may have
engaged in conduct that could constitute Cause hereunder, the Board may, in its sole and absolute discretion, suspend Executive
from performing Executive’s duties hereunder, and in no event shall any such suspension constitute an event pursuant to which
Executive may terminate employment with Good Reason or otherwise constitute a breach hereunder; provided, that no such
suspension shall alter the Company’s obligations under this Agreement during such period of suspension.

(r) “Person” shall mean any individual, corporation, partnership, limited liability company, joint venture, association,
joint-stock company, trust (charitable or non-charitable), unincorporated organization, or other form of business entity.

(s) “Release of Claims” shall mean the Release of Claims in substantially the same form attached hereto as Exhibit B
(as the same may be revised from time to time by the Company upon the advice of counsel).

(t) “Severance Benefits” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 8(g) hereof.

(u) “Severance Payment” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 8(d)(iv).

(v)    “Severance Term” shall mean the twelve-month period following Executive’s termination by the Company without
Cause (other than by reason of death or Disability) or by Executive for Good Reason.

(v) “Term” shall mean the period specified in Section 2 hereof.

Section 2. Acceptance and Term.

The Company agrees to employ Executive, and Executive agrees to serve the Company, on the terms and conditions set
forth herein. The Term shall commence on the date on which Executive commences employment with the Company (the
“Commencement Date”), which shall be on or before March 15, 2022, and shall continue until terminated in accordance with the
provisions of Section 8 hereof (the “Term”).

Section 3. Position, Duties, and Responsibilities; Place of Performance.

(a) Position, Duties, and Responsibilities. During the Term, Executive shall be employed and serve as the Executive
Vice President and Chief Technology Officer (together with such other position or positions consistent with Executive’s title as
the Chief Executive Officer shall specify from time to time) and shall have such duties and responsibilities commensurate with
such title. Executive also agrees to serve as an officer and/or director of any other member of the Company Group, in each case
without additional compensation. Executive shall report to the Chief Executive Officer.

(b) Performance. Executive shall devote Executive’s full business time, attention, skill, and best efforts to the
performance of Executive’s duties under this Agreement and shall not engage in any other business or occupation during the
Term, including, without limitation, any activity that (x) conflicts with the interests of the Company or any other member of the
Company Group, (y) interferes with the proper and efficient performance of Executive’s duties for the Company, or (z) interferes
with Executive’s exercise of judgment in the Company’s best interests. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing herein shall
preclude Executive from (i) serving, with the prior written consent of the Board, as a member of the boards of directors or
advisory boards (or their equivalents in the case of a non-corporate entity) of non-competing businesses and charitable
organizations, (ii) engaging in charitable activities and community
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affairs, and (iii) managing Executive’s personal investments and affairs; provided, however, that the activities set out in clauses
(i), (ii), and (iii) shall be limited by Executive so as not to materially interfere, individually or in the aggregate, with the
performance of Executive’s duties and responsibilities hereunder or create a potential business or fiduciary conflict.

(c) Principal Place of Employment. Executive’s principal place of employment shall be in Executive’s home office in
Georgia, although Executive understands and agrees that Executive will be required to travel to the Company’s Draper, Utah
headquarters and to other sites and locations as needed for business reasons.

Section 4. Compensation.

During the Term, Executive shall be entitled to the following compensation:

(a) Base Salary. Executive shall be paid an annualized Base Salary, payable in accordance with the regular payroll
practices of the Company, of not less than $550,000.00, with increases, if any, as may be approved in writing by the
Compensation Committee; provided, however, that the foregoing shall not preclude the Company from reducing Executive’s
Base Salary as part of an across-the-board reduction applicable to all similarly situated executives of the Company.

(b) Annual Bonus. Executive shall be eligible for an annual incentive bonus award determined by the Compensation
Committee in respect of each fiscal year during the Term (the “Annual Bonus”). The target Annual Bonus for each fiscal year
shall be 75% of Base Salary, which Executive will be eligible to earn pursuant to written annual bonus plans delivered to
Executive from time to time. For the avoidance of doubt, the Annual Bonus for the fiscal year ending January 31, 2023 shall not
be pro-rated. The Annual Bonus shall be paid to Executive at the same time as annual bonuses are generally payable to other
senior executives of the Company, subject to Executive’s continuous employment through the payment date except as otherwise
provided for in this Agreement.

(c) Sign-On Bonus. Executive shall receive a one-time sign-on bonus (the “Sign-On Bonus”) in an amount equal to
$800,000.00. The Sign-On Bonus shall be paid to Executive with the first regularly scheduled payroll date following the
Commencement Date. In the event that Executive’s employment is terminated by the Company with Cause or by Executive
without Good Reason, in each case prior to the first anniversary of the Commencement Date, Executive shall be obligated to
promptly (and in any event within five (5) days after such termination) repay 100% of the gross amount of the Sign-On Bonus to
the Company.

(d) Initial Equity Award. Subject to Compensation Committee approval, Executive shall receive an initial equity
award with a grant date fair market value of $8,000,000.00 (the “Initial Equity Award”). The Initial Equity Award will be
granted on or about April 1, 2022. One-half of the Initial Equity Award will consist of time-based restricted stock units
(“RSUs”), which RSUs will vest based on the same vesting schedule approved by the Compensation Committee on or about
March 30, 2022 for similarly situated executives of the Company. The remaining one-half of the Initial Equity Award will
consist of performance-based restricted stock units (“PRSUs”), which PRSUs will vest based on the achievement of the same
performance criteria approved by the Compensation Committee on or about March 30, 2022 for similarly situated executives of
the Company. The Initial Equity Award will be subject to the terms of the Company’s 2014 Equity Incentive Plan (or any
successor equity-based plan) and award agreements evidencing such grant.

(e) Annual Equity Awards. Executive shall be eligible for an annual equity award with a grant date fair market value
of at least $2,750,000.00 (each, an “Annual Equity Award”),
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as ultimately and exclusively determined by the Compensation Committee in respect of each fiscal year beginning with the
fiscal year ending January 31, 2024. Any Annual Equity Award will be granted in connection with the Company’s regular grant
cycle and on such terms and conditions as may be determined exclusively by the Compensation Committee, and the terms of
such grants shall be governed by the terms of the Company’s 2014 Equity Incentive Plan (or any successor equity-based plan),
as well as separate award agreements in the standard forms utilized by the Company for similarly situated executives of the
Company.

Section 5. Employee Benefits.

During the Term, Executive shall be entitled to participate in health, insurance, retirement, and other benefits provided
generally to similarly situated executives of the Company. Executive shall also be entitled to the same number of holidays,
vacation days, and sick days, as well as any other benefits, in each case as are generally allowed to similarly situated executives
of the Company in accordance with the Company policy as in effect from time to time. Nothing contained herein shall be
construed to limit the Company’s ability to amend, suspend, or terminate any employee benefit plan or policy at any time without
providing Executive notice, and the right to do so is expressly reserved.

Section 6. Key-Man Insurance.

At any time during the Term, the Company shall have the right to insure the life of Executive for the sole benefit of the
Company, in such amounts, and with such terms, as it may determine. All premiums payable thereon shall be the obligation of
the Company. Executive shall have no interest in any such policy, but agrees to cooperate with the Company in procuring such
insurance by submitting to physical examinations, supplying all information required by the insurance company, and executing
all necessary documents, provided that no financial obligation is imposed on Executive by any such documents.

Section 7. Reimbursement of Business Expenses.

During the Term, the Company shall pay (or promptly reimburse Executive) for documented, out-of-pocket expenses
reasonably incurred by Executive in the course of performing Executive’s duties and responsibilities hereunder, which are
consistent with the Company’s policies in effect from time to time with respect to business expenses, subject to the Company’s
requirements with respect to reporting of such expenses.

Section 8. Termination of Employment.

(a) General. The Term shall terminate earlier than as provided in Section 2 hereof upon the earliest to occur of
(i) Executive’s death, (ii) a termination by reason of a Disability, (iii) a termination by the Company with or without Cause, and
(iv) a termination by Executive with or without Good Reason. Upon any termination of Executive’s employment for any reason,
except as may otherwise be requested by the Company in writing and agreed upon in writing by Executive, Executive shall
resign from any and all directorships, committee memberships, and any other positions Executive holds with the Company or
any other member of the Company Group. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the payment (or commencement of
a series of payments) hereunder of any “nonqualified deferred compensation” (within the meaning of Section 409A of the Code)
upon a termination of employment shall be delayed until such time as Executive has also undergone a “separation from service”
as defined in Treas. Reg. 1.409A-1(h), at which time such nonqualified deferred compensation (calculated as of the date of
Executive’s termination of employment hereunder) shall be paid (or commence to be paid) to Executive on the schedule set forth
in this Section 8
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as if Executive had undergone such termination of employment (under the same circumstances) on the date of Executive’s
ultimate “separation from service.”

(b) Termination Due to Death or Disability. Executive’s employment shall terminate automatically upon Executive’s
death. The Company may terminate Executive’s employment immediately upon the occurrence of a Disability, such termination
to be effective upon Executive’s receipt of written notice of such termination. Upon Executive’s death or in the event that
Executive’s employment is terminated due to Executive’s Disability, Executive or Executive’s estate or Executive’s
beneficiaries, as the case may be, shall be entitled to:

(i) The Accrued Obligations;

(ii) Any unpaid Annual Bonus in respect of any completed fiscal year that has ended prior to the date of such
termination, if any, which amount shall be paid at such time annual bonuses are paid to other senior executives of the Company,
but in no event later than the date that is 2½ months following the last day of the fiscal year in which such termination occurred;
and

(iii) Subject to achievement of the applicable performance objectives for the fiscal year of the Company in
which Executive’s termination occurs, as determined by the Compensation Committee, payment of the Annual Bonus that would
otherwise have been earned in respect of the fiscal year in which such termination occurred, pro-rated to reflect the number of
days Executive was employed during such fiscal year, such amount to be paid at the same time it would otherwise be paid to
Executive had no termination occurred, but in no event later than the date that is 2½ months following the last day of the fiscal
year of the Company in which such termination occurred.

Following Executive’s death or a termination of Executive’s employment by reason of a Disability, except as set forth in this
Section 8(b), Executive shall have no further rights to any compensation or any other benefits under this Agreement.

(c) Termination by the Company with Cause.

(i) The Company may terminate Executive’s employment at any time with Cause, effective upon Executive’s
receipt of written notice of such termination, provided that, to be effective, such written notice must be provided to Executive
within sixty (60) days of the Board having actual knowledge of the occurrence of such event and further provided that, with
respect to any Cause termination relying on clauses (ii), (vi), or (vii) of the definition of Cause set forth in Section 1(f) hereof, to
the extent that such act or acts or failure or failures to act are curable, the Board shall provide Executive with written notice of the
Company’s intention to terminate Executive with Cause, such notice to state in detail the particular act or acts or failure or
failures to act that constitute the grounds on which the proposed termination with Cause is based and to provide Executive with
ten (10) days to cure the particular act or acts or failure or failures to act (the “Cure Period”) and such termination shall be
effective at the expiration of the Cure Period unless Executive has fully cured such act or acts or failure or failures to act that give
rise to Cause during such Cure Period.

(ii) In the event that the Company terminates Executive’s employment with Cause, Executive shall be entitled
only to the Accrued Obligations. Following such termination of Executive’s employment with Cause, except as set forth in this
Section 8(c)(ii), Executive shall have no further rights to any compensation or any other benefits under this Agreement.

(d) Termination by the Company without Cause. The Company may terminate Executive’s employment at any time
without Cause, effective upon Executive’s receipt of
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written notice of such termination. In the event that Executive’s employment is terminated by the Company without Cause (other
than due to death or Disability), Executive shall be entitled to:

(i) The Accrued Obligations;

(ii) Any unpaid Annual Bonus in respect of any completed fiscal year that has ended prior to the date of such
termination, which amount shall be paid at such time annual bonuses are paid to other senior executives of the Company, but in
no event later than the date that is 2½ months following the last day of the fiscal year in which such termination occurred;

(iii) Subject to achievement of the applicable performance objectives for the fiscal year of the Company in
which Executive’s termination occurs, as determined by the Compensation Committee, payment of the Annual Bonus that would
otherwise have been earned in respect of the fiscal year in which such termination occurred, pro-rated to reflect the number of
days Executive was employed during such fiscal year, such amount to be paid at the same time it would otherwise be paid to
Executive had no termination occurred, but in no event later than the date that is 2½ months following the last day of the fiscal
year of the Company in which such termination occurred;

(iv) So long as Executive has executed and not revoked the Release of Claims, payment of a “Severance
Payment” in an amount equal to continued payment of monthly Base Salary during the Severance Term, payable in accordance
with the Company’s regular payroll practices.

(v) Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary in any stock option agreement or any equity plan maintained
by the Company, all stock options held by Executive as of the date of Executive’s termination of employment shall remain
exercisable until the earlier to occur of (a) the expiration date of such stock option and (b) the twelve (12) month anniversary of
Executive’s termination; and

(vi) To the extent permitted by applicable law without any penalty to Executive or any member of the
Company Group and subject to Executive’s election of COBRA continuation coverage under the Company’s group health plan
and Executive’s payment of all COBRA continuation coverage insurance premiums, on the first regularly scheduled payroll date
of each month of the Severance Term, the Company will reimburse Executive an amount equal to the “applicable percentage” of
the monthly COBRA premium cost; provided, that the payments pursuant to this clause (vi) shall cease earlier than the expiration
of the Severance Term in the event that Executive becomes eligible to receive any health benefits, including through a spouse’s
employer, during the Severance Term and/or if Executive violates Executive’s obligations under the CIAA. If Executive violates
Executive’s obligations under the CIAA then Company’s reimbursement of such COBRA premiums shall cease immediately
upon Company’s determination that Executive has violated the obligations referenced in this sentence. If Executive becomes
eligible to receive any health benefits, including through a spouse’s employer, during the Severance Term, Executive shall be
required to notify Company of such within fifteen (15) days of Executive obtaining such alternate health insurance coverage.
Upon receipt of such notification, Company shall cease providing Executive any further reimbursement of COBRA premiums.
For purposes hereof, the “applicable percentage” shall be the percentage of Executive’s health care premium costs covered by the
Company as of the date of termination. Amounts paid by the Company will be taxable to the extent required to avoid adverse
consequences to Executive or the Company under either Section 105(h) of the Code or the Patient Protection and Affordable Care
Act of 2010. At the end of the Severance Term, Executive shall receive no further reimbursement from the Company of any
COBRA
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continuation coverage insurance premiums that Executive pays for the duration of the COBRA continuation period that
Executive may be eligible for under applicable state and federal law.

So long as Executive has received the first monthly installment of the Severance Payment, notwithstanding the foregoing, the
payments and benefits described in clauses (ii), (iii), (iv), (v) and (vi) above shall immediately terminate, and the Company shall
have no further obligations to Executive with respect thereto, in the event that Executive breaches any provision of the CIAA.
Executive agrees that in the event Executive has breached the CIAA and Company has ceased making Severance Payments, that
so long has Executive has received the first installment of the Severance Benefits, the Release of Claims shall remain in full force
and effect notwithstanding the cessation of Severance Payments by Company as a result of Executive’s breach of the CIAA.
Following such termination of Executive’s employment by the Company without Cause, except as set forth in this Section 8(d),
Executive shall have no further rights to any compensation or any other benefits under this Agreement. For the avoidance of
doubt, Executive’s sole and exclusive remedy upon a termination of employment by the Company without Cause shall be receipt
of the Severance Benefits.

(e) Termination by Executive with Good Reason. Executive may terminate Executive’s employment with Good
Reason by providing the Company written notice setting forth in reasonable specificity the event that constitutes Good Reason,
which written notice, to be effective, must be provided to the Company within sixty (60) days of the occurrence of such event.
Said notice shall state in detail the particular act or acts or failure or failures to act that constitute the grounds on which the
proposed termination for Good Reason is based and shall provide the Company with a Cure Period (as defined in Section 8(c)(i)
above), and such termination shall be effective at the expiration of the Cure Period unless the Company has fully cured such act
or acts or failure or failures to act that give rise to Good Reason during such Cure Period. In the event of termination with Good
Reason, Executive shall be entitled to the same payments and benefits as provided in Section 8(d) hereof for a termination by the
Company without Cause, subject to the same conditions on payment and benefits as described in Section 8(d) hereof. Following
such termination of Executive’s employment by Executive with Good Reason, except as set forth in this Section 8(e), Executive
shall have no further rights to any compensation or any other benefits under this Agreement. For the avoidance of doubt,
Executive’s sole and exclusive remedy upon a termination of employment with Good Reason shall be receipt of the Severance
Benefits. So long as Executive has received the first monthly installment of the Severance Payment, notwithstanding the
foregoing, the payments and benefits described in clauses (ii), (iii), (iv), (v) and (vi) of Section 8(d) above that would otherwise
be due and owing under this Section (e) shall immediately terminate, and the Company shall have no further obligations to
Executive with respect thereto, in the event that Executive breaches any provision of the CIAA. Executive agrees that in the
event Executive has breached the CIAA and Company has ceased making Severance Payments, that so long has Executive has
received the first installment of the Severance Benefits, the Release of Claims shall remain in full force and effect
notwithstanding the cessation of Severance Payments by Company as a result of Executive’s breach of the CIAA. Following
such termination of Executive’s employment by Executive with Good Reason, except as set forth in this Section 8(e), Executive
shall have no further rights to any compensation or any other benefits under this Agreement. For the avoidance of doubt,
Executive’s sole and exclusive remedy upon a termination of employment by the Company without Cause shall be receipt of the
Severance Benefits.

(f) Termination by Executive without Good Reason. Executive may terminate Executive’s employment without Good
Reason by providing the Company thirty (30) days’ written notice of such termination. In the event of a termination of
employment by Executive under this Section 8(f), Executive shall be entitled only to the Accrued Obligations. In the event of
termination of Executive’s employment under this Section 8(f), the Company may, in its sole and absolute discretion, by written
notice accelerate such date of termination without changing
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the characterization of such termination as a termination by Executive without Good Reason. Following such termination of
Executive’s employment by Executive without Good Reason, except as set forth in this Section 8(f), Executive shall have no
further rights to any compensation or any other benefits under this Agreement.

(g) Release. Notwithstanding any provision herein to the contrary, the payment of any amount or provision of any
benefit pursuant to subsection (b), (d), or (e) of this Section 8 (other than the Accrued Obligations) (collectively, the “Severance
Benefits”) shall be conditioned upon Executive’s execution, delivery to the Company, and non-revocation of both Exhibit C to
the CIAA and the Release of Claims (and the expiration of any revocation period contained in such Release of Claims) within
sixty (60) days following the date of Executive’s termination of employment hereunder. If Executive fails to execute the Release
of Claims in such a timely manner so as to permit any revocation period to expire prior to the end of such sixty (60) day period,
or timely revokes Executive’s acceptance of such release following its execution, Executive shall not be entitled to any of the
Severance Benefits. Further, (i) to the extent that any of the Severance Benefits constitutes “nonqualified deferred
compensation” for purposes of Section 409A of the Code, any payment of any amount or provision of any benefit otherwise
scheduled to occur prior to the sixtieth (60 ) day following the date of Executive’s termination of employment hereunder, but for
the condition on executing the Release of Claims as set forth herein, shall not be made until the first regularly scheduled payroll
date following such sixtieth (60 ) day and (ii) to the extent that any of the Severance Benefits do not constitute “nonqualified
deferred compensation” for purposes of Section 409A of the Code, any payment of any amount or provision of any benefit
otherwise scheduled to occur following the date of Executive’s termination of employment hereunder, but for the condition on
executing the Release of Claims as set forth herein, shall not be made until the first regularly scheduled payroll date following
the date the Release of Claims is timely executed and the applicable revocation period has ended, after which, in each case, any
remaining Severance Benefits shall thereafter be provided to Executive according to the applicable schedule set forth herein. For
the avoidance of doubt, in the event of a termination due to Executive’s death or Disability, Executive’s obligations herein to
execute and not revoke the Release of Claims may be satisfied on Executive’s behalf by Executive’s estate or a person having
legal power of attorney over Executive’s affairs.

Section 9. Employee Confidentiality and Inventions Assignment.

As a condition of, and prior to commencement of, Executive’s employment with the Company, Executive shall have
executed and delivered to the Company the CIAA. The parties hereto acknowledge and agree that this Agreement and the CIAA
shall be considered separate contracts, and the CIAA will survive the termination of this Agreement for any reason.

Section 10. Representations and Warranties of Executive.

Executive represents and warrants to the Company that—

(a) Executive is entering into this Agreement voluntarily and that Executive’s employment hereunder and compliance
with the terms and conditions hereof will not conflict with or result in the breach by Executive of any agreement to which
Executive is a party or by which Executive may be bound;

(b) Executive has not violated, and in connection with Executive’s employment with the Company will not violate,
any non-solicitation, non-competition, or other similar covenant or agreement of a prior employer by which Executive is or may
be bound; and

th

th
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(c) in connection with Executive’s employment with the Company, Executive has not used and will not use any
confidential or proprietary information Executive may have obtained in connection with employment with any prior employer.

Section 11. Taxes.

The Company may withhold from any payments made under this Agreement all applicable taxes, including, but not
limited to, income, employment, and social insurance taxes, as shall be required by law. Executive acknowledges and represents
that the Company has not provided any tax advice to Executive in connection with this Agreement and that Executive has been
advised by the Company to seek tax advice from Executive’s own tax advisors regarding this Agreement and payments that may
be made to Executive pursuant to this Agreement, including specifically, the application of the provisions of Section 409A of the
Code to such payments.

Section 12. Set Off; Mitigation.

The Company’s obligation to pay Executive the amounts provided and to make the arrangements provided hereunder shall
be subject to set-off, counterclaim, and recoupment of amounts owed by Executive to any member of the Company Group;
provided, however, that (i) prior to exercising any right of set-off, counterclaim, or recoupment, the Company shall provide
Executive with written notice setting forth, in detail, the facts on which it relies to support its claim of set-off, counterclaim, or
recoupment; (ii) to the extent any amount so subject to set-off, counterclaim, or recoupment is payable in installments hereunder,
such set-off, counterclaim, or recoupment shall not modify the applicable payment date of any installment; and (iii) to the extent
an obligation cannot be satisfied by reduction of a single installment payment, any portion not satisfied shall remain an
outstanding obligation of Executive and shall be applied to the next installment only at such time the installment is otherwise
payable pursuant to the specified payment schedule. Executive shall not be required to mitigate the amount of any payment or
benefit provided pursuant to this Agreement by seeking other employment or otherwise, and except as provided in Section 8(d)
(vi) hereof, the amount of any payment or benefit provided for pursuant to this Agreement shall not be reduced by any
compensation earned as a result of Executive’s other employment or otherwise.

Section 13. Additional Section 409A Provisions.

Notwithstanding any provision in this Agreement to the contrary—

(a) Any payment otherwise required to be made hereunder to Executive at any date as a result of the termination of
Executive’s employment shall be delayed for such period of time as may be necessary to meet the requirements of
Section 409A(a)(2)(B)(i) of the Code (the “Delay Period”). On the first business day following the expiration of the Delay
Period, Executive shall be paid, in a single cash lump sum, an amount equal to the aggregate amount of all payments delayed
pursuant to the preceding sentence, and any remaining payments not so delayed shall continue to be paid pursuant to the
payment schedule set forth herein.

(b) Each payment in a series of payments hereunder shall be deemed to be a separate payment for purposes of
Section 409A of the Code.

(c) To the extent that any right to reimbursement of expenses or payment of any benefit in-kind under this Agreement
constitutes nonqualified deferred compensation (within the meaning of Section 409A of the Code), (i) any such expense
reimbursement shall be made by the Company no later than the last day of the taxable year following the taxable year in which
such expense was incurred by Executive, (ii) the right to reimbursement or in-kind

10



benefits shall not be subject to liquidation or exchange for another benefit, and (iii) the amount of expenses eligible for
reimbursement or in-kind benefits provided during any taxable year shall not affect the expenses eligible for reimbursement or
in-kind benefits to be provided in any other taxable year; provided, that the foregoing clause (iii) shall not be violated with
regard to expenses reimbursed under any arrangement covered by Section 105(b) of the Code solely because such expenses are
subject to a limit related to the period the arrangement is in effect.

(d) While the payments and benefits provided hereunder are intended to be structured in a manner to avoid the
implication of any penalty taxes under Section 409A of the Code, in no event whatsoever shall the Company or any of its
affiliates (including, without limitation, the Company) be liable for any additional tax, interest, or penalties that may be imposed
on Executive as a result of Section 409A of the Code or any damages for failing to comply with Section 409A of the Code (other
than for withholding obligations or other obligations applicable to employers, if any, under Section 409A of the Code).

Section 14. Golden Parachute Tax Provision.

If there is a change in ownership or control of the Company that would cause any payment or distribution by the
Company or any other Person or entity to Executive or for Executive’s benefit (whether paid or payable or distributed or
distributable pursuant to the terms of this Agreement or otherwise) (a “Payment”) to be subject to the excise tax imposed by
Section 4999 of the Code (such excise tax, together with any interest or penalties incurred by Executive with respect to such
excise tax, the “Excise Tax”), then Executive will receive the greatest of the following, whichever gives Executive the highest net
after-tax amount (after taking into account federal, state, local and social security taxes): (a) the Payments or (b) one dollar less
than the amount of the Payments that would subject Executive to the Excise Tax (the “Safe Harbor Amount”).  If a reduction in
the Payments is necessary so that the Payments equal the Safe Harbor Amount and none of the Payments constitutes nonqualified
deferred compensation (within the meaning of Section 409A of the Code), then the reduction shall occur in the manner Executive
elects in writing prior to the date of payment.  If any Payment constitutes nonqualified deferred compensation or if Executive
fails to elect an order, then the Payments to be reduced will be determined in a manner which has the least economic cost to
Executive and, to the extent the economic cost is equivalent, will be reduced in the inverse order of when payment would have
been made to Executive, until the reduction is achieved.  All determinations required to be made under this Section 14, including
whether and when the Safe Harbor Amount is required and the amount of the reduction of the Payments and the assumptions to
be utilized in arriving at such determination, shall be made by a certified public accounting firm designated by the Company (the
“Accounting Firm”).  All fees and expenses of the Accounting Firm shall be borne solely by the Company.  Any determination
by the Accounting Firm shall be binding upon Company and Executive.

Section 15. Clawback.

All payments made pursuant to this Agreement are subject to the “clawback” obligations of Section 954 of the
Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Act, as may be amended from time to time, and any other “clawback” obligations
pursuant to applicable law, rules, and regulations.

Section 16. Indemnification.

Executive shall be indemnified and held harmless pursuant to the terms and conditions set forth in that certain
Indemnification Agreement, dated as of the date hereof, by and
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between Executive and the Company, as may be amended from time to time (the “Indemnification Agreement”).

Section 17. Successors and Assigns; No Third-Party Beneficiaries.

(a) The Company. This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of the Company and its respective successors and
assigns. Neither this Agreement nor any of the rights, obligations, or interests arising hereunder may be assigned by the
Company to a Person (other than another member of the Company Group, or its or their respective successors) without
Executive’s prior written consent (which shall not be unreasonably withheld, delayed, or conditioned); provided, however, that
in the event of a sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company or any direct or indirect division or subsidiary
thereof to which Executive’s employment primarily relates, the Company may provide that this Agreement will be assigned to,
and assumed by, the acquiror of such assets, it being agreed that in such circumstances, Executive’s consent will not be required
in connection therewith.

(b) Executive. Executive’s rights and obligations under this Agreement shall not be transferable by Executive by
assignment or otherwise, without the prior written consent of the Company; provided, however, that if Executive shall die, all
amounts then payable to Executive hereunder shall be paid in accordance with the terms of this Agreement to Executive’s
devisee, legatee, or other designee, or if there be no such designee, to Executive’s estate.

(c) No Third-Party Beneficiaries. Except as otherwise set forth in Section 8(b) or Section 17(b) hereof, nothing
expressed or referred to in this Agreement will be construed to give any Person other than the Company, the other members of
the Company Group, and Executive any legal or equitable right, remedy, or claim under or with respect to this Agreement or any
provision of this Agreement.

Section 18. Waiver and Amendments.

Any waiver, alteration, amendment, or modification of any of the terms of this Agreement shall be valid only if made in
writing and signed by each of the parties hereto; provided, however, that any such waiver, alteration, amendment, or modification
must be consented to on the Company’s behalf by the Board. No waiver by either of the parties hereto of their rights hereunder
shall be deemed to constitute a waiver with respect to any subsequent occurrences or transactions hereunder unless such waiver
specifically states that it is to be construed as a continuing waiver.

Section 19. Severability.

If any covenants or such other provisions of this Agreement are found to be invalid or unenforceable by a final
determination of a court of competent jurisdiction, (a) the remaining terms and provisions hereof shall be unimpaired, and (b) the
invalid or unenforceable term or provision hereof shall be deemed replaced by a term or provision that is valid and enforceable
and that comes closest to expressing the intention of the invalid or unenforceable term or provision hereof.

Section 20.    Arbitration of Disputes

Executive and the Company agree to utilize binding individual arbitration to resolve all disputes that might arise out of or
be related in any way to Executive’s employment by the Company. Such disputes include, but are not limited to, claims
Executive might bring against the Company for wrongful termination, discrimination, harassment, retaliation, breach of contract,
wage and hour violations, and torts such as invasion of privacy, assault and battery, or
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defamation. Such disputes also include claims that the Company might bring against Executive such as, for example, theft of
money or trade secrets, breach of a confidentiality agreement, or breach of a contract. Executive and the Company each
specifically waive our respective rights to bring such claims against the other in a court of law and to have a trial by jury.

The only exceptions to binding arbitration shall be for claims arising under the National Labor Relations Act which are
brought before the National Labor Relations Board, claims for medical and disability benefits under state workers’ compensation
law, claims for unemployment insurance, or other claims that are not subject to arbitration under law. Company shall also have
the right to seek a temporary restraining order and/or preliminary injunction to enforce the terms of Exhibit A of this Agreement
until such time as an arbitrator can be appointed to assume jurisdiction of any dispute involving Exhibit A of this Agreement.
Moreover, nothing herein shall prevent Executive from filing a charge or complaint with the United States Equal Employment
Opportunity Commission or a similar state or local agency that allows me to file an administrative charge or complaint. Once the
agency’s proceedings are completed, however, if Executive wishes to pursue the matter further Executive understands that
Executive must do so under this agreement.

Executive agreement to arbitrate claims against the Company includes claims Executive might bring against the
Company’s parent, subsidiary, affiliated or client entities as well as against owners, directors, officers, managers, employees,
agents, contractors, attorneys, benefit plan administrators, and insurers of the Company or of its parent, subsidiary, affiliated or
client entities. Executive also agrees to arbitrate claims against any person or entity Executive alleges to be a joint employer with
the Company.

Executive and the Company agree that any claims we might pursue against the other in arbitration under this agreement
shall be brought in the individual capacity of Executive or the Company. This agreement shall not be construed to allow or permit
the consolidation or joinder of claims of other claimants, or to permit such claims to proceed as a class or collective action. No
arbitrator shall have the authority under this agreement to order any such class or collective action. Any dispute regarding the
validity, scope or enforceability of this agreement, or concerning the arbitrability of a particular claim, shall be resolved by a
court, not by the arbitrator. Executive agrees to waive any substantive or procedural rights that Executive may have to bring or
participate in an action brought on a class or collective basis.

If Executive wishes to bring a claim to arbitration under this agreement, Executive understands that Executive must
provide a written statement of Executive’s claim to the Head of the Company’s People Department. Executive understands that
Executive has the right to be represented by an attorney in the arbitration of any claim under this agreement, but it is not required
that Executive have an attorney. Executive further understands that Executive must present any claim in arbitration before the
statute of limitations expires for that type of claim.

At the beginning of any arbitration process under this agreement, Executive and the Company will need to select an
arbitrator by mutual agreement. Such an arbitrator shall be a retired state or federal court judge in the state in which the dispute
arose, or another qualified and
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impartial person that Executive and the Company decide upon. In the event we cannot agree on the selection of an arbitrator,
Executive and the Company will select an alternative dispute resolution provider and request from that provider a list of an odd
number of potential arbitrators. From that list we will alternatively strike arbitrators, with the Company going first, until one
arbitrator is left. That arbitrator shall be the arbitrator who will hear our case. If Executive and the Company cannot agree on an
alternative dispute resolution provider, an arbitrator will be appointed according to law.

Any arbitration proceeding under this agreement shall proceed under and be governed by the Federal Arbitration Act, in
conformity with the arbitration law of the state in which the dispute arose. In any arbitration proceeding under this agreement, all
rules of pleading under the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, the Federal Rules of Evidence, and all rights to resolution of the
dispute by means of motions for summary judgment or judgment on the pleadings shall apply and be observed unless Executive
and the Company agree otherwise. The arbitrator shall have the immunity of a judicial officer from civil liability when acting in
the capacity of an arbitrator, which immunity supplements any other existing immunity. Likewise, all communications during or
in connection with the arbitration proceedings shall be privileged. The arbitrator’s award(s) shall include the arbitrator’s written
reasoned opinion. Resolution of all disputes shall be based solely upon the law governing the claims and defenses pleaded, and
the arbitrator may not invoke any basis (including but not limited to, notions of “just cause”) other than such controlling law.

The Company will pay the arbitrator’s fees and other costs relating to the arbitration forum but Executive and the
Company will be responsible for our own costs and for our attorneys’ fees should we choose to be represented by counsel, unless
the arbitrator shifts one party’s costs and attorneys’ fees to the other party in accordance with applicable law.

If any term or provision or any portion of this arbitration provision is deemed invalid or unenforceable, it shall be severed
and the remainder of this agreement shall be enforceable. Under no circumstances shall this agreement be construed to allow
arbitration on a class, collective, or other similar basis, however.

Executive confirms that Executive has had time to read this arbitration of disputes provision and ask the Company’s
representative any questions Executive had about the arbitration of disputes provision prior to signing this agreement. Executive
further confirms that Executive is signing this agreement voluntarily and not under any duress or threat of negative consequences
for not signing the agreement.

EXECUTIVE’S SIGNATURE BELOW CONFIRMS THE FACT THAT EXECUTIVE HAS READ,
UNDERSTANDS, AND VOLUNTARILY AGREES TO BE LEGALLY BOUND TO ALL OF THE ABOVE TERMS OF
THIS SECTION 20. EXECUTIVE FURTHER UNDERSTAND THAT THIS SECTION 20 REQUIRES THE COMPANY
AND EXECUTIVE TO ARBITRATE ANY AND ALL DISPUTES THAT ARISE OUT OF EXECUTIVE’S
EMPLOYMENT, AND THAT EXECUTIVE AND THE COMPANY ARE GIVING UP OUR RIGHTS TO A TRIAL BY
JURY.
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Section 21. Governing Law.

EXCEPT WHERE PREEMPTED BY FEDERAL LAW, THE VALIDITY, INTERPRETATION, CONSTRUCTION,
AND PERFORMANCE OF THIS AGREEMENT IS GOVERNED BY AND IS TO BE CONSTRUED UNDER THE LAWS
OF THE STATE OF UTAH APPLICABLE TO AGREEMENTS MADE AND TO BE PERFORMED IN THAT STATE,
WITHOUT REGARD TO CONFLICT OF LAWS RULES.

Section 22. Notices.

(a) Place of Delivery. Every notice or other communication relating to this Agreement shall be in writing, and shall be
mailed to or delivered to the party for whom or which it is intended at such address as may from time to time be designated by it
in a notice mailed or delivered to the other party as herein provided; provided, that unless and until some other address be so
designated, all notices and communications by Executive to the Company shall be mailed or delivered to the Company at its
principal executive office, and all notices and communications by the Company to Executive may be given to Executive
personally or may be mailed to Executive at Executive’s last known address, as reflected in the Company’s records.

(b) Date of Delivery. Any notice so addressed shall be deemed to be given or received (i) if delivered by hand, on the
date of such delivery, (ii) if mailed by courier or by overnight mail, on the first business day following the date of such mailing,
and (iii) if mailed by registered or certified mail, on the third business day after the date of such mailing.

Section 23. Section Headings.

The headings of the sections and subsections of this Agreement are inserted for convenience only and shall not be deemed
to constitute a part thereof or affect the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement or of any term or provision hereof.

Section 24. Entire Agreement.

This Agreement, together with any documents referenced within this Agreement and any exhibits attached hereto and
Executive’s Indemnification Agreement, constitutes the entire understanding and agreement of the parties hereto regarding the
employment of Executive during the Term of this Agreement. This Agreement supersedes all prior negotiations, discussions,
correspondence, communications, understandings, and agreements between the parties relating to the subject matter of this
Agreement.

Section 25. Survival of Operative Sections.

Upon any termination of Executive’s employment, the provisions of Section 8 through 26 of this Agreement (together
with any related definitions set forth in Section 1 hereof) shall survive to the extent necessary to give effect to the provisions
thereof.

Section 26. Counterparts.

This Agreement may be executed in two (2) or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original but all
of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument. The execution of this Agreement may be by actual signature or by
signature delivered by facsimile or by e-mail as a portable document format (.pdf) file or image file attachment.

*    *    *
[Signatures to appear on the following page(s).]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have executed this Agreement as of the date first above written.

HEALTHEQUITY, INC.

_/s/ Jon Kessler ____________
By: Jon Kessler
Title: President and CEO

EXECUTIVE

/s/ Elimelech Rosner_________
Elimelech Rosner

[Signature Page to Employment Agreement]



Exhibit A

EMPLOYEE CONFIDENTIALITY AND INVENTIONS ASSIGNMENT AGREEMENT

This Employee Confidentiality and Inventions Assignment Agreement (referred to as the “Agreement”) is entered into by and
between HealthEquity, Inc., a corporation organized under the laws of the State of Delaware, and its successors, assigns, subsidiaries
(including but not limited to WageWorks, Inc., and affiliated companies (collectively referred to as the “Company”) and the employee whose
name and signature appear below (referred to as the “Employee”) as of the date indicated below, in regard to the following facts:

WHEREAS, as part of Employee’s employment with the Company, Employee has or will be exposed to and/or provided with trade
secrets (hereinafter, “Trade Secrets”) and proprietary and confidential information (hereinafter, “Confidential Information”) relating to the
operation of the Company’s business and its clients; and

WHEREAS, the Company wishes to protect its Trade Secrets and Confidential Information from unauthorized possession, use or
disclosure, and to protect itself from unfair competition; and

WHEREAS, Employee acknowledges that a part of the consideration Employee is providing the Company in exchange for
Employee’s employment, continued employment with the Company, being provided access to Trade Secrets and/or Confidential Information,
and/or receipt of additional consideration to which Employee was not previously entitled and the sufficiency of which Employee
acknowledges, including but not limited, to access to a sales incentive plan and/or additional sales training, is Employee’s agreement to
maintain the secrecy of the Company’s Trade Secrets and Confidential Information in the manner provided herein.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants herein contained, and for other good and valuable consideration, the
receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereunto agree as follows:

1. Use and Protection of Confidentiality Information and Trade Secrets.

(a) Employee acknowledges and agrees that Employee’s employment with the Company creates a relationship of
confidence and trust with the Company with respect to all of the Company’s Trade Secrets and Confidential Information. Therefore, all of the
Company’s Trade Secrets and Confidential Information shall forever be maintained in confidence by Employee and used by Employee only
to such extent as may be necessary in the ordinary course of performing services for the Company under this Agreement. Employee shall not
at any time either during Employee’s term of employment or following the termination of Employee’s employment with the Company
(whether voluntary or involuntary), without the prior written consent of the Company, reveal, disclose, divulge, publish, disseminate,
communicate, use or employ for the benefit of Employee or others (including without limitation, any corporation, partnership, company,
business, group, association, firm, trust, venture or entity other than the Company or any person not then employed by the Company) any
Trade Secrets and/or Confidential Information except as provided in this Agreement for as long as the information is maintained as
confidential by the Company. Notwithstanding the foregoing, this Paragraph does not prohibit or limit the right of Employee to discuss,
debate and communicate with other employees of the Company regarding Employee’s workplace terms and conditions of employment,
including wages.

(b) Employee acknowledges and agrees that all Trade Secrets and Confidential Information developed, created or
maintained by Employee, alone or with others, while Employee is employed by the Company, shall remain at all times the sole property of
the Company, regardless of where such Trade Secrets and Confidential Information may be stored or maintained by Employee, including,
without limitation, on any personal electronic or mobile device owned by Employee. Employee further acknowledges and agrees that all
contact information of and all communications



(including emails, text messages, and other private electronic messages) with the Company’s clients, prospective clients, suppliers, and
vendors that Employee may come to possess during Employee’s employment with the Company shall remain the sole property of the
Company even if Employee stores such information on Employee’s personal cell phone or electronic device, and Employee shall not take and
fail to return such information after termination of Employee’s employment with the Company for any reason. Employee will be in breach of
this Paragraph if Employee retains any such information on his/her personal cell phone or personal email account after Employee’s
employment with the Company has ended. If Employee is issued any electronic device by the Company such as a smart phone, iPad, laptop
computer, or external hard drive, if the Company has fully reimbursed Employee for the purchase of an electronic device, or if the Company
is otherwise subsidizing the cost of Employee’s use of any personally owned electronic device, Employee agrees that they have no right to
privacy with respect to any data that is stored on any such device, and no right to or expectation of privacy with respect to any Company-
related data that is stored on any other device as the Company has the right to access all such devices at any time to retrieve or delete all
Company-related data.

(c) Employee agrees to abide by Company’s Information Security Policy, People Handbook and other policies and
procedures communicated to Employee from time to time regarding the use and protection of the Company’s Confidential Information and
Trade Secrets. Employee further agrees and acknowledges that the Company has a property interest and right in protecting its Confidential
Information that is separate and distinct from its property interest in Trade Secrets, and that such property interest in Confidential Information
shall provide the basis for any and all remedies the Company shall have under the common law and unfair competition statutes in the event of
Employee’s breach or attempted breach of Employee’s obligations under this Agreement with respect to Confidential Information regardless
of whether such information constitutes a trade secret under applicable law. The Company’s separate property interest in its Confidential
Information is based on this Agreement, and other applicable law. Employee hereby knowingly and voluntarily waives Employee’s right to
plead, allege, argue, claim or raise as a defense in any legal proceeding that any claim by the Company arising out of or based on Employee’s
breach or attempted breach of Employee’s obligations under this Agreement with respect to Confidential Information not constituting a trade
secret under the law is preempted by any state’s Uniform Trade Secrets Act.

(d) Employee’s agreement not to use Trade Secrets and/or Confidential Information includes an agreement that
Employee will not, directly or indirectly, use the Company’s Trade Secrets and/or Confidential Information to: (i) identify existing clients of
the Company for Employee’s own personal benefit or the benefit of any other firm or entity; and/or (ii) otherwise unfairly compete with the
Company. Employee shall not reverse engineer, decompile or disassemble any products, software or other materials containing any Trade
Secrets and/or Confidential Information of the Company.

(e) Notwithstanding any provisions in this agreement or Company policy applicable to the unauthorized use or
disclosure of trade secrets, Employee is hereby notified that, pursuant to the Defend Trade Secrets Act as contained in 18 U.S.C. § 1833,
Employee cannot be held criminally or civilly liable under any Federal or State trade secret law for the disclosure of a trade secret that is
made (i) in confidence to a Federal, State, or local government official, either directly or indirectly, or to an attorney; and (ii) solely for the
purpose of reporting or investigating a suspected violation of law. Employee also may not be held so liable for such disclosures made in a
complaint or other document filed in a lawsuit or other proceeding, if such filing is made under seal. In addition, individuals who file a
lawsuit for retaliation by an employer for reporting a suspected violation of law may disclose the trade secret to the attorney of the individual
and use the trade secret information in the court proceeding, if the individual files any document containing the trade secret under seal and
does not disclose the trade secret, except pursuant to court order provided the Employee’s actions are consistent with 18 U.S.C. § 1833.

(f) Definition of “Trade Secrets.” Employee acknowledges and agrees that, through Employee’s employment with the
Company, Employee has or will be exposed to and/or provided with the Company’s Trade Secrets. “Trade Secrets” mean information,
including a formula, pattern, compilation, program, device, method, technique or process, that: (1) derives independent economic value,
actual or potential, from not being generally known to the public or to other persons or entities who can obtain economic value from its
disclosure or use and (2) is the subject of efforts that are reasonable under the circumstances to maintain it secrecy. The Company’s Trade
Secrets include, but are not limited to, the



following: “Confidential Information” as defined below that also qualifies as a trade secret under applicable state or federal law; the
Company’s files and records regarding clients, prospective clients, independent contractors, subcontractors, vendors, and suppliers, such as
contact information, terms of contracts, transactional history, and special needs that are not publicly disclosed or generally known to
competitors; client lists and compilations of data about clients; prospective client lists and compilations of data about prospective clients;
client profiles, needs, specifications, account history, habits, correspondence, and the identity and direct contact information of clients where
such information is not generally available or ascertainable, including, without limitation, all information held in the Company’s Oracle and
SalesForce.com customer relationship management tools; information and documents pertaining to analyses and forecasts of capacity and
readiness to meet client needs; business plans and strategy; information and documents regarding research and development of the
Company’s products and services); research and development of products and services that have not yet been publicly announced or launched
by the Company; custom forms and documents created for internal use in conducting Company business; software developed by or for the
benefit of the Company and related data source code and programming information (whether or not patentable or registered under copyright
or similar statutes); information about Company’s unique business processes, methods, systems and training techniques regarding the
creation of, soliciting, selling, marketing, administration and providing of Company’s products and services regarding healthcare savings
accounts and other consumer directed benefits administered by the Company, including health reimbursement arrangements, flexible
spending accounts, retirement benefits, COBRA benefits and commuter benefits programs and related know how; financial and accounting
information, such as budgets, cost, pricing, and billing information, estimating processes, revenues, and profit margins, targets, and forecasts;
unpublished financial statements and internal metrics of business performance; and sales and marketing plans, strategies, programs, methods,
and techniques. Employee acknowledges and agrees that the Company’s Trade Secrets are not generally known to the public or to the
Company’s competitors, were developed or compiled at significant expense by the Company over an extended period of time, are the subject
of the Company’s reasonable efforts to maintain their secrecy, and that the Company derives significant independent economic value by
keeping its Trade Secrets a secret.

(g) Definition of “Confidential Information.” Employee acknowledges and agrees that, through Employee’s employment
with the Company, Employee has or will be exposed to and/or provided with the Company’s Confidential Information. “Confidential
Information” means all information belonging to the Company, whether reduced to writing or in a form from which such information can be
obtained, translated or derived into reasonably usable form, and whether the information is simply in Employee’s head, that has been
provided to Employee during Employee’s employment with the Company and/or Employee has gained access to while employed by the
Company and/or was developed by Employee in the course of Employee’s employment with the Company, that is proprietary and
confidential in nature. The Company’s Confidential Information includes, but is not limited to, information believed by the Company to be a
“Trade Secret” that ultimately does not qualify as such under applicable state or federal law but nonetheless was maintained by the Company
as confidential, as well as other information maintained as confidential by the Company, including, but not limited to: client and prospective
client information (including, but not limited to, the identities of the Company’s clients, the identities of contact persons and decision-makers
at clients, client lists, prospective client lists, contact information, product and service pricing information, revenues from client accounts,
purchasing habits and patterns, contract terms, contract expiration dates, client proposals and responses to RFP’s, negotiation histories, billing
histories, personal and private information and data, correspondence, and any information about specific clients’ needs, pricing or service
preferences, likes, and dislikes) , including, without limitation, all information held in the Company’s Oracle and SalesForce.com customer
relationship management tools; information identifying persons and entities who previously purchased any products or services from the
Company; information concerning the Company’s independent contractors, subcontractors, consultants, vendors, distributors, and suppliers
(including lists of all the foregoing); plans and projections for business opportunities for new or developing business (whether pursued or
not), including research and development of products and services that have not yet been announced or launched by the Company; sales
terms or service plans; pricing information and cost data; profit margins; cost and price estimating methods and strategies; financial policies
and procedures; accounting and billing information; information about Company’s unique business processes, methods, systems and training
techniques regarding the creation of, soliciting, selling, marketing, administration and providing of Company’s products and services
regarding



healthcare savings accounts and other consumer directed benefits administered by the Company, including health reimbursement
arrangements, flexible spending accounts, retirement benefits, COBRA benefits and commuter benefits programs and related know how;
research and development plans or projects, data and reports; computer materials such as programs, instructions, source and object code, and
printouts; formulas; inventions, developments, and discoveries; product testing information; data compilations; development databases;
unpublished financial statements, budgets, and projections; information regarding the skills of employees or contractors of the Company; the
protected health information and personally identifiable information of individuals, including employees and contractors of the Company;
personnel files and employment-related records of the Company’s current and former employees (including, but not limited to, information
related to the hiring, recruitment, retention, and separation of the Company’s current and former employees, as well as information related to
their job duties, assignments, performance, discipline, promotions, compensation, benefits, leaves of absence, and medical files); the
Company’s organizational structure and internal correspondence regarding personnel changes and internal reporting structures; sales and
marketing strategies, forecasts, and techniques; sales and marketing strategies and the methods and systems used by the Company in
soliciting, selling and providing its services and/or products to its clients; and the identities of the Company’s suppliers and contractors, and
all information about those supplier and contractor relationships such as contact person(s), pricing and other terms. Additionally, Confidential
Information includes private information of and/or about the Company’s clients or third parties that the Company collects, compiles and
maintains, including without limitation credit information, social security numbers, addresses, phone numbers, protected health information,
personally identifiable information, and other private data, whether or not the Company has a legal obligation to safeguard the privacy of
such information under applicable state and federal law.

(h) Documents, materials, and devices that contain the Company’s Trade Secrets and Confidential Information may or
may not be marked as “Confidential,” “Proprietary,” “Secret” or with other words or markings of similar meaning, and the failure of the
Company or any other party to make such notations upon the physical embodiments of any Trade Secrets and/or Confidential Information
shall not affect the status of such information as Trade Secret and/or Confidential Information.

(i) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, the Company’s Trade Secrets and Confidential
Information do not include any information that: (1) is already in the public domain or becomes available to the public through no breach by
Employee of this Agreement; (2) was lawfully in Employee’s possession prior to disclosure to Employee by the Company; (3) is lawfully
disclosed to Employee by a third party without any obligations of confidentiality attaching to such disclosure; or (4) is developed by
Employee entirely on Employee’s own time without the Company’s equipment, supplies or facilities and does not relate at the time of
conception to the Company’s business or actual or demonstrably anticipated research or development of the Company.

2. Protected Health Information (“PHI”).

(j) For the purposes of this Agreement PHI is defined as “Health Information” that identifies, or there is a reasonable
basis to believe it can be used to identify, the individual. PHI is individually identifiable health information created or received by a Covered
Entity (certain group health plans, health care providers, and health care clearinghouses) or Business Associate which relates to past, present,
or future health care or payment for health care. “Health Information” includes any information relating to the physical or mental health or
condition of an individual, the health care provided to an individual, or payment for health care provided to an individual. “Business
Associates” are service providers that perform a function or activity for or on behalf of a Covered Entity such as a TPA, attorney, broker,
actuary, accountant, or consultant and data aggregation, management, administration, accreditation, and financial services.

(k) For purposes of Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (HIPAA) coverage, PHI does not
include employment records held by the employer in its role as employer (pre-employment drug screens, sick leave requests, fitness-for-duty
examinations, ADA or FMLA records, and doctor’s note from employees). Subject to the provisions of this agreement, Employee may use or
disclose minimum necessary PHI to assist Company in administering consumer directed benefits, within the scope of Employee’s
employment with Company. Employee may not use or



disclose PHI for any other purpose, except as required by law or expressly permitted by Company in writing.

(l) If Employee is required by law to make a disclosure, Employee must first notify Company’s Legal and Privacy
departments and cooperate with Company in order to make the disclosure, and so that Company can notify Company’s clients of the
impending disclosure. Employee must immediately provide Company a record of all disclosures of PHI to third parties so that Company may
maintain such records for six (6) years.

(m) To the extent Employee performs Employee’s duties from Employee’s home, Employee will cooperate with
Company to implement reasonable administrative, physical, and technical safeguards to protect the confidentiality, integrity and availability
of PHI that Employee creates, receives, maintains or transmits on Company’s behalf or on behalf of Company’s clients, and to prevent use or
disclosure of PHI otherwise than as provided for by this Agreement.

(n) Employee will immediately report to Company any use or disclosure of PHI not provided for by this Agreement of
which Employee becomes aware, including any security incident or breach of confidentiality of the information.

(o) Employee will comply with any additional restrictions required by Company’s clients concerning the use or
disclosure of its PHI, if Company notifies Employee in writing of the restrictions (which Company may do by providing Employee with a
copy of Company’s agreement with the client).

(p) Upon termination for any reason of the Employee’s employment with Company, Employee will return to Company
or destroy all PHI, and Employee will retain no copies of it.

(q) Employee further agrees that Employee understands and will abide by the policies, rules, and regulations governing
the privacy of clients’ information, including those under the HIPAA and Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act (P.L. 106-102). Employee agrees that
Employee has a duty to ask questions about anything Employee does not understand.

3. Third Party Information. Employee understands that the Company has in the past received, and in the future may receive,
from third parties confidential or proprietary information (hereinafter “Third Party Information”) subject to a duty to maintain the
confidentiality of such information and to use it only for certain limited purposes. During and after Employee’s employment with the
Company, Employee will honor and comply with all obligations to protect and safeguard Third Party Information, will keep all such
information received by Employee in the strictest confidence, and will not disclose it to anyone (other than Company personnel who need to
know such information in connection with their work for the Company) or use it, except in connection with Employee’s work for the
Company. Notwithstanding the foregoing, this Paragraph is not intended to have the purpose or effect of concealing details about alleged
incidents or claims of discrimination, retaliation, or harassment.

4. Duty of Loyalty. Employee owes the Company a duty of loyalty. While employed by the Company, Employee agrees at all
times to devote Employee’s best efforts to the business of the Company, to perform conscientiously all duties and obligations required or
assigned, and not to usurp, for personal gain or for the gain of any other firm or business, any opportunities in the Company’s line of business
or reasonably anticipated research and development, including, without limitation, by competing with the Company or attempting to engage
in competitive activity relating to the Company’s line of business, in each case, on behalf of themselves or another third party. During
Employee’s employment with the Company, Employee shall promptly and fully provide the Company with and disclose to the Company all
information, ideas, improvements and recommendations relating to the Company’s business, line of business, or reasonably anticipated
research and development, whether or not protectable by patent, copyright or other proprietary right, and whether or not they are made,
conceived or reduced to practice during Employee’s employment with the Company, or using the Company’s facilities or data, of which
Employee has knowledge, that could reasonably be considered to benefit the Company. Employee shall not usurp, for personal gain or the
benefit of any other third party, any information which could



reasonably be considered to benefit the Company that Employee learned, accessed, obtained or acquired during employment with the
Company.

5. Competitor-Based Covenant Not to Compete. Executive agrees that for a period of one (1) year following the
termination of Executive's employment for any reason (voluntary or involuntary), Executive shall not, directly or indirectly,
either as an employee, employer, consultant, agent, principal, partner, corporate officer, board member, director, or in any other
individual or representative capacity, provide Executive’s services in any capacity to the following competitors of Company:
Webster, United Healthcare / Optum, Fidelity, Bank of America, CVS / Aetna / PayFlex, Benefit Wallet, WEX, Alegeus, Alight,
Empower, Willis Towers Watson, Mercer, ADP, and any of such competitors’ successors in interest or acquirors.

6. Client Non-Solicitation Covenant.
(r) In order to further prevent the unauthorized disclosure and use of the Company’s Trade Secrets and Confidential

Information and to protect the Company’s legitimate business interests and its substantial relationships with its clients, Employee agrees that,
during Employee’s employment with the Company and for one (1) year following separation or cessation of Employee’s employment with
the Company for any reason, whether voluntary or involuntary, Employee will not, in any capacity (including as an employee, employer,
consultant, agent, principal, partner, corporate officer, board member, director, or in any other individual or representative capacity), for
Employee’s benefit and/or the benefit of any third party, solicit, encourage or induce any “Clients” or “Prospective Clients” to purchase or
obtain “Products and/or Services” (as these terms are defined below).

(s) For purposes of this Agreement, “Products and/or Services” means any products or services that are the same as or
substantially similar to those Employee offered, marketed, or provided on behalf of the Company in the one (1) year preceding the end of
Employee’s employment with the Company.

(t) For purposes of this Agreement, “Clients” of the Company are individuals or businesses
i. that as of the date of the separation of Employee’s employment were current clients with a pending or ongoing

transaction or other contractual or business relationship with the Company and/or with whom the Company closed a business transaction
within one (1) year prior to the end of Employee’s employment with the Company, and

ii. with whom Employee had any “Material Contact” (as the term is defined below) on behalf of the Company in the
one (1) year prior to the end of Employee’s employment with the Company.

(u) For purposes of this Agreement, “Prospective Clients” are individuals or businesses
iii. whom Employee actively solicited, attempted to solicit or was planning and preparing to solicit on behalf of the

Company for the purpose of providing or selling Products and/or Services but who had not transacted any business with the Company in the
one (1) year preceding the termination of Employee’s employment with the Company, and

iv. with whom Employee had any “Material Contact” (as the term is defined below) on behalf of the Company in the
one (1) year prior to the end of Employee’s employment with the Company

(v) For purposes of this Agreement, “Material Contact” is defined as any one or more of the following severable items:
v. Having a substantial or ongoing business relationship with the individual,
vi. having direct and substantive contact, business or other dealings with the individual (whether by phone, email, in

person or other method of communication),
vii. having special influence over the individual or having earned the individual’s trust, loyalty or friendship in the

course of communicating with the individual on behalf of the Company,



viii. closing one or more deals with the individual,
ix. directly providing or selling any Products and/or Services to the individual,
x. participating in or supporting the Company’s provision or selling of Products and/or Services to the individual,
xi. coordinating or supervising the Company’s business transaction(s) with the individual,
xii. directly and actively soliciting the individual on behalf of the Company (whereby active solicitation for purposes of

this Agreement is intended to mean having substantive contact with the individual decision-maker for the purpose of offering to sell or
provide Products and/or Services, including meetings with the individual and submitting quotes, bids, proposals, estimates, and other work
product as part of a proposal, pitch or presentation to the individual),

xiii. participating in or supporting the Company’s active solicitation of the individual, or
xiv. receiving, accessing, compiling, obtaining or acquiring Confidential Information and/or Trade Secrets of the

Company that pertain specifically to the individual or business client in the course of Employee’s work for the Company.
7. Non-Recruiting Covenant. Employee acknowledges and agrees that the Company has invested substantial time and effort

in assembling its present personnel, consultants, and independent contractors, and that, as a result of Employee’s employment with the
Company, Employee will become privy to and familiar with the Company’s personnel, consultants, independent contractors, recruiting
practices and strategies, human capital, and talent. Therefore, to the extent permitted by applicable law, Employee agrees that during
Employee’s employment with the Company and for one (1) year following Employee’s termination of employment with the Company,
whether voluntary or involuntary, Employee will not directly or indirectly solicit or attempt to solicit, recruit or attempt to recruit, or
otherwise aid or abet any third party in soliciting or recruiting, or induce or attempt to induce, any person who is at the time of being
recruited or solicited a current employee, consultant or independent contractor of the Company with whom Employee worked or had contact
or about whom Employee received or accessed any Confidential Information or Trade Secrets at any time during the last two (2) years of
Employee’s employment with the Company, or induce or attempt to induce any such employee, consultant or independent contractor of the
Company to terminate or cease employment or other relationship with the Company or to work for or with any business that competes with
the Company. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing in this Paragraph shall prevent Employee from receiving and considering any
application or proposal from any employee, consultant or independent contractor of the Company that is not solicited by Employee or on
Employee’s behalf.

8. Assignment of Interest in Inventions.

(w) Employee agrees that any and all inventions, works of authorship, copyrightable works in any medium of
expression, software (including both object and source code), utility models, database rights, formulas, ideas, discoveries, designs and design
improvements, methods, processes, manufacturing techniques, trade secrets, mask works, moral rights, know-how, and all other intellectual
property, whether or not patentable or registrable under patent, copyright or similar laws (including, without limitation, developments and
derivative works with respect to any of the foregoing, and any other forms of technology), and any and all rights and benefits resulting
therefrom (collectively referred to herein as “Inventions”), that are made, created, developed or reduced to practice by Employee solely or
jointly with others during the term of Employee’s employment with the Company and that (1) are made with the Company’s equipment,
supplies, facilities, trade secrets, or time (including through use of the Company’s internet or VPN or any of its computers, networks, and
electronic systems) or (2) relate, at the time of conception or of reduction to practice, to the business of the Company or the Company’s
actual or demonstrably anticipated research or development, or (3) result from any work performed by Employee for the Company or result
from the use of premises owned, leased or otherwise used or acquired by the Company, shall belong to the Company and are referred to as
“Assigned Inventions,” and Employee agrees and promises to irrevocably and permanently assign and hereby irrevocably and permanently
assigns any and all rights in such Inventions to the Company or its designee.



(x) Employee will not, without the Company’s prior written approval, during or after Employee’s employment with the
Company, design, disclose, create or in any other way use or exploit any Inventions that are identical or substantially similar to any Assigned
Inventions to or for any third party.

(y) Employee agrees that any Inventions made by Employee solely or jointly with others, made after the date that this
Agreement terminates, that are based on the Company’s Trade Secrets, shall belong to the Company and be considered Assigned Inventions,
and Employee promises to assign any and all rights in such Inventions to the Company or its designee. For the purposes of this Agreement,
an Invention is based on the Company’s Trade Secrets if the invention incorporates any such secrets in design or principal. For the purpose of
this Agreement, an Invention is deemed to have been made during the Employee’s period of employment if the Invention was conceived or
actually first reduced to practice during that period.

(z) Employee also agrees that the Company shall have the right to keep any Assigned Inventions covered by this
Agreement as trade secrets, and Employee agrees not to disclose such Assigned Inventions to any third parties except as specifically
authorized by the Company.

(aa) Employee agrees to assign to the Company or its designee all rights in any other Assigned Inventions made by
Employee as required to grant those rights to the United States government or any of its agencies.

(ab) Moral Rights. Any assignment to Company of Inventions includes all non-economic rights that Employee may have
with respect to such Inventions, including rights of attribution, paternity, integrity, modification, disclosure and withdrawal, and any other
rights throughout the world that may be known as or referred to as “moral rights,” “artist’s rights,” “droit moral,” or the like (collectively,
“Moral Rights”). To the extent that Moral Rights cannot be assigned under applicable law, Employee hereby waives and agrees not to
enforce any and all Moral Rights, including, without limitation, any limitation on subsequent modification, to the extent permitted under
applicable law.

(ac) Maintenance of Records. Employee agrees to keep and maintain adequate, current, accurate, and authentic written
records of all Inventions made by Employee (solely or jointly with others) during the term of my employment with the Company. The
records will be in the form of notes, sketches, drawings, electronic files, reports, or any other format that may be specified by the Company.
As between the Company and Employee, the records are and will be available to and remain the sole property of Company at all times.

(ad) Notwithstanding any provision of this Paragraph 8 or its subparts, Employee shall not be required to assign, nor shall
Employee be deemed to have assigned, any of Employee’s rights in any inventions, that Employee develops entirely on Employee’s own time
without using the Company’s equipment, supplies, facilities, or trade secrets, except for inventions that either (1) relate, at the time that the
invention is conceived or reduced to practice, to the Company’s business or to actual or demonstrably anticipated research or development of
the Company; or (2) result from any work performed by Employee for the Company.

(ae) In order to permit the Company to claim rights to which it may be entitled, upon Company’s request Employee
agrees to disclose to the Company in confidence (1) all Inventions that Employee makes, either solely or jointly with others, during the term
of Employee’s employment, and (2) all patent applications filed by Employee during, or within one (1) year after termination of Employee’s
employment. Employee also agrees to submit to a reasonable and confidential review process under which the Company may determine such
issues as may arise under this Agreement.

(af) Employee shall assist the Company in applying for, prosecuting, obtaining or enforcing any and all patents,
copyrights or other right or protection relating to any Assigned Inventions, designs, improvements, and discoveries deemed patentable by the
Company in the United States and in all foreign countries, and shall execute all documents and do all things necessary to obtain letters of
patent, to vest the Company with full and extensive titles to those patents and/or copyrights, and to protect the same against infringement by
others, from, during and after the termination of this Agreement. In the



event that assistance of the Employee is needed after the termination of this Agreement, Employee will be paid for that assistance at the
hourly rate he/she earned when this Agreement terminated.

(ag) If the Company is unable to secure Employee’s signature on any document necessary to apply for, prosecute, obtain,
or enforce any patent, copyright, or other right or protection relating to any Assigned Invention, whether due to Employee’s mental or
physical incapacity or any other cause, Employee hereby irrevocably designates and appoints the Company and each of its duly authorized
officers and agents as Employee’s Agent and Attorney-In-Fact, to act for and in Employee’s behalf to execute and file any such document
and to do all other lawfully permitted acts to further the prosecution, issuance, and enforcement of patents, copyrights, or other rights or
protections, with the same force and effect as if executed and delivered by Employee.

(ah) Employee acknowledges that except as identified by Employee in Exhibit A of this Agreement, there are no
inventions, original works of authorship, developments, improvements, and trade secrets that were made by Employee prior to becoming
employed by the Company (collectively, “Prior Inventions”) that belong to Employee, may relate to the Company’s current or reasonably
anticipated business, products or research and development, and are not assigned to the Company. If Employee has any interest in any Prior
Inventions, Employee must disclose what they are in Exhibit A prior to executing this Agreement. If Employee does not list any Prior
Inventions in Exhibit A, then Employee agrees and represents that there are no such Prior Inventions. If, during Employee’s employment
with the Company, Employee incorporates into a Company product or process a Prior Invention listed in Exhibit A that is owned by
Employee or in which Employee has an interest, Employee agrees that the Company is hereby granted and shall have a nonexclusive,
royalty-free, irrevocable, perpetual, worldwide license to make, have made, modify, use and sell such Prior Invention as part of or in
connection with such product, process or machine.

(ai) Employee acknowledges that all original works of authorship which are made by Employee (solely or jointly with
others) within the scope of Employee’s employment with the Company and which are eligible for copyright protection are “works made for
hire” as that term is defined in the United States Copyright Act (17 U.S.C., Section 101).

9. Reasonableness of Restrictive Covenants. Employee acknowledges that Employee has carefully read and considered
Paragraphs 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7 and 8 of this Agreement and agrees that the restrictions set forth therein are fair and reasonable, are supported by
valid consideration, and are reasonably required to protect the legitimate business interests of the Company. Employee acknowledges and
agrees that the restrictions herein do not and will not interfere with or unduly limit Employee’s ability to obtain suitable alternative
employment following termination of employment. By employing or continuing to employ Employee, the Company is relying on
Employee’s representation in this Paragraph. Accordingly, Employee agrees that Employee shall be legally estopped from taking any position
in any proceeding or forum that is inconsistent with this Paragraph.

10. Prior Agreements, Relationships and Commitments.

(aj) Except as disclosed in the form attached hereto as Exhibit B, Employee represents and warrants that Employee has
no agreements, relationships, or commitments to any other person or entity that conflict with or would prevent Employee from performing
any of Employee’s obligations to the Company under this Agreement or would otherwise prevent Employee from performing Employee’s job
duties while employed by the Company.

(ak) Employee will not disclose and has not disclosed to the Company and will not use, or induce the Company to use,
any trade secrets or confidential information of others. Employee represents and warrants that Employee has returned all property, trade
secrets and confidential information belonging to others and is not in possession of any such property, confidential information or trade
secrets. Employee has not and will not bring onto the premises of the Company or transfer to any of the Company’s computers, servers or
systems any confidential or proprietary document of any other employer, person or entity unless consented to in writing by such employer,
person or entity.



(al) Employee agrees to indemnify, defend and hold harmless the Company and its officers, directors and employees
from any and all claims, damages, costs, expenses or liability, including reasonable attorney’s fees incurred in connection with or resulting
from any breach or default of the representations and warranties contained in this Paragraph.

(am) Employee covenants that Employee will not hereafter enter into any covenants or agreements or undertake any other
acts that conflict with the representations and warranties contained in this Paragraph.

11. Termination of Employment. If Employee’s employment with the Company is terminated for any reason, whether
voluntarily or involuntarily, Employee shall promptly:

(an) Inform the Company of and deliver to the Company all records, files, electronic data, documents, plans, reports,
books, notebooks, notes, memoranda, correspondence, contracts and the like in Employee’s possession, custody or control that contain any of
the Company’s Trade Secrets or Confidential Information which Employee prepared, used, or came in contact with while employed by the
Company;

(ao) inform the Company of and deliver to the Company all records, files, electronic data, documents, plans, reports,
books, notebooks, notes, memoranda, correspondence, contracts and the like in Employee’s possession, custody or control that pertain in any
way to the business of the Company and which Employee prepared, used, or came in contact with while employed by the Company;

(ap) deliver to the Company all tangible property in Employee’s possession, custody or control belonging to the
Company, including, but not limited to, key cards, office keys, cell phone, pagers, personal digital assistants, external hard drives, thumb
drives, zip drives, laptop computers and desktop computers;

(aq) if Employee had used any personal electronic device in connection with Company business, including any personal
desktop computer, laptop computer, thumb drive, zip drive, and/or external hard drive, allow a Company representative to inspect such
device(s) to determine whether any of the Company’s Trade Secrets and/or Confidential Information reside on said device and to remove any
such Trade Secrets and/or Confidential Information; and

(ar) participate in an exit interview and accurately and completely fill out and sign the Certificate of Compliance Post-
Termination attached hereto as Exhibit C.

12. Injunctive Relief. Employee acknowledges and agrees that if the Company’s Trade Secrets and/or Confidential Information
were disclosed to a competing business or used in an unauthorized manner as provided herein, such unauthorized disclosure or use would
cause immediate and irreparable harm to the Company and would give a competing business an unfair business advantage against the
Company for which the Company may not have an adequate remedy at law. Employee further acknowledges that because of the nature of the
Company’s business and the subject matter of this Agreement, a breach or attempted breach of Paragraphs 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7 and 8 of this
Agreement will cause substantial injury to the Company for which money damages alone may not provide an adequate remedy. As such,
Employee agrees that the Company shall be entitled to any proper injunction, including but not limited to temporary, preliminary, final
injunctions, temporary restraining orders, and temporary protective orders, to enforce Paragraphs 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7 and 8 of this Agreement in
the event of breach or threatened breach by Employee, in addition to any other remedies available to the Company at law or in equity. The
restrictive covenants contained in this Agreement are independent of any other obligations between the parties, and the existence of any other
claim or cause of action against the Company is not a defense to enforcement of said covenants by injunction. Employee agrees that in
connection with any application for injunctive relief, discovery shall be conducted on an expedited basis even without a court order
permitting or granting leave to conduct expedited discovery, and both parties hereby waive the right to request posting of a bond by the party
requesting injunctive relief. Employee further agrees that Employee shall not, in any proceeding involving it, relating to the enforcement of
Paragraphs 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7 and 8 of this Agreement, raise the defense that the Company has an adequate remedy at law.



13. Assignment. This Agreement, including all rights and assignments granted by Employee under this Agreement, is assignable
by the Company, including, without limitation, to any affiliate of the Company or any entity with which, or into which, the Company may be
merged or which may succeed to its assets or business, and all covenants and agreements hereunder shall inure to the benefit of and be
enforceable by such successors or assigns with the necessity that this Agreement be re-signed at the time of such assignment. Employee shall
not assign or delegate any rights or obligations under this Agreement to any other person or entity, including, without limitation, by operation
of law, merger, sale of all or substantially all of Employee’s assets or otherwise.

14. Notice to Third Parties. Employee authorizes the Company to provide a copy of this Agreement to third parties, including,
but not limited to, Employee’s subsequent, anticipated, or possible future employers or any other business or entity that Employee may join
in the future, and to notify such employers or entities of Employee’s rights and obligations under this Agreement.

15. Attorneys’ Fees. Employee and the Company agree that in any legal proceeding undertaken to enforce the terms and
provisions of this Agreement, the prevailing party shall be entitled to reimbursement of its actual costs and expenses, including without
limitation its reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses.

16. Employment. Employee agrees and understands that nothing in this Agreement shall confer any right with respect to
continuation of employment with the Company, nor shall it interfere in any way with Employee’s right or the Company’s right to terminate
Employee’s employment at any time, with or without cause, with or without notice.

17. Waiver. No waiver by the Company of any breach of this Agreement shall be a waiver of any preceding or succeeding
breach. No waiver by the Company of any right under this Agreement shall be construed as a waiver of any other right.

18. Interpretation. This Agreement shall be construed as a whole, according to its fair meaning, and not in favor of or against
any party, and shall be deemed to have been drafted by both parties. Captions are used for reference purposes only and should be ignored in
the interpretation of this Agreement. The Recitals referenced at the beginning of this Agreement are hereby incorporated by this reference
into this Agreement as material terms of this Agreement.

19. Tolling and Suspension. In the event of a breach by Employee of any restrictive covenant contained in this Agreement, the
running of the period of restriction shall automatically be tolled and suspended for the amount of time the breach continues, and shall
automatically commence when the breach is remedied so that the Company shall receive the benefit of Employee’s compliance with the
terms and conditions of this Agreement.

20. Severability and Judicial Modification. Each provision of this Agreement is intended to be severable. If any court of
competent jurisdiction determines that one or more of the provisions of this Agreement, or any part thereof, is or are invalid, illegal or
unenforceable, such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability shall not affect or impair any other provision of this Agreement, and this
Agreement shall be given full force and effect while being construed as if such invalid, illegal or unenforceable provision had not been
contained within it. If the scope of any provision in this Agreement is found to be too broad to permit enforcement of such provision to its
full extent, Employee consents to judicial modification of such provision and enforcement to the maximum extent permitted by law.

21. Choice of Law; Jurisdiction. All issues and questions concerning the construction, validity, enforcement, and interpretation
of this Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the state of Utah without giving effect to the principles
of conflict of laws. Subject to any applicable arbitration agreement, the parties agree that any action or proceeding to enforce or arising out of
this Agreement must be commenced in the foregoing state. The parties consent to the exclusive personal jurisdiction of the state and federal
courts and arbitrators located in the foregoing state for any dispute arising out of or relating to this Agreement, agree that venue will be
proper in such courts or in front of such arbitrators, and waive any objections based upon forum non conveniens. The choice of



forum set forth in this Paragraph shall not be deemed to preclude the enforcement of any action under this Agreement in any other
jurisdiction.

22. Counterparts and Facsimile/Digital Signatures. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of
which will be deemed to be an executed Agreement and each of which shall be deemed to be one and the same instrument. A facsimile or
digital signature shall be treated as an original signature for all purposes.

[Reminder of the Page Intentionally Left Blank]

23. Entire Agreement. This is the entire agreement between the Company and Employee regarding the secrecy, use and
disclosure of the Company’s Trade Secrets and Confidential Information and this Agreement supersedes any and all prior agreements
regarding these issues. No other agreement, statement, or promise as to any matter addressed in this Agreement shall be binding or valid.
This Agreement cannot be orally modified. Any amendment or modification to this Agreement must be in writing, signed by Employee and a
duly authorized representative of the Company. This Agreement consists of a series of separate restrictive covenants, all of which shall
survive and be enforceable in law and/or equity after Employee’s termination or cessation of employment.

The undersigned acknowledges that he/she has read and understood this Agreement, and that he/she signs this Agreement
intending to be bound by its terms as of the date indicated below.

                        Accepted and agreed to:

___________________________________        HealthEquity, Inc., a Delaware corporation

Employee’s Signature                 

____ Elimelech Rosner_______________        By:___________________________________

Employee’s Printed Name                 ____________________, _______________

                                Printed Name        Title

Date:_____________________________        Date:__________________________________





EXHIBIT A

EMPLOYEE’S PRIOR INVENTIONS

I represent and warrant that, except for the following, there are no inventions, original works of authorship, developments,
improvements, and trade secrets that were made by me prior to becoming employed by the Company (collectively, “Prior Inventions”) that
belong to me, that may relate to the Company’s current or reasonably anticipated business, products or research and development, and that I
have not assigned to the Company.

_____________________________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________________________

Date: _________________            ____________________________________

                            Employee’s Signature



EXHIBIT B

PRIOR AGREEMENTS, RELATIONSHIPS AND COMMITMENTS

I represent and warrant that, except as disclosed below, I have no agreements, relationships, or commitments to any other person or
entity that conflict with or would prevent me from performing any of my obligations to the Company under this Agreement, or would
otherwise prevent me from performing my job duties while employed by the Company (if none, so state):

_____________________________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________________________

Date: _________________            ____________________________________

                            Employee’s Signature



EXHIBIT C

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE POST TERMINATION

(To be executed at time of termination only)

I hereby certify that I have complied with and will continue to comply with all the terms of the Employee Confidentiality and
Inventions Assignment Agreement (the “Agreement”), which I signed. All capitalized terms used but not defined in this certificate will have
the meanings ascribed to them in the Agreement.

I further certify that I do not have in my possession, nor have I failed to return to the Company, any Trade Secrets, Confidential
Information or PHI or copies of such information, or other documents or materials, equipment, or other property belonging to the Company.
Furthermore, I have not sent or transferred any Trade Secrets, Confidential Information or PHI or copies of such information, or other
documents or materials, equipment, or other property belonging to the Company outside of the Company.

I further certify that I will not retain any electronic, written or other tangible material containing any information concerning or
disclosing any of the Company’s Trade Secrets, Confidential Information or PHI.

I agree that, in compliance with the Agreement, I will preserve as secret all of the Company’s Trade Secrets, Confidential
Information or PHI, and I will not participate in the unauthorized use or disclosure of the Company’s Trade Secrets or Confidential
Information.

On termination of my employment with the Company, I will be employed by _________________
________________________________________ and will be working in connection with the following projects or matters:

_____________________________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________________________

Date: _________________            ____________________________________

                            Employee’s Signature

                 (To be executed at time of termination only)



Exhibit B

RELEASE OF CLAIMS

As used in this Release of Claims (this “Release”), the term “claims” will include all claims, covenants, warranties,
promises, undertakings, actions, suits, causes of action, obligations, debts, accounts, attorneys’ fees, judgments, losses, and
liabilities, of whatsoever kind or nature, in law, in equity, or otherwise.

For and in consideration of the Severance Benefits (as defined in my Employment Agreement, dated [______________],
with HealthEquity, Inc. (such corporation, the “Company” and such agreement, my “Employment Agreement”)), and other good
and valuable consideration, I, [___________], for and on behalf of myself and my heirs, administrators, executors, and assigns,
effective as of the date on which this release becomes effective pursuant to its terms, do fully and forever release, remise, and
discharge each of the Company, and its respective direct and indirect parents, subsidiaries and affiliates, and their respective
successors and assigns, together with their respective current and former officers, directors, partners, members, shareholders,
employees, and agents (collectively, and with the Company, the “Group”), from any and all claims, debts, promises, agreements,
demands, causes of action, attorneys' fees, losses and expenses of every nature whatsoever, known or unknown, suspected or
unsuspected, filed or unfiled, arising prior to the Effective Date of this Agreement, or arising out of or in connection with
Employee's employment by and termination from the Employer or any affiliate of the Employer. This total release includes, but is
not limited to, all claims arising directly or indirectly from Employee's employment with the Employer and the termination of
that employment; claims or demands related to salary, bonuses, commissions, stock, stock options, vacation pay, fringe benefits
and expense reimbursements pursuant to any federal, state or local law; causes of action, including, but not limited to, breach of
contract, breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, infliction of emotional harm, wrongful discharge,
violation of public policy, defamation and impairment of economic opportunity; and any claims for violation of the Civil Rights
Act of 1866, Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, the Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967, the Older Workers'
Benefit Protection Act, the California and Federal Family and Medical Leave Acts, section 503 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973,
the Employee Retirement Income Security Act, as amended, the Fair Labor Standards Act, the Americans with Disabilities Act of
1990, the Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967 (the “ADEA”), Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, the
Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, the Civil Rights Act of 1991; the Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act of
1988, and the Equal Pay Act of 1963, the anti-discrimination provisions of the Occupational Safety and Health Act and the Mine
Safety and Health Act; the Families First Coronavirus Response Act; Utah Antidiscrimination Act; Utah Minimum Wage Act;
Utah Occupational Safety and Health Act; claims for discrimination or retaliation under any state or municipal non-
discrimination law; the common law of the State of Utah and all other states; claims of discharge in violation of a substantial
public policy of the State of Utah or any other state or the federal government or any other federal, state or local statute,
regulation or ordinance or common law claim relating to discrimination in employment or otherwise regulating the employment
relationship, or regulating the health or safety of the workplace or under any federal, state, or local law dealing with
discrimination based on age, race, sex, national origin, handicap, religion, disability, sexual orientation, or any other class
protected under applicable law.or any other facts, transactions or occurrences relating to my employment with the Company. I
intend this Release contained herein to be a general release of any and all claims to the fullest extent permissible by law and for
the provisions regarding the release of claims against the Group to be construed as broadly as possible, and hereby incorporate in
this release similar federal, state or other laws, all of which I also hereby expressly waive.
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I understand and agree that claims or facts in addition to or different from those which are now known or believed by me
to exist may hereafter be discovered, but it is my intention to fully and forever release, remise and discharge all claims which I
had, may have had, or now have against the Group, whether known or unknown, suspected or unsuspected, asserted or
unasserted, contingent or noncontingent, without regard to the subsequent discovery or existence of such additional or different
facts. Without limiting the foregoing, by signing this Release, I expressly waive and release any provision of law that purports to
limit the scope of a general release.

I acknowledge and agree that as of the date I execute this Release, I have no knowledge of any facts or circumstances that
give rise or could give rise to any claims under any of the laws listed in the preceding paragraphs.

By executing this Release, I specifically release all claims relating to my employment and its termination under the
ADEA, a United States federal statute that, among other things, prohibits discrimination on the basis of age in employment and
employee benefit plans.

Notwithstanding any provision of this Release to the contrary, by executing this Release, nothing in this Release shall be a
waiver of: (i)  my rights arising out of breach of this Release; (ii) my rights with respect to payment of the Severance Benefits; (iii) my right
to accrued, vested benefits due to terminated employees under any employee benefit plan of the Company or any other member of the
Company Group in which I participated (excluding any severance or similar plan or policy), in accordance with the terms thereof (including
my rights to elect continued medical and health benefits under the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985); (iv) any
claims that cannot be waived by law; (v) my right to indemnification, advancement and reimbursement of legal fees and expenses, and
directors and officers liability insurance, as provided by, and in accordance with the terms of, applicable law, the Company’s governing
documents or any Indemnification Agreement between myself and the Company; (vi) any rights or claims under the ADEA challenging the
knowing and voluntary nature of this Release or that may arise after the date that I execute this Release; or (vi) my rights as a stockholder of
the Company.

I acknowledge and agree that as of the date of this Release, I have reported all accidents, injuries or illnesses relating to or arising
from my employment with the Company or the Company Group and that I have not suffered any on-the-job injury or illness for which I have
not yet filed a claim.

I expressly acknowledge and agree that I –

Am able to read the language, and understand the meaning and effect, of this Release;

Have no physical or mental impairment of any kind that has interfered with my ability to read and
understand the meaning of this Release or its terms, and that I am not acting under the influence of any medication, drug,
or chemical of any type in entering into this Release;

Am specifically agreeing to the terms of the release contained in this Release because the Company has
agreed to pay me the Severance Benefits in consideration for my agreement to accept it in full settlement of all possible
claims I might have or ever have had, and because of my execution of this Release;

Acknowledge that, but for my execution of this Release, I would not be entitled to the Severance Benefits;

Understand that, by entering into this Release, I do not waive rights or claims under the ADEA that may
arise after the date I execute this Release;
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Had or could have had [twenty-one (21)][forty-five (45)]  calendar days from the date of my termination of
employment (the “Release Expiration Date”) in which to review and consider this Release, and that if I execute this
Release prior to the Release Expiration Date, I have voluntarily and knowingly waived the remainder of the review
period;

Have seven (7) days to revoke my signature to the Release, which revocation period is not waivable, and
which revocation must be received by the Company’s General Counsel by no later than the end of the 7-day revocation
period;

Have not relied upon any representation or statement not set forth in this Release or my Employment
Agreement made by the Company or any of its representatives;

Was advised to consult with my attorney regarding the terms and effect of this Release; and

Have signed this Release knowingly and voluntarily.

I represent and warrant that I have not previously filed, and to the maximum extent permitted by law agree that I will not
file, a complaint, charge, or lawsuit against any member of the Group regarding any of the claims released herein. If,
notwithstanding this representation and warranty, I have filed or file such a complaint, charge, or lawsuit, I agree that I shall
cause such complaint, charge, or lawsuit to be dismissed with prejudice and shall pay any and all costs required in obtaining
dismissal of such complaint, charge, or lawsuit, including without limitation the attorneys’ fees of any member of the Group
against whom I have filed such a complaint, charge, or lawsuit. This paragraph shall not apply, however, to a claim of age
discrimination under the ADEA or to any non-waivable right to file a charge with the United States Equal Employment
Opportunity Commission (the “EEOC”) or similar state agency; provided, however, that if the EEOC or similar state agency were
to pursue any claims relating to my employment with the Company, I agree that I shall not be entitled to recover any monetary
damages or any other remedies or benefits as a result and that this Release and Section 8 of my Employment Agreement will
control as the exclusive remedy and full settlement of all such claims by me.

Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, this Release will not become effective or enforceable prior to
the expiration of the period of seven (7) calendar days immediately following the date of its execution by me (the “Revocation
Period”), during which time I may revoke my acceptance of this Release by notifying the Company and the Board of Directors of
the Company, in writing, delivered to the Company at its principal executive office, marked for the attention of its General
Counsel. To be effective, such revocation must be received by the Company no later than 11:59 p.m. on the seventh (7 ) calendar
day following the execution of this Release. Provided that this Release is executed and I do not revoke it during the Revocation
Period, the eighth (8 ) calendar day following the date on which this Release is executed shall be its effective date. I
acknowledge and agree that if I revoke this Release during the Revocation Period, this Release will be null and void and of no
effect, and neither the Company nor any other member of the Group will have any obligations to pay me the Severance Benefits.

    To be selected based on whether applicable termination was “in connection with an exit incentive or other employment termination program” (as such
phrase is defined in the Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967).

1

th
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The provisions of this Release shall be binding upon my heirs, executors, administrators, legal personal representatives,
and assigns. If any provision of this Release shall be held by any court of competent jurisdiction to be illegal, void, or
unenforceable, such provision shall be of no force or effect. The illegality or unenforceability of such provision, however, shall
have no effect upon and shall not impair the enforceability of any other provision of this Release.

EXCEPT WHERE PREEMPTED BY FEDERAL LAW, THE VALIDITY, INTERPRETATION, CONSTRUCTION,
AND PERFORMANCE OF THIS RELEASE IS GOVERNED BY AND IS TO BE CONSTRUED UNDER THE LAWS OF
THE STATE OF UTAH APPLICABLE TO AGREEMENTS MADE AND TO BE PERFORMED IN THAT STATE, WITHOUT
REGARD TO CONFLICT OF LAWS RULES. ANY DISPUTE OR CLAIM ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS
RELEASE OR CLAIM OF BREACH HEREOF SHALL BE RESOLVED PURSUANT TO THE ARBITRATION OF
DISPUTES PROVISION CONTAINED IN SECTION 20 OF THE EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT TO WHICH THIS
RELEASE OF CLAIMS IS AN EXHIBIT THERETO.

Capitalized terms used, but not defined herein, shall have the meanings ascribed to such terms in my Employment
Agreement.

I, __________________, have executed this Release of Claims on the date set forth below:

____________________________
[_______________]

Date:
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Exhibit 10.30
HealthEquity, Inc.

Non-Employee Director Compensa�on Policy

1 OVERVIEW

HealthEquity, Inc. (the “Company”) believes that, in addi�on to cash compensa�on, the gran�ng of equity-based compensa�on
represen�ng the right to acquire the Company’s common stock (the “Shares”) to members (“Directors”) of its board of directors
(the “Board”) represents a powerful tool to a�ract, retain and reward Directors who are not employees of the Company (“Non-
Employee Directors”) and to align the interests of its Non-Employee Directors with those of its stockholders. This Amended and
Restated Non-Employee Director Compensa�on Policy (this “Policy”) is intended to establish the Company’s policy regarding
cash compensa�on and equity grants to its Non-Employee Directors. Unless otherwise defined herein, capitalized terms used in
this Policy will have the meaning given to such term in the Company’s 2014 Equity Incen�ve Plan, as amended and restated from
�me to �me (the “Plan”). Non-Employee Directors shall be solely responsible for any tax obliga�ons they incur as a result of any
compensa�on received under this Policy.

2 CASH COMPENSATION

2.1 Annual Retainer Fee

The Company will pay each Non-Employee Director an annual fee of $50,000 for serving on the Board (the “Annual Fee”). Each
Annual Fee will be paid ratably on a fiscal quarterly basis at the beginning of each quarter to each Non-Employee Director who
will be serving in the relevant capacity for such fiscal quarter. For purposes of clarifica�on, no ratable payment of an annual
retainer will be paid to a Non-Employee Director who is not con�nuing as a Non-Employee Director following the start of the
applicable Company fiscal quarter.

2.2 Annual Audit and Risk Commi�ee Retainer Fee

The Company will pay each Non-Employee Director who serves as a member of the Audit and Risk Commi�ee an addi�onal
annual fee of $15,000 for serving as a member of such commi�ee (the “Annual Audit and Risk Commi�ee Fee”); provided, that,
the Annual Audit and Risk Commi�ee Fee for the Non-Employee Director who serves as chairperson of the Audit and Risk
Commi�ee shall instead be $40,000. The Annual Audit and Risk Commi�ee Fee will be paid ratably on a fiscal quarterly basis at
the beginning of each quarter to each such Non-Employee Director who will be serving in the relevant capacity for such fiscal
quarter. For purposes of clarifica�on, no ratable payment of an annual retainer will be paid to a Non-Employee Director who is
not con�nuing as a member of the Audit and Risk Commi�ee, following the start of the applicable Company fiscal quarter.

2.3 Annual Talent, Compensa�on and Culture Commi�ee Retainer Fee

The Company will pay each Non-Employee Director who serves as a member of the Talent, Compensa�on and Culture
Commi�ee an addi�onal annual fee of $7,500 for serving as a member of such commi�ee (the “Annual TCCC Fee”); provided,
that, the Annual TCCC Fee for
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Non-Employee Director Compensa�on Policy

the Non-Employee Director who serves as chairperson of the Talent, Compensa�on and Culture Commi�ee shall instead be
$20,000. The Annual TCCC Fee will be paid ratably on a fiscal quarterly basis at the beginning of each quarter to each such Non-
Employee Director who will be serving in the relevant capacity for such fiscal quarter. For purposes of clarifica�on, no ratable
payment of an annual retainer will be paid to a Non-Employee Director who is not con�nuing as a member of the Talent,
Compensa�on and Culture Commi�ee, following the start of the applicable Company fiscal quarter.

2.4 Annual Nomina�ng, Governance and Corporate Sustainability Commi�ee Retainer Fee

The Company will pay each Non-Employee Director who serves as a member of the Nomina�ng, Governance and Corporate
Sustainability Commi�ee an addi�onal annual fee of $5,000 for serving as a member of such commi�ee (the “Annual NGCS
Commi�ee Fee”); provided, that, the Annual NGCS Commi�ee Fee for the Non-Employee Director who serves as chairperson of
the Nomina�ng, Governance and Corporate Sustainability Commi�ee shall instead be $10,000. The Annual NGCS Commi�ee Fee
will be paid ratably on a fiscal quarterly basis at the beginning of each quarter to each such Non-Employee Director who will be
serving in the relevant capacity for such fiscal quarter. For purposes of clarifica�on, no ratable payment of an annual retainer will
be paid to a Non-Employee Director who is not con�nuing as a member of the Nomina�ng, Governance and Corporate
Sustainability Commi�ee, following the start of the applicable Company fiscal quarter.

2.5 Cybersecurity and Technology Commi�ee Fee

The Company will pay each Non-Employee Director who serves as a member of the Cybersecurity and Technology Commi�ee an
addi�onal annual fee of $7,500 for serving as a member of such commi�ee (the “Annual Cyber Commi�ee Fee”); provided, that,
the Annual Cyber Commi�ee Fee for the Non-Employee Director who serves as chairperson of the Cybersecurity and Technology
Commi�ee shall instead be $20,000. The Annual Cyber Commi�ee Fee will be paid ratably on a fiscal quarterly basis at the
beginning of each quarter to each such Non-Employee Director who will be serving in the relevant capacity for such fiscal
quarter. For purposes of clarifica�on, no ratable payment of an annual retainer will be paid to a Non-Employee Director who is
not con�nuing as a member of the Cybersecurity and Technology Commi�ee, following the start of the applicable Company
fiscal quarter.

2.6 Annual Chairman Retainer Fee

The Company will pay each Non-Employee Director who serves as Chairman of the Board an addi�onal annual fee of $100,000
for serving as the Chairman of the Board (the “Annual Board Chairman Fee”). The Annual Board Chairman Fee will be paid
ratably on a fiscal quarterly basis at the beginning of each quarter to each such Non-Employee Director who will be serving in the
relevant capacity for such fiscal quarter. For purposes of clarifica�on, no ratable payment of an annual retainer will be paid to a
Non-Employee Director who is not con�nuing as the Chairman of the Board, following the start of the applicable Company fiscal
quarter.

2.7 Form of Payment

Unless otherwise elected by a Non-Employee Director as herein provided, all retainer fees payable pursuant to this Sec�on 2
shall be paid by the Company in cash. A Non-Employee
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Non-Employee Director Compensa�on Policy

Director may elect to have all (but not less than all) of his or her Annual Fee, Annual Audit and Risk Commi�ee Fee, Annual TCCC
Fee, Annual NGCS Commi�ee Fee, Annual Cyber Commi�ee Fee, and/or Annual Board Chairman Fee, as applicable, in respect of
each fiscal year be paid in Restricted Stock Unit Awards under the Plan (rounded to the nearest whole share of Common Stock
using standard rounding principles) to be granted on the first day of the fiscal year with an aggregate grant date fair value equal
to the amount of the cash retainer fee(s) elected to be received in Restricted Stock Unit Awards, and which shall vest in equal
installments at the beginning of each quarter to which the cash retainer fee relates. For these purposes, the grant date fair value
of each Restricted Stock Unit Award shall be equal to the Fair Market Value of a Share on the date of grant. To make such
elec�on, a Non-Employee Director shall be required to complete a wri�en elec�on form (“Form of Payment Elec�on Form”) in
such form as the Company may prescribe from �me to �me, and file such completed Form of Payment Elec�on Form with the
Company prior to the first day of the calendar year during which the fiscal year to which such cash retainer fee(s) apply
commences. Once a Form of Payment Elec�on Form is filed with the Company, it shall be irrevocable with respect to the cash
retainer fee(s) for the immediately following fiscal year.

2.8 Elec�on Not Available for First Year of Service

Notwithstanding the foregoing, for the fiscal year in which a Non-Employee Director commences service with the Company, such
Non-Employee Director may not elect to receive any of his or her Annual Fee, Annual Audit and Risk Commi�ee Fee, Annual
TCCC Fee, Annual NGCS Commi�ee Fee, Annual Cyber Commi�ee Fee, or Annual Board Chairman Fee, as applicable, to be paid
in the form of Restricted Stock Units Awards under the Plan.

2.9 Travel Expenses

Each Non-Employee Director’s reasonable, customary and documented travel expenses to Board and commi�ee mee�ngs will
be reimbursed by the Company.

2.10 Revisions

The Board, in its discre�on, may change and otherwise revise the terms of the cash compensa�on granted under this Policy
(including, without limita�on, the amount of cash compensa�on to be paid) on or a�er the date the Board determines to make
any such change or revision.

2.11 Sec�on 409A

Payments under this Policy are intended to be exempt from Sec�on 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended,
under Treasury Regula�on §§ 1.409A-1(b)(4) (“short-term deferrals”) (“Sec�on 409A”) and this Policy shall be administered,
interpreted and construed accordingly.

3 EQUITY COMPENSATION

Non-Employee Directors will be en�tled to receive all types of Awards (except Incen�ve Stock Op�ons) under the Plan, including
discre�onary Awards not covered under this Policy. All grants of Awards to Non-Employee Directors pursuant to Sec�ons 3.2 of
this Policy will be automa�c
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Non-Employee Director Compensa�on Policy

and nondiscre�onary, except as otherwise provided herein, and will be made in accordance with the following provisions:

3.1 No Discre�on

No person will have any discre�on to select which Non-Employee Directors will be granted Awards under this Policy or to
determine the number of Shares to be covered by such Awards (except as provided in Sec�ons 3.6 and 3.7 below and Sec�on 10
of the Plan).

3.2 Annual Award

Each Non-Employee Director will be automa�cally granted an Award of Restricted Stock Unit Awards with a grant date fair value
equal to $200,000 (an “Annual Award”) on the earlier of either the date of the Company’s next annual mee�ng of stockholders
or the one-year anniversary of the date of the grant; provided, however, that for any individual that first becomes a Non-
Employee Director, whether through elec�on by the stockholders of the Company or appointment by the Board to fill a vacancy,
the Annual Award in respect of the fiscal year in which such individual first becomes a Non-Employee Director shall be pro-rated
based on the number of days remaining in such fiscal year (the “Pro-Rata Annual Award”).

3.3 Fair Value

The grant date fair value of each Restricted Stock Unit Award shall be equal to the Fair Market Value of a Share on the date of
grant, determined in accordance with Financial Accoun�ng Standards Board Accoun�ng Standards Codifica�on Topic 718, or any
successor provision, as applicable.

3.4 Ves�ng Terms

The terms of each equity Award granted pursuant to this Policy will be as follows:

(i) The Restricted Stock Unit Awards subject to the Annual Award will vest over a one (1) year period on the date of the
annual mee�ng of the stockholders of the Company held during the fiscal year a�er such Annual Award is granted,
provided that the Director con�nues to serve as a Director through such date. With respect to any Pro-Rata Annual
Award, the Restricted Stock Unit Awards subject to the Pro-Rata Annual Award will vest on the date of such Annual
Mee�ng, provided that the Director con�nues to serve as a Director through such dates.

(ii)    Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Policy, the Awards granted under this Policy shall be subject to the terms
and condi�ons of the Plan and an applicable Award Agreement.

3.1 Deferral of Restricted Stock Units

The Board will provide Non-Employee Directors with the opportunity to defer the delivery of the proceeds of any vested
Restricted Stock Units issuable under this Policy. Any such deferral elec�on shall be subject to such rules, condi�ons and
procedures as shall be determined by the
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Board, in its sole discre�on, which rules, condi�ons and procedures shall at all �mes comply with the requirements of Sec�on
409A, unless otherwise specifically determined by the Board.

3.2 Revisions

The Board in its discre�on may change and otherwise revise the terms of Awards granted under this Policy, including, without
limita�on, the types of Awards, the number of Shares, and the exercise prices (if any) and ves�ng schedules for Awards granted
on or a�er the date the Board determines to make any such change or revision.

3.3 Adjustments

The number of Shares issuable pursuant to Annual Awards to be granted under this Policy shall be adjusted in accordance with
Sec�on 9 of the Plan.
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                                                Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-3 (No. 333-259417) and Form S-8 (No. 333-

265822) of HealthEquity, Inc. of our report dated March 30, 2023 relating to the financial statements, and the effectiveness of internal

control over financial reporting, which appears in this Form 10-K.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Salt Lake City, UT

March 30, 2023



Exhibit 31.1

Certification of Principal Executive Officer
Pursuant to

Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a),
as Adopted Pursuant to

Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Jon Kessler, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of HealthEquity, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

 

Date: March 30, 2023

 

By: /s/ Jon Kessler
Name:      Jon Kessler
Title: President and Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)

 



Exhibit 31.2

Certification of Principal Financial Officer
Pursuant to

Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a),
as Adopted Pursuant to

Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Tyson Murdock, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of HealthEquity, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: March 30, 2023

By: /s/ Tyson Murdock
Name: Tyson Murdock
Title: Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer)

 



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, I, Jon Kessler, the Chief
Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer) of HealthEquity, Inc. (the “Company”), hereby certify that, to my knowledge:

1. Our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended January 31, 2023 (the “Report”), of the Company fully complies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

 

Date: March 30, 2023

 

By: /s/ Jon Kessler
Name: Jon Kessler
Title: President and Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)

 



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, I, Tyson Murdock, the
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer) of HealthEquity, Inc. (the “Company”), hereby certify that, to
my knowledge:

1. Our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended January 31, 2023 (the “Report”), of the Company fully complies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: March 30, 2023

 

By: /s/ Tyson Murdock
Name: Tyson Murdock
Title: Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer)

 


